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Scope and boundary of the
Integrated Annual Report
Brait Societas Europaea (Brait, the Group, or the Company) is an investment
holding company whose shares are primarily listed on the Euro MTF
market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange with a secondary listing on
the Johannesburg Stock Exchange (JSE). The Company also has issued
convertible bonds which are listed on the Open Market (Freiverkehr) segment
of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange.
The Board of Directors (Board) hereby presents the 2020 Integrated Annual
Report. The Board acknowledges its responsibility to ensure the integrity
of the Integrated Annual Report. In the opinion of the Board the Integrated
Annual Report addresses all material issues of which it is aware and presents
fairly the integrated performance of the Group and its impact on stakeholders.
The Board has therefore approved the 2020 Integrated Annual Report for
release to stakeholders.
While the Group’s financial statements are prepared using both the Euro and
Rand as its presentation currencies, the Board has elected to present the
balance of the Integrated Annual Report solely in Rand. The Integrated Annual
Report does not cover the activities of the Group’s portfolio investments
except insofar as is relevant to assessing the Group’s investment interests in
those entities. For additional portfolio investment information, we refer you to
the Brait 2020 Audited Results Presentation Booklet at www.brait.com.
The Group’s annual financial statements are prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
European Union. In addition to relying on representations and information
provided, the Board has drawn assurance from the external auditors,
PricewaterhouseCoopers, in the course of their annual audit of the Group’s
financial statements and their unmodified audit report.
The use of “Audited” on respective portfolio company information refers to the
relevant portfolio company external auditors.
To reduce the Group’s impact on the environment as well as cost savings
on printing and posting, the Group has distributed to each shareholder an
electronic copy of the Integrated Annual Report, which is also available at
www.brait.com. Printed copies of the Integrated Annual Report are available
to shareholders on request.
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Integrated Annual Report may contain certain forward-looking
statements with respect to the financial condition and results of operations of
the Group, which by their nature, involve risk and uncertainty as they relate
to events and depend on circumstances that may occur in the future. These
forward looking statements have not been reviewed or reported on by the
Group’s external auditors.
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Financial and operational highlights
NAV per share

R8.27
impact of Coronavirus on
portfolio company profitability
and outlook

De-gearing since
September 2019

R4.4bn

Net current liabilities FY2020: nil
Net current liabilities H12020: R5.6bn

Estimated annualised savings
to Brait’s cash costs of

R444m

through actions taken since
1 March 2020

Recapitalisation
concluded
in February 2020

Investment proceeds
from the portfolio of

R1.6bn

received during FY2020

Brait currently trades at
a discount of NAVPS of

>60%

New strategy
of asset realisation

Ethos Private Equity
appointed as

New Advisor

Post balance sheet events:
Disposal of DGB &
Iceland Foods
for a total of

R3.0bn

Iceland Foods’ exit valuation
of £115m implies

+R0.88

to Brait’s NAVPS
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Chairman’s statement
YEAR IN REVIEW
The Board’s focus has been on materially reducing debt on Brait’s balance sheet to address the existing £350 million 2.75% Convertible
Bonds due 18 September 2020 (“2020 Bonds”) and the December 2020 maturity of the Group’s committed revolving credit facility, which
was drawn by R6.5 billion at 31 March 2019. In addition, the Board has applied careful consideration to reducing Brait’s cost structures, as
part of the strategy of maximising shareholder value.
The financial year ended 31 March 2020 has seen the accomplishment of a number of significant events for the Group in this regard, setting
the foundation to drive value in Brait’s core portfolio of assets and execute the Group’s new strategy focused on maximising value through
the realisation of the existing portfolio companies over the medium term:
• Brait’s Recapitalisation, which concluded in February 2020, provided a holistic solution to enable the redemption of the 2020 Bonds, as
well as repaying R2 billion of Brait’s drawn revolving credit facility, and comprised:
o A fully underwritten and oversubscribed equity capital raise of R5.6 billion;
o Issuance of £150 million, 5-year term, 6.5% Convertible Bonds (“2024 Bonds”); and
o A new R6.3 billion, 3-year tenor revolving credit facility (“BML RCF”).
• The equity capital raise saw the introduction of new strategic equity partners (Ethos Capital and Ethos Fund VII), investing R1.350 billion,
with Titan (represented by Dr Wiese) investing R750 million.
• Brait entered into a new investment advisory and administration services contract with Ethos Private Equity (“EPE”) on 1 March 2020,
with an initial three-year tenor and annual cost of R100 million (refer page 11). This represents a significant reduction to the annual cost of
the Group’s previous corporate advisors, the contract for which was terminated on 29 February 2020.
• Brait received R1.6 billion investment proceeds from its portfolio, with available cash and facilities of R5.6 billion as at reporting date,
which includes cash held in Pound Sterling for the redemption of the outstanding 2020 Bonds.
• As set out in EPE’s Investment Advisor Report (page 12), a number of cost saving initiatives have been actioned since 1 March 2020.
Including the benefit of the reduction in SA Base Rates, these actions result in illustrative annualised cost savings of some R444 million
on Brait’s cash costs.
• The post balance sheet period disposals of DGB and Iceland Foods, for an aggregate consideration of c.R3 billion, demonstrates
traction against the Group’s new strategy, notwithstanding the challenging macro environment impacted by the Coronavirus pandemic.
The initial R1.6 billion proceeds received in June 2020 from these two sale transactions was applied to paying down the BML RCF,
which at 19 June 2020 reflected a drawn balance of R3.5 billion. The remaining deferred instalments of c.R1.4 billion will be received by
29 July 2022 and will be applied to further repaying the BML RCF.
The Investment Advisor’s report (pages 12 – 25) sets out the highlights for the Group’s investment portfolio for the year in review.
An overview of the investment portfolio is set out on pages 26 – 54, with more detailed portfolio investment information included in Brait’s
2020 Audited Results Presentation booklet, which is available on the Company’s website.
REPORTED NAV PER SHARE
The markets in which our portfolio companies operate have remained challenging for consumer facing companies, with the Coronavirus
pandemic causing extreme volatility on global markets and companies. As at reporting date, global valuation multiples had fallen sharply and
short-term profitability, liquidity and gearing in some businesses has been impacted materially, impacting the valuation of Brait’s portfolio,
in particular Virgin Active.
The issuance of the 848 million new shares pursuant to Brait’s R5.6 billion equity capital raise, accounts for the majority (61%) of the
decrease in NAV per share for the year from the starting R41.80 to the R8.27 reported at 31 March 2020. Taking consideration of the current
period decline in peer spot multiples, Brait reduced valuation multiples accordingly at reporting date, which accounts for a further 20% of the
decrease in NAV per share for the current year.
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IMPACT OF CORONAVIRUS
The safety of staff and customers across the Group’s portfolio of companies is top priority and we are supportive of the various government
initiatives to curb the impact and spread of the Coronavirus.
Brait’s portfolio companies have implemented effective short term measures to protect the health and safety of staff and customers and
have business continuity plans in place to deal with the impacts of Coronavirus. In some instances, this is focused on reducing costs,
preserving cash and maximising liquidity through this difficult period. In other cases, the challenge is to ensure the portfolio companies can
deliver to meet the demand of their customers in a safe manner. Longer term focus will shift to repositioning the businesses in a postCoronavirus world.
Following a strong financial year ended 31 December 2019 performance, and a good start to its 2020 year, Virgin Active has been
significantly impacted by the Coronavirus, with gyms in all territories closed by 25 March 2020, in accordance with respective
government directives:
• Since early February 2020, when the likely scale and impact of the virus became evident, the company implemented a number of
measures across all territories focused on preserving cash. Broadly, including all mitigants and interventions by management, operating
cost cash outflows for Virgin Active were reduced by two thirds during the closure period.
• To enable the Virgin Active UK, Italy and Asia Pacific territories to navigate appropriately through the current exceptional circumstances
as a result of Coronavirus, Virgin Active shareholders contributed £25 million liquidity support on 15 June 2020 (Brait’s share £16 million),
which was matched by £25 million new bank debt from the banking syndicate, with the existing covenant package replaced by a liquidity
based covenant until December 2021 (returning to EBITDA-based testing thereafter).
• Prior to territory lockdowns, the company had put in place extensive cleaning and sanitation procedures to ensure that the clubs were a
safe place for its members and staff. Since 20 May 2020, respective governments have permitted clubs in Italy, Asia Pacific, Botswana
and Namibia to reopen, with Virgin Active focused on ensuring its clubs continue to institute these sanitation measures as well as
enforced social distancing through the reduction of class sizes and limiting gym attendance numbers. The reopening date announced by
the UK government is 25 July 2020. A reopening date is not yet confirmed for South Africa, where the company is leading the industry’s
engagement with government and discussions continue.
• Early usage from the Virgin Active clubs that have reopened is encouraging with all the popular exercise classes fully booked and subject
to waiting lists.
CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CSR)
Brait and its portfolio companies have a long-standing commitment to doing business responsibly. For each portfolio company, CSR has
a particular meaning which relates to that company’s operations and impacts. As the Group is predominantly consumer facing, core focus
areas for Brait are:
• People (health and well-being, quality education, addressing poverty and hunger, and inequality); and
• Responsible consumption and production (minimising the impact on marine and land resources and climate change).
The CSR report (pages 77 - 86) sets out a number of the initiatives undertaken by the portfolio companies and Brait during the year
in review.
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
The Annual General Meeting of Shareholders will take place at the Company’s registered office in Malta, on Thursday 13 August 2020
(the AGM). The Notice to the AGM and form of proxy are set out on pages 147 – 155.
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Chairman’s statement (continued)
PROPOSED NEW BOARD
As announced on 24 March 2020, Christo Wiese, Lawrence Porter and Herman Troskie will be standing for re-election at the AGM.
Lawrence has indicated that he will step down from the Board once the proposed redomiciliation from Malta to Mauritius has been effected.
The Board has approved the Nomination Committee’s proposed five candidates for Shareholders to consider and approve at the AGM:
• Anthony Nelson (British), whom the Board has elected to serve as Chairman;
• Pierre Joubert (South African, resident in Mauritius);
• Murray Grant (British);
• Yoza Jekwa (South African); and
• Paul Roelofse (South African, currently alternate director to Christo Wiese).
Their respective biographies are set out in the Notice of the AGM (pages 150-151), as well as on Brait’s website. The proposed new board
will comprise eight non-executive directors, five of whom are classified as independent.
PROPOSED REDOMICILIATION FROM MALTA TO MAURITIUS
As previously communicated, the Board’s intention was to propose to Shareholders as part of the AGM, the transfer of the Company’s
registered office from Malta to Mauritius, where the Company’s main subsidiary, Brait Mauritius Limited is domiciled.
Whilst the Company has complied with all requirements thus far in this regard, due to the Coronavirus pandemic, the final stage relating
to the publication of the requisite notice by the Maltese Authorities has been delayed. As such, the Board will look to propose the
Redomiciliation to Shareholders at an extraordinary general meeting to be held in due course.
APPRECIATION
On behalf of the Board, I would like to extend appreciation to all our stakeholders and business partners for their continued support and
acknowledge the continued hard work and dedication from the management teams and staff across the Group’s portfolio companies.
I would like to thank Chris Seabrooke, Alan Jacobs and John Botts who join me in not standing for re-election at the AGM, for their
considerable contributions during long-standing tenures.
In closing, I wish the proposed new Board, my successor Anthony, and the new Investment Advisor EPE, the very best in delivering on
Brait’s new strategy of maximising value through the realisation of the portfolio over the medium term.

Jabu Moleketi
Non-Executive Chairman of the Board
24 June 2020
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Performance overview
4.1 Brait

RECAPITALISATION
• In February 2020, Brait concluded a recapitalisation comprising:
–– R5.6 billion of equity capital raised through a Rights Offer and specific issue of
shares
–– A £150 million, 5-year term, convertible bond
–– A new R6.3 billion revolving credit facility with a 3-year tenor (“BML RCF”)
• Proceeds raised were applied towards:
–– Repurchase of £201 million of Brait’s £350 million convertible bond due
September 2020
–– Partially repaying R2 billion of the BML RCF

GROUP LIQUIDITY POSITION
• During FY2020, Brait received R1.6 billion investment flows from its portfolio
–– Proceeds of R1,137 million (R840 million shareholder funding repayments from
Virgin Active & Premier, R293 million from New Look bridge repayment and R4
million from other investments)
–– Other investment income of R425 million, largely from New Look
• Brait has available cash and facilities of R5.6 billion as at the reporting date and
has reported compliance with all covenants
• Post balance sheet events:
–– Sale of DGB for a total consideration of R470 million (initial tranche of R370
million received on 1 June 2020)

NEW STRATEGY &
ADVISOR

• The Board adopted a new strategy
focused on maximising value
through the realisation of the
existing portfolio companies over
the medium term and returning
capital to Shareholders
• Traction against this strategy has
been demonstrated through the
disposals of DGB and Iceland
Foods, generating total proceeds of
c.R3bn which will be used to reduce
the BML RCF.
• The Board, through Brait Mauritius
Limited (“BML”), entered into a new
advisory agreement, with Ethos
Private Equity (“EPE”) effective
1 March 2020.
• The terms of the advisory agreement
with EPE represent a significant cost
saving to the Brait Group.
• The Board has resolved to
redomicile from Malta to Mauritius
and new Board nominations will be
presented for shareholder approval at
the AGM.

–– Sale of Brait’s entire interest in Iceland Foods for a total consideration
of £115 million (initial tranche of £60 million (R1,275 million) received on
8 June 2020)
–– Contributed £16 million (R347 million) of shareholding funding to Virgin
Active UK

Integrated Annual Report 2020 | Brait
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Performance overview (continued)
4.2 Underlying portfolio companies

VALUATION

NAVPS has reduced from R38.00 to R8.27 since September 2019, a decrease
of 78%
NAVPS impacted by:
• Issuance of 848 million new shares in Brait’s R5.6 billion equity raise
accounting for 69% of decline
– On a like-for-like basis, NAVPS reduced from R17.46 to R8.27, a
decrease of 53%
• Reduction in valuation multiples (due to a decline in peer spot averages)
accounting for 20% of decline (Virgin 11.0x to 9.0x, Premier 10.75x to 8.0x,
Iceland 7.0x to 6.0x)
• Impact of Coronavirus on portfolio company profitability and outlook

PORTFOLIO COMPANY OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE
Improved operational performance up to February 2020; 3% YoY increase
in membership base & ahead of EBITDA budget, however significantly
impacted by Coronavirus with gym closures and membership fees being
frozen. Gyms in certain territories have re-opened, with early indications of
positive response
Strong operational and financial performance in 2H20; 13% increase in H2
EBITDA (resulting in a 4% increase for the full year) which has continued
post year end

CORONAVIRUS
Significant impact of Coronavirus since
March 2020 has required operational
and strategic reshaping of the portfolio
companies.
Short-term focus has been on
implementing effective measures to
protect the health & safety of staff
and customers and have business
continuity plans in place. In some
instances this is focused on reducing
costs, preserving cash and maximising
liquidity. In other cases, the challenge is
to ensure that demand is met in a safe
and healthy manner.
Longer term focus will shift to
repositioning the businesses in a postCoronavirus world.
While Virgin Active and New Look
have been significantly affected,
plans are in place to mitigate the extent
Other investments
of the impact of the pandemic.

Overview
Sold to Iceland management for a total consideration of £115 million;
a premium to the March 2020 carrying value of £62 million. Initial tranche
of £60 million received
Operational turnaround plan was on track, however significantly impacted
by Coronavirus
with temporary
store closures
Other investments
portfolio carrying
value

Audited

Audited

31 Mar 2017

31 Mar 2018

R’m

2,064

% total
assets

4%

R’m

2,408

% total
assets

6%

Investments housed within Brait’s Other Investments portfolio:

Sold for a total consideration of R470 million, in line with its September
Majority ofvalue.
the carrying
of thisofportfolio
Brait’s 81.3% shareholding in DGB, a leading South African producer and
2019• carrying
Initialvalue
tranche
R370 relates
milliontoreceived
exporter of local wine and importer of international spirit brands, and Brait’s position in certain public market securities
• The remainder of the portfolio comprises Brait’s remaining private equity investments, which mostly relates to Brait’s effective
c.10% interest in Brait IV; carrying value largely attributable to:
o Consol – the largest manufacturer of glass packaging products on the African continent

Movements during FY2018
The net increase in carrying value over the financial year is a function of an investment in certain public market securities, offset by:
• Proceeds received from Brait IV’s realisation of its investment in Primedia, which concluded in December 2017; and
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• A
decrease in the carrying value of Brait’s investment in DGB, arising from a discontinued operation
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Proceeds received from the Other Investments portfolio (since 1 April 2011)

BRAITNAV
NAVMOVEMENT
MOVEMENTANALYSIS
ANALYSIS
BRAIT

4.3 Disaggregation of the movement in NAV since 30 September 2019

The Brait NAV has decreasedDisaggregation
from
R17.9bn in September
2019
(pre-Rights Issue)
to R10.9bn
in March
driven
bySeptember
the
Disaggregation
the
movement
NAVPS
and
NAV2020,
since
2019
ofofthe
movement
ininNAVPS
and
NAV
since
3030September
2019
following factors:
The
Brait
NAV
has
decreased
from
R17.9bn
September
2019
(pre-Rights
Issue)
R10.9bn
March
2020,
driven
following
factors:
The
Brait
NAV
has
decreased
from
R17.9bn
in in
September
2019
(pre-Rights
Issue)
to to
R10.9bn
in in
March
2020,
driven
byby
thethe
following
factors:

NAVPS:
SPLIT
VALUATION
DRIVER
NAVPS:
SPLIT
BYBY
VALUATION
DRIVER

NAV:
SPLIT
PORTFOLIO
COMPANY
NAV:
SPLIT
BYBY
PORTFOLIO
COMPANY

Constant
currency
with
impact
Constant
currency
with
FXFX
impact
shown
separately
shown
separately

Actual
currency
Actual
currency
5,134
5,134

(20.54)
(20.54)

(7,341)
(7,341)
(2,497)
(2,497)

38.00
38.00

(689)
(689)
10,911
10,911

EBITDA: NAVPS declined by R2.73 due to a reduction in constant
In actual
currency,
decline
in EBITDA
R0.13
share,
with
performance
• In• actual
currency,
thethe
decline
in EBITDA
waswas
R0.13
perper
share,
with
performance
currency
maintainable
EBITDA
in Virgin
Active
being
offset
a weaker
GBP/ZAR
exchange
being
offset
by by
a weaker
GBP/ZAR
exchange
raterate and Iceland Foods

multiple:
weighted
average
EV/EBITDA
reduced
from
9.55x
• EV/EBITDA
In actual
currency,
the
decline
in EBITDA
was
R0.13
per
– –EV/EBITDA
multiple:
thethe
weighted
average
EV/EBITDA
reduced
from
9.55x
in in
September
2019
to 7.65x
in March
2020,
accounting
for
a R5.97
share
decline
September
toperformance
7.65x
in March
2020,
accounting
forweaker
a R5.97
perper
share
decline
share,2019
with
being
offset
by a
GBP/ZAR

debt:
constant
currency
debt
remained
relatively
accounting
a R0.24
– –NetNet
debt:
constant
currency
netnet
debt
remained
relatively
flat,flat,
accounting
for for
a R0.24
exchange
rate.
decrease
in NAVPS.
In actual
currency,
debt
reduced
R1.94
share
decrease
in NAVPS.
In actual
currency,
netnet
debt
reduced
by by
R1.94
perper
share

– EV/EBITDA
multiple:
the weighted
average
EV/EBITDA
reduced
impact:
weaker
GBP/ZAR
(R18.61
in September
2019
to R22.17
in March
– –FXFX
impact:
thethe
weaker
GBP/ZAR
(R18.61
in September
2019
to R22.17
in March
from
9.55x
inforSeptember
2019intoNAVPS
in March 2020, accounting for
2020)
accounts
for
a R0.27
increase
in7.65x
NAVPS
2020)
accounts
a R0.27
increase
a R5.97 per share decline

–

Net debt: constant currency net debt remained relatively flat,
accounting for a R0.24 decrease in NAVPS. In actual currency,
net debt reduced by R1.94 per share

–

FX impact: the weaker GBP/ZAR (R18.61 in September 2019 to
R22.17 in March 2020) accounts for a R0.27 increase in NAVPS

March NAV
March NAV

Group Net debt
Group Net debt

Other investments
Other investments

Iceland
Iceland

Premier
Premier

Virgin Active
Virgin Active

Rights Issue
Rights Issue

March NAV/share
March NAV/share

EBITDA:
NAVPS
declined
R2.73
a reduction
in constant
currency
– –EBITDA:
NAVPS
declined
by by
R2.73
duedue
to atoreduction
in constant
currency
maintainable
EBITDA
in Virgin
Active
Iceland
maintainable
EBITDA
in Virgin
Active
andand
Iceland

–

(320)
(320)

8.27
8.27
FX Impact
FX Impact

Group Net debt
Group Net debt

Other investments
Other investments

Debt
Debt

Multiple
Multiple

EBITDA
EBITDA

Rights Issue
Rights Issue

September NAVPS
September NAVPS

(0.36) (0.17)
(0.24) (0.36)
(0.24)
(0.17)

(1,292)
(1,292)

17,916
17,916

0.27
0.27

September NAV
September NAV

(2.73) (5.97)
(2.73)
(5.97)

Virgin
Active:
largest
contributor
to the
decline
in NAV,
with
Brait
attributable
– –Virgin
Active:
thethe
largest
contributor
to the
decline
in NAV,
with
thethe
Brait
attributable
valuation
decreasing
R7.3bn,
driven
valuation
decreasing
by by
R7.3bn,
driven
by:by:

–

Virgin Active: the largest contributor to the decline in NAV, with the
Brait attributable valuation decreasing by R7.3bn, driven by:

• reduction
in Maintainable
EBITDA
(from
£140m
to £108m)
• reduction
in Maintainable
EBITDA
(from
£140m
to £108m)
• decrease
in the
EV/EBITDA
multiple
(from
11.0x
to 9.0x)
• decrease
in the
EV/EBITDA
multiple
(from
11.0x
to 9.0x)

reduction
in(from
Maintainable
EBITDA
• •increase
in net
debt
(from
£410m
to
£440m) (from
• increase
in net
debt
£410m
to £440m)

£140m to £108m)

• decline
decrease
in
the
EV/EBITDA
multiple
(from
toGBP/ZAR
9.0x)
in Virgin
Active
has
been
partially
offset
a11.0x
weaker
TheThe
decline
in Virgin
Active
has
been
partially
offset
by by
a weaker
GBP/ZAR
Premier:
valuation
declined
R2.5bn,
a decrease
in the
EV/EBITDA
– –Premier:
valuation
declined
by by
R2.5bn,
duedue
to atoto
decrease
in the
EV/EBITDA
• increase
in net
debt
(from
£410m
£440m)
valuation
multiple
(from
10.75x
to 8.0x)
valuation
multiple
(from
10.75x
to 8.0x)

The decline
decline
Active
has
been
partially
byEV/EBITDA
weaker
Iceland:
decline
inVirgin
valuation
of R1.3bn
mainly
due
a offset
decrease
ina EV/EBITDA
– –Iceland:
inin
valuation
of R1.3bn
mainly
due
to atodecrease
in
multiple
(from
7.0x
to 6.0x),
partially
offset
a weaker
GBP/ZAR
multiple
(from
7.0x
to 6.0x),
partially
offset
by by
a weaker
GBP/ZAR
GBP/ZAR
–

Premier: valuation declined by R2.5bn, due to a decrease in the
EV/EBITDA valuation multiple (from 10.75x to 8.0x)

–

Iceland: decline in valuation of R1.3bn mainly due to a decrease in
EV/EBITDA multiple (from 7.0x to 6.0x), partially offset by a weaker
GBP/ZAR

12 12
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Brait’s history
Other investments
Overview

Other investments portfolio
• Jul-11 to current
• FMCG manufacturer offering branded
and private label
• Brait investment to date R4.8bn
– R2.2bn equity (holds 98.5%)
– R2.6bn shareholder funding
• Premier has repaid Brait R1.5bn
shareholder funding to date

• Houses Brait’s remaining PE fund and
smaller proprietary investments

Audited

• Jun-15 to current

Audited

Other investments

31 Mar 2017
R’m

% total
assets

31 Mar 2018
R’m

% total
assets

• UK multichannel value fast fashionOverview
Other investments portfolio carrying value
2,064 4%
2,408 6%
Audited
Audited
brand
• At Mar-20, largely comprises:
31 Mar 2017

Investments housed within Brait’s Other Investments portfolio:

• 89% acq in Jun-15 for £783m

31 Mar 2018

%South
total African producer
%and
total
• Majority of the carrying value of this portfolio relates to Brait’s 81.3% shareholding in DGB, a leading
R’m assets
R’m assets
exporter of local wine and importer of international spirit brands, and Brait’s position in certain public market securities

• Sep-17 written down to nil

• Theinvestments
remainder of the
portfoliocarrying
comprisesvalue
Brait’s remaining private equity investments, which
mostly4%
relates to Brait’s
effective
Other
portfolio
2,064
2,408
6%

• Investments
Nov-17, CVA
– 91% shareholding in DGB,
Investments
housed
Other
portfolio:
o leading
Consol
– thewithin
largestBrait’s
manufacturer
ofTurnaround
glass packaging
productsimplemented
on the African continent
Movements
FY2018
• Majority of during
the carrying
value of this portfolio completed
relates to Brait’s 81.3% shareholding
in DGB, a leading South African producer and
Mar-18
SA producer/exporter wine,
of local
andvalue
importer
international
spirit
and
position in
Theexporter
net increase
in wine
carrying
overofthe
financial year
is brands,
a function
ofBrait’s
an investment
in certain
certain public
public market
market securities
securities, offset by:
importer spirit brands (sold
Jun-20)
•• The
remainder
of the
portfolio
comprises
remaining
private
equity investments,
which
relates2017;
toduring
Brait’s
•Brait’s
Brait
acquired
18%
ofinmostly
SSNs
12
Proceeds
received
from
Brait IV’s
realisation
of its
investment
in Primedia,
which
concluded
December
and effective
c.10% interest in Brait IV; carrying value largely attributable to:

months to Sep-18

interest
in Brait
IV; carrying
attributable
to: arising from a discontinued operation
• c.10%
A decrease
in the
carrying
value ofvalue
Brait’slargely
investment
in DGB,
o Consol – the largest manufacturer of glass packaging products on the African continent
Proceeds received from the Other Investments portfolio (since 1 April 2011)
Movements during FY2018

• Restructure completed May-19;
• In excess of R2.5 billion has been received to 31 March 2018
– Largest African glass packaging
The net increase in carrying value over the financial year is a function of an investment in certain public market securities, offset by:
cantly
deleveraged
• Proceeds received from Brait IV’s realisationsignifi
of its investment
in Primedia,
which concluded in December 2017; and
manufacturer, Brait’s effective
• A decrease in the carrying value of Brait’s investment in DGB, arising from a discontinued operation
•
Brait
holds
18.5%
equity, 18.3% SSNs
stake is 3% (through Brait
IV)
Proceeds received from the Other Investments portfolio (since 1 April 2011)
•

78

In excess of R2.5 billion has been received to 31 March 2018

78

FY2011

FY2012

FY2015

4 July-11
• Brait changed business model from
credible 20 year PE fund manager to
investment company
• R8.6bn capital raise
– R6.4bn Rights Offer and private
placement
– R2.2bn debt facilities
• Anchor investments acquired Premier
and Pepkor

8
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FY2016

Sep-15
• Jul-11 acq. 37% stake in Pepkor for
R4bn
• SA based value clothing and apparel
items cash retailer
• Sold 37% stake in Mar-15, returning
7.0x cost
• Proceeds applied to acquiring New
Look and Virgin Active

• Brait raised £350m issuing 5 year
Convertible Bonds listed on Open
Market segment of FSE
• 2.75% coupon
• Following Brait’s repurchases, £149m
outstanding at Mar-20

Dec-19 to March-20
• Jul-15 to current
• Leading international health club operator
• Brait’s 79% equity and shareholder loan investment
cost £699m
• Refinanced SA debt package in H120, extending
term to 2024 and reducing margin
• To date, Virgin Active has repaid Brait R1bn of
shareholder funding
• In Jun-20, Brait injected £16m shareholder funding

FY2018

• Concluded Recapitalisation comprising:
– R5.6bn equity capital raise through fully underwritten Rights Offer
and specific issue of shares;
– Issued £150m, 5 year term, Convertible Bonds listed on Open
Market of FSE (6.5% coupon);
– New R6.3bn RCF with 3 year tenor.
• New strategy to maximise value through realisation of portfolio over
medium term
• New board and redomiciliation from Malta to Mauritius for
shareholder approval
• New advisory agreement with EPE (Mar-20)

FY2019

FY2020

Other in

Audited
31 Mar 2017
R’m

Other investments portfolio carrying value

Other investments portfolio

2,064

% total
assets

4%

Investments housed within Brait’s Other Investments portfolio:

• Mar-12 acq. 18.7%; increased to 63.1% by Jun-18
(38.4% acq.; company buybacks)
• UK national food retailer, best known for frozen
food offering
• Sold in Jun-20 for £115m, significant premium to
Mar-20 carrying value of £63m
• Sales proceeds in 3 instalments:
– £60m received Jun-20;
– £55m deferred proceeds (by Jul-21; Jul-22)

Strategic Events

Acquisition

• Majority of the carrying value of this portfolio relates to Brait’s 81.3% shareholding in DGB, a leading South Af

exporter of local wine and importer of international spirit brands, and Brait’s position in certain public market s

• The remainder of the portfolio comprises Brait’s remaining private equity investments, which mostly relates to
c.10% interest in Brait IV; carrying value largely attributable to:

o Consolof
– theR470m
largest manufacturer of glass packaging products on the African continent
• Sold in Jun-20 for Mar-20 carrying value

Movements during FY2018

• Sales proceeds in 3 instalments:The net increase in carrying value over the financial year is a function of an investment in certain public market s
• Proceeds received from Brait IV’s realisation of its investment in Primedia, which concluded in December 201
– R370m received Jun-20;
• A decrease in the carrying value of Brait’s investment in DGB, arising from a discontinued operation
– R100m deferred proceeds (due by Mar-21;
Proceeds received from the Other Investments portfolio (since 1 April 2011)
Mar-22)
• In excess of R2.5 billion has been received to 31 March 2018

Disposal
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Investment strategy
BRAIT’S INVESTMENT STRATEGY
The strategy of Brait has been that of a strategic long term investment holding company, seeking to drive growth in NAV and value creation
via its portfolio of sizeable, unlisted businesses in the broad consumer sector, reviewing its portfolio for realisation opportunities and taking
into consideration liquidity requirements.
Pursuant to the Recapitalisation that completed in February 2020, the Board has adopted a new strategy focused on maximising value
through the realisation of its existing portfolio companies over the medium term and returning capital to shareholders. The Board, assisted
by BML and its new contracted investment advisor, EPE, will execute this new strategy through:
• Maintaining appropriate portfolio company board representation to direct investment strategy focused on optimising growth in EBITDA,
free cash flow generation and value creation aligned with Brait’s medium term targeted realisation date;
• Ensuring appropriate measures are in place for aligning portfolio company management teams with Brait in order to deliver an optimal
exit in the medium term;
• Critically assessing the likely exit alternatives for each portfolio company, which may include public offering and resulting secondary
market share sales, trade sales or a break-up;
• On an ongoing basis, evaluating methods of returning capital to Brait from the portfolio companies through the repayment of shareholder
loans, redemption of share capital or other cash distributions out of disposals of all or part of the portfolio company investments.
OTHER PARAMETERS
• Each portfolio company is free standing in respect of its debt obligations;
• Brait may hold short-term investments, debt instruments and increased levels of cash depending on market conditions and other
circumstances.
CATEGORISATION, COMMUNICATION AND APPROVAL OF TRANSACTIONS
• Brait will ensure compliance with all listing requirements pursuant to the Company’s primary listing on the Euro MTF market of the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange (“LuxSE”) and secondary listing on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange (“JSE”);
• All transactions concluded in accordance with this investment strategy will be regarded as being in the ordinary course of business,
unless circumstances dictate otherwise.
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Brait | Integrated Annual Report 2020

7

Investment Advisor
The Board has selected, effective 1 March 2020, Ethos Private Equity Proprietary Limited (“EPE”) as the new contracted Investment Advisor
to BML. EPE has a 35-year history of generating realised returns for investors and will bring a different perspective to the Brait portfolio,
leveraging its execution capability and exit track record to execute the Company’s new strategy. BML has an investment services agreement
detailing the terms by which EPE will provide BML investment advisory and administration services on a non-discretionary basis.
The Board selected EPE Capital Partners Limited (Ethos Capital) and Ethos Fund VII, affiliates of EPE, as new strategic equity partners.
Both provided firm underwriting commitments to subscribe for new shares pursuant to Brait’s February 2020 Rights Offer and specific issue
of shares, and collectively own 12.3% of Brait at reporting date.
The Board, with the assistance of EPE, will focus on strategies for Brait’s portfolio companies to realise value from the portfolio over the next
five years and return capital to Brait shareholders.
KEY PRINCIPLES OF THE INVESTMENT SERVICES AGREEMENT BETWEEN BML AND EPE
• An initial three-year tenor, with an annual renewal thereafter;
• EPE provides accounting, administration, corporate finance, investment advisory, investor relations and general corporate secretarial
services to BML;
• The team responsible for advising BML consists of executives from EPE, as well as certain employees, hired by EPE to ensure continuity,
from BML’s previously contracted investment advisors.
• Initial cost of R100 million per annum, with annual inflation linked increases, which represents a significant cost saving to the Group going
forward in comparison to the agreement with BML’s previously contracted investment advisors;
• In addition, the Board and EPE have undertaken to assess on an annual basis the appropriateness of the annual cost in the context of
the resources required to implement the strategic business plans for that year.
TO ALIGN THE INTERESTS OF BRAIT SHAREHOLDERS AND EPE IN TERMS OF VALUE CREATION:
• A new incentive structure, subject to Board approval, will be developed based on annual, pre-determined key performance indicators;
• A new share incentive structure, which will be proposed to Brait shareholders for their consideration and approval at a future general
meeting, will also be developed.
ABOUT THE INVESTMENT ADVISOR, EPE
• EPE was established in 1984 and was instrumental in establishing the private equity asset class in South Africa, having managed third
party capital since 1992. EPE has a strong track record of generating superior returns across multiple economic and political cycles;
• Over its 36-year history, the firm has built and refined an institutional platform that has provided the scale to develop a multi-fund offering;
• EPE is pursuing a growth vision and the product set has been expanded in recent years to include a number of differentiated
propositions that are fit-for-purpose in a dynamic and evolving investment landscape: a Mid Market Fund, a Mezzanine Fund, an Artificial
Intelligence Fund and the listing of Ethos Capital;
• EPE’s investment activities are led by highly experienced private equity and mezzanine teams, comprising more than 20 partners
throughout the firm. The partners have collectively been with EPE for over 200 years and are backed by a team of investment
professionals, providing deep private equity expertise and strong resources to support transaction activity. The team is defined by a high
performance culture and characterised by local insights with international reach;
• For more information on EPE, including profiles of the senior members of the investment advisory team, please see www.ethos.co.za.

Integrated Annual Report 2020 | Brait

11

8

Investment Advisor’s Report
PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW
Actions taken since 1 March 2020: illustrative impact
KEY FOCUS AREAS
– Portfolio company management alignment
around revised Brait value optimisation strategy
– Revised portfolio company strategies and
management incentivisation
– Coronavirus plans for those businesses impacted
by the pandemic: short term liquidity strategy and
longer-term business repositioning
– Brait Board alignment on the cost reduction
strategy, portfolio optimisation and liquidity
plan for the Group

DISPOSALS & INVESTMENT PROCEEDS
– Sale of DGB
– Sale of Iceland Foods
– Premier R150 million shareholder loan repayment

ACTIONS TAKEN & THE IMPACT ON BRAIT’S CASH COSTS
PREMIER LOAN REPAYMENT

CB REPURCHASE

Liquidity management:
R150m of shareholder loan proceeds
from Premier (interest saving)

Liquidity management:
Repurchase of a portion
of 2020 Convertible
Bonds at a discount

DISPOSALS
Asset disposal
process, resulting in
annual interest rate
savings

R3.15bn
of proceeds

59%
Deferred proceeds
Realised proceeds

Refinancing of BML facility
(annual interest saving –
including Base Rate
reduction) (2)

28%

30%

R444m
cash cost
reduction (1)

5%

41%

BML INTEREST RATE

7% 3%

27%

OPERATING COSTS

ADVISOR FEE

– Re-domiciliation from
Malta to Mauritius

Reduction in the BML Advisory
Fee (3)

– Reduction cost of the Brait
Board
– Voluntary reduction in Q1
directors’ remuneration

Voluntary reduction in Q1
Advisory Fee

(1) Represents an illustrative estimate of “annualised” cost savings; (2) Includes the benefit of a 275bps reduction in SA Base Rates; (3) Reduction of Advisory fee from R215 million to R100 million p.a.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
• Completion of the Recapitalisation comprising:
o GBP150 million, 5-year term, convertible bonds issued on 4 December 2019 (“2024 Bonds”);
o R5.6 billion equity capital raised during February 2020 through an oversubscribed R5.250 billion Rights Offer and R350 million specific
issue of shares; and a
o New R6.3 billion revolving credit facility, with a 3-year tenor (“BML RCF”) refinancing Brait’s previous credit facility.
• Proceeds raised applied towards:
o Repurchase of GBP201 million of Brait’s GBP350 million convertible bonds due September 2020 (“2020 Bonds”); and
o Repaying R2 billion of the BML RCF
• R1.6 billion cash inflow from the portfolio during the financial year
• Available cash and facilities of R5.6 billion at reporting date, which includes cash held in Pound Sterling for the redemption of the
outstanding 2020 Bonds.
• NAV per share of R8.27 impacted by:
o Issuance of 848 million new shares pursuant to the equity capital raise
o Reduction in valuation multiples following the decline in peer spot averages as a result of Coronavirus; and
o Impact of the Coronavirus on portfolio company profitability, gearing and outlook.
12
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• In line with new strategy focused on maximising value through the realisation of existing assets, concluded the following realisations post
year end:
o Sale of DGB for its March 2020 carrying value of R470 million; initial tranche of R370 million sales proceeds received on 1 June 2020;
o Sale of Iceland Foods to the founder and management team for GBP115 million, a significant premium to its March 2020 carrying
value; initial tranche of GBP60 million proceeds received on 8 June 2020.
YEAR UNDER REVIEW
• Recapitalisation
At the Extraordinary General Meeting held in Malta on 14 January 2020 (“EGM”), Shareholders approved the required resolutions for
Brait’s Recapitalisation comprising the issuance of new 5-year convertible bonds, an equity capital raise, and a new 3-year tenor BML
RCF refinancing Brait’s previous credit facility. The Recapitalisation has materially reduced and extended the maturities of Brait’s debt,
strengthening Brait’s balance sheet and enabling Brait to execute on its new strategy. The Recapitalisation resulted in Brait’s net current
liability position of R5.6 billion at 30 September 2019, reducing to nil at reporting date.
Issuance of new 5-year convertible bonds
On 4 December 2019, Brait issued new GBP150 million 6.5% Convertible Bonds due 4 December 2024 (the “2024 Bonds”).
Concurrently with this placement, the Company also repurchased GBP180 million of the 2020 Bonds, utilising the proceeds raised
from the 2024 Bonds together with cash of GBP30 million. The 2024 Bonds are listed on the open market (Freiverkehr) segment of
the Frankfurt Stock Exchange. Using their conversion price of GBP0.5219, the 2024 Bonds are entitled to convert into a maximum
of 287,411,381 ordinary shares, at the option of the holder thereof, at any time up to and including 10 London business days prior
to 4 December 2024. In accordance with IAS 32 (Financial Instruments: Presentation), the liability component for the 2024 Bonds is
measured at reporting date as GBP132 million (R2.925 billion).
Equity capital raise
Brait raised R5.6 billion equity capital through an oversubscribed R5.250 billion Rights Offer to existing shareholders, and a R350 million
specific issue of shares to Ethos Capital and Ethos Fund VII. The equity capital raise resulted in the issuance of 848 million new
shares. Brait converted R3.3 billion of the net proceeds raised into GBP170 million cash (GBP/ZAR rate of R19.47), which it holds for
the settlement of the outstanding 2020 Bonds, with the remaining R2 billion net proceeds raised applied to partially repay the BML
RCF. As announced on 1 April 2020, the Company purchased GBP21 million of the 2020 Bonds as of 31 March 2020, resulting in
GBP149 million (R3.303 billion) of the 2020 Bonds outstanding.
New 3-year tenor BML RCF
Brait completed the refinancing of its previous credit facility with its existing lending banks, Rand Merchant Bank, a division of FirstRand
Bank, and The Standard Bank of South Africa (the “Lenders”). The new 3-year tenor, R6.3 billion BML RCF, bears interest at a rate of
JIBAR plus 4.6%, with agreed reductions to apply to both the quantum and interest rate margin as Brait de-gears. As at reporting date,
the interest rate margin was 4.0%. The key terms of the new facility are unchanged from those disclosed in Brait’s Rights Offer Circular
of 27 January 2020. Covenants remain NAV based and have been set with sufficient headroom for short term volatility, with the facility
continuing to be secured on a senior basis by the assets of Brait Mauritius Limited (“BML”).
• Adoption of new strategy and recent disposals
The Board has adopted a new strategy focused on maximising value through the realisation of the existing portfolio companies over the
medium term and returning capital to Shareholders. The Board believes that the Recapitalisation provides the Company with sufficient
flexibility to manage its portfolio of investments and execute this new strategy in an optimal manner.
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Investment Advisor’s Report (continued)
In line with the Group’s new strategy, Brait announced the following non-adjusting post balance sheet event disposal transactions:
• On 13 May 2020, fulfilment of all the conditions relating to the sale of Brait’s entire 91.3% shareholding in DGB for a total
consideration of R470 million, which was largely in line with its September 2019 carrying value and equal to the March 2020
carrying value. Brait applied the first tranche of proceeds of R370 million received on 1 June 2020 to partially repay the BML RCF.
The remaining R100 million is to be received in two deferred payments of R50 million each by 31 March 2021 and 31 March
2022 respectively.
• On 8 June 2020, completed the sale of Brait’s entire 63.1% shareholding interest in Iceland Foods to a newly established company
(“Newco”), returning the business to ownership by its founder and management team. The sale consideration to be paid by NewCo
to Brait is GBP115 million in cash payable in three instalments. Brait received the first tranche of proceeds of GBP60 million
(R1,275 million) on 8 June 2020, which was applied to partially repaying the BML RCF. The remaining instalments of GBP26.9 million
and GBP28.1 million are to be received by 30 July 2021 and 29 July 2022 respectively (the “Deferred Payments”). NewCo may settle
the Deferred Payments in full, or in part, at any time on or before these payment dates, in which case a rebate for early repayment
shall be applied. Brait’s carrying value for its stake in Iceland Foods as at 31 March 2020 was GBP62.8 million (R1,391 million).
IMPACT OF CORONAVIRUS
The unexpected and unprecedented impact that the Coronavirus is having on global markets and companies is well known. As at reporting
date, global valuation multiples had fallen sharply and short-term profitability, liquidity and gearing in some businesses has been impacted
materially, impacting the valuation of Brait’s portfolio, in particular Virgin Active.
The safety of staff and customers across the Group’s portfolio of companies is top priority and we are fully supportive of the various
government initiatives to curb the impact and spread of the Coronavirus. Brait’s portfolio companies have implemented effective measures
to protect the health and safety of staff and customers and have business continuity plans in place to deal with the impacts of Coronavirus.
In some instances this is focused on reducing costs, preserving cash and maximising liquidity through this difficult period. In other cases,
the challenge is to ensure the portfolio companies can deliver demand for their customers in a safe manner.
As set out below, each portfolio company has been impacted differently and the management teams continue to assess the impact of
the Coronavirus and refine strategies to mitigate this impact. Engagement with key stakeholders continues across our portfolio to ensure
appropriate actions are instituted given the changed operating environment.
As announced on 13 May 2020, given the impact of the Coronavirus, senior executives at EPE have undertaken salary sacrifices as
a consequence of which EPE has voluntarily reduced its advisory fee for the April – June 2020 quarter by 25%. In addition, the Board
volunteered a reduction of their directors’ fees by 25% for this quarter.
REPORTED NAV PER SHARE
The issuance of the 848 million new shares pursuant to Brait’s R5.6 billion equity capital raise, accounts for the majority (61%) of the
decrease in NAV per share for the year under review from the R41.80 reported for FY19. As disclosed on Brait’s website, Brait’s interim
30 September 2019 unaudited NAV per share of R38.00 decreased to R17.46 when updated for the impact of the Recapitalisation.
Pursuant to Brait’s strategy focused on maximising value through the realisation of its existing portfolio companies over the medium term,
the primary reference measure considered at reporting date is the peer group average spot multiple. Taking consideration of the current
period declines in peer spot multiples, Brait has reduced valuation multiples accordingly at reporting date, which accounts for 20% of the
decrease in NAV per share for the current year.
The composition of the peer groups is unchanged for the current year, other than for the delisting of both Pioneer Foods Group Limited
(previously included in Premier’s peer group) and Merlin Entertainments Plc (previously included in Virgin Active’s peer group).
Whilst Brait and its portfolio companies that report in terms of IFRS have adopted IFRS16: Leases in the current financial year, taking
consideration of the number of complexities and judgments associated with the transition to IFRS16 and in particular its impact on portfolio
peer company multiples, Brait has valued its investment portfolio on a pre-IFRS16 basis, adjusting financial data for the impact of IFRS16 as
appropriate to ensure consistency.
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The NAV breakdown at reporting date is as follows:
Audited
Unaudited
31 March 30 September
2019
2019
Note 1
R’m
R’m

Audited
31 March
2020
R’m

31 444

29 894

18 444

17 363
8 803
3 176
1 146
956

16 696
8 545
2 683
1 121
849

834
324

%

Audited
Unaudited
31 March 30 September
2020
2019
Note 1
€’m
€’m

Audited
31 March
2019
€’m

Investments

83

936

1 812

1 934

9 355
6 047
1 391
940
711

Virgin Active
Premier
Iceland Foods
New Look
Other investments

42
27
6
5
3

475
307
71
48
35

1 012
518
163
68
51

1 068
541
196
70
59

3 205
9

3 887
14

Cash and cash
equivalents
Accounts receivable

17
–

197
1

194
1

51
20

32 602

33 108

22 345

100

1 134

2 007

2 005

12 870

6 965

7 526

Total assets
Non-current
liabilities

382

422

791

6 511
6 359

4 173
2 792

4 601
2 925

Borrowings
Convertible Bonds

234
148

253
169

400
391

24

3 093

3 908

Current liabilities

199

187

1

–
24

3 071
22

3 303
605

Convertible Bonds
Accounts payable

168
31

186
1

–
1

19 708

23 050

10 911

553

1 398

1 213

471.51

1 319.99

1 319.99

NAV
Net issued ordinary
shares (’mil)

1 319.99

1 319.99

471.51

4 180

1 746

827

42

106

257

NAV per share
(cents)

Note 1: Reported unaudited interim NAV per share at 30 September 2019 was R38.00 (EUR2.30). For comparability, results shown have been adjusted for the illustrative effect of the
Recapitalisation.
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Investment Advisor’s Report (continued)
BRAIT NAV ANALYSIS
Investment valuation metrics at a glance
Investment carrying values for FY2020 a function of (i) operational metrics…

Operational metrics

£’m

%

R’m

%

In a challenging environment in the UK
and SA, further impacted by
Coronavirus:
£’m

%

Maintainable EBITDA
31 March 2020

(1) 108.0

31 March 2019

137.6

Change for year

(29.6)

(2)

(22%)

1,010

134.0

1,009

140.0

1

-

(6.0)

(4%)

Net 3rd party debt
31 March 2020

(1) 439.5

31 March 2019

352.5

Change for year
Shareholder loan repayments in 2020
Adjusted change for year

(1)
(2)
(3)

16

1,989
2,053

713.5

25%

(64)

(3%)

(9.1)

(41.9)

(12%)

(231)

(11%)

-

45.1

13%

(295)

(14%)

(9.1)

• Virgin Active’s Maintainable EBITDA is
based on a look-through to a mediumterm post Coronavirus sustainable level
of £108m; a 24% reduction of the
£142m actual EBITDA achieved by
Virgin Active for FY2019 (December)
• No significant changes in net debt in
Premier and Iceland; Virgin Active and
Premier repaying shareholder funding
with surplus cash and debt refinancing

704.4

87.0

• Earnings in Premier and Iceland have
held up well, with performance largely
in line with 31 March 2019 valuations

(1%)

(1%)

• Virgin Active’s Net debt of £344.3m per
the March 2020 management accounts
has been increased by £95.2m to
£439.5m to account for the estimated
effect of working capital and cost
deferred during the lockdown period

The weakening of the Rand against the Pound during FY2019 impacts the Pound denominated metrics for the Virgin Active valuation as follows: (i) Pound EBITDA reduced by c.2% (weakened average rate applied to
translate the SA business Rand EBITDA); (ii) Pound Net 3rd Party debt benefitted by c.6% (weakened closing rate in translating SA business Rand debt). Overall, Braitʼs Rand carrying value for Virgin Active at
31 March 2020 has benefitted from the weakened closing exchange rate, in translating the Pound carrying value into Braitʼs Rand presentation currency
Premierʼs maintainable EBITDA includes normalisation for the EBITDA impact of R37m arising from lost sales volumes during the period of the strike the Cape Town MillBake site, which was resolved in March 2019
On a comparable 52-week basis, decrease in Icelandʼs EBITDA is 8.5%
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BRAIT NAV ANALYSIS
Investment valuation metrics at a glance
… and (ii) valuation multiples applied, which were reduced given the decline in peer average multiples
31 March 2020

30 September 2019

31 March 2019

Valuation
multiple used

Peer spot
average

Valuation
multiple used

Peer spot
average

Valuation
multiple used

Peer spot
average

9.0x

10.8x

11.0x

14.2x

11.0x

12.7x

8.0x

8.8x

10.75x

10.8x

11.0x

10.4x

6.0x

6.7x

7.0x

7.3x

7.0x

7.6x

• Pursuant to Brait’s new strategy focused on maximising value through the realisation of its existing portfolio companies over the medium term, the
primary reference measure considered at 31 March 2020 reporting date is the peer group average spot multiple
• The unexpected and unprecedented impact that the Coronavirus is having on global markets and companies is well known. Globally valuation
multiples have fallen sharply.
• Taking consideration of the current period decline in peer spot multiples, Brait has reduced its valuation multiples applied at reporting date, which
accounts for 20% of the decrease in NAV per share for the current year
• The composition of the peer groups is unchanged for the current year, other than for the delisting of both Pioneer Foods Group Limited (previously
included in Premier’s peer group) and Merlin Entertainment Plc (previously included in Virgin Active’s peer group)
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Investment Advisor’s Report (continued)
HIGHLIGHTS FOR THE GROUP’S INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO

Virgin Active (42% of Brait’s total assets):
• A leading international health club operator Virgin Active’s results (in Pound Sterling, and quoted on a pre-IFRS 16 basis) for the financial
year ended 31 December 2019 are in line with the guided year-on-year outlook:
o Using actual exchange rates, group revenue +3% and group EBITDA +5%.
o Using constant exchange rates, group revenue +5% and group EBITDA +8%.
o Closing adult membership increased by 3%.
• During the 2019 financial year, Virgin Active opened 8 new clubs (6 in Asia Pacific and 2 in Italy), acquired a further club in Italy,
completed 2 major refurbishments (both in Italy) and had 4 closures (3 in South Africa; 1 disposal in the UK). At 31 December 2019,
the group comprised 243 clubs with 1.2 million members across 8 countries.
• Territory highlights for the 2019 financial year, quoted on a constant currency, year-on-year basis and excluding closed clubs are:
o Southern Africa: revenue +5%; EBITDA +6%; membership growth +2%. Driven by head office cost savings (R50 million), new
Vitality agreement (signed in January 2019, with reduced activation fee assisting in strong customer growth) and strengthened sales
and marketing.
o Italy: revenue +8%; EBITDA +22%; with membership growth +4%. Investment continues in the digital member proposition with
c.89% of membership base using the Virgin Active App. Revolution Live (streaming of Virgin Active content to subscribing members’
home-based Technogym bikes) was successfully launched during the last quarter, selling 1,000 subscriptions.
o UK: maintained revenue; EBITDA +7% driven by head office cost savings; with membership growth +1%; supported by competitive
pricing. The major prior year refurbishments at the Kensington and Mayfair clubs continued to deliver, growing EBITDA by 16% and
32% respectively.
o Asia Pacific: revenue +12%; EBITDA impacted by head office investment and start-up losses for the 6 new clubs opened during the
year (Australia 4, Thailand 1 and Singapore 1). The Asia Pacific estate is now substantially complete at 25 clubs. Membership volume
growth +22% during the year.
o Reported performance is impacted by start-up losses in the 25 new and maturing clubs, with net cumulative GBP5.8 million losses
and GBP69 million total embedded capex in the business as at 31 December 2019.
• Virgin Active’s leverage ratio at 31 December 2019 for net third party debt to EBITDA is 2.8x (2018: 2.6x). The increase in this ratio is
mostly due to the repayment of shareholder funding in June 2019 from incremental proceeds following the refinancing by Virgin Active
South Africa of its senior debt facilities, which extended the term to June 2024 whilst reducing the interest margin costs from 375bps to
355bps. Brait received its 79.2% share of proceeds of R609 million, increasing its realised proceeds received to date from Virgin Active
to R974 million. The term of Virgin Active’s European/Asia Pacific debt facility is June 2022, with an interest margin of 425bps.
• Group trading performance to February 2020 was in line with budget and up on the prior year, largely driven by a strong performance
from the South African business.
• Impact of Coronavirus:
o In accordance with respective government directives to stop the spread of Coronavirus, gyms in all territories were closed by
25 March 2020. During this closure period, Virgin Active implemented a “free membership freeze”, whereby memberships are
retained without members having to make payment during the freeze period, resulting in no revenue generation for most territories.
Once territories reopen, the membership freeze will be lifted, allowing the company to access monthly dues from members.
o Virgin Active has been a beneficiary of the government support programs available across its various territories. Since early February
2020, when the likely scale and impact of the Coronavirus became evident, the company has taken measures to preserve liquidity
across all territories including salary reductions and cash payment of bonus deferrals, removing all but essential capital expenditure
investments, and operating expense reductions where possible (including measures to defer and/or reduce rental expense), and other
initiatives focused on preserving cash. Broadly, including all mitigants and interventions by management, operating cost cash outflows
for Virgin Active will reduce by two thirds while clubs are closed.
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o Virgin Active’s focus has been on rolling out digital content to its members, and in some instances the general public, in order to
retain contact with its membership base and to remain relevant in their lives. Virgin Active continues to assess its options to generate
revenue from these offerings, whilst the brand impact, value to existing members, and potential reach to new customers is positive.
o On 15 June 2020, to enable the Virgin Active UK, Italy and Asia Pacific territories to navigate appropriately through the current
exceptional circumstances as a result of Coronavirus, shareholders contributed GBP20m of new funding (Brait’s pro rata share being
GBP16 million, by way of shareholder loans). In addition, Virgin Enterprises Limited agreed to defer and subordinate GBP5 million
of royalties incurred during 2020 to beyond the maturity of Virgin Active’s UK, Italy and Asia Pacific banking facilities. This aggregate
funding of GBP25m million has been matched by a further GBP25 million of new bank debt from the UK, Italy and Asia Pacific
banking syndicate, with the existing covenant package to be replaced by a liquidity-based covenant until December 2021 (returning
to EBITDA-based testing thereafter).
o The health and safety of staff and members remains Virgin Active’s key focus as it re-opens its clubs, in adherence with respective
government directives. Prior to the territory lockdowns, the company had put in place extensive cleaning and sanitisation procedures
to ensure that the clubs were a safe place for its members and staff. Once permitted to re-open, the focus is on ensuring that clubs
continue to institute these and additional measures such as enforced social distancing through the reduction of class sizes and
limiting gym attendance numbers.
o The Italian government permitted the re-opening of gyms with 5 clubs re-opening on the 20th of May and a further 20 clubs opening
on 25th of May. The Milan region opened on 1st June. Thailand reopened on 2nd June. In line with government guidance clubs in
Australia started reopening from 13 June, with Singapore reopened on 25th June. Botswana reopened on 22nd May and Namibia on
2nd June. The reopening date announced by the UK government is 25th July. A reopening date is not yet confirmed for South Africa.
The company is leading the industry’s engagement with the government and discussions continue. Early usage from the Virgin Active
clubs that have re-opened is encouraging with all of the popular exercise classes fully booked and subject to waiting lists.
• Virgin Active shareholders are engaging with Virgin Active regarding Virgin Active management’s future long term incentive scheme.
• Valuation as at 31 March 2020 (performed on a pre-IFRS 16 basis):
o Maintainable EBITDA based on a look-through to a medium-term post Coronavirus sustainable level of GBP108m, which represents a
24% reduction to the GBP142 million actual EBITDA achieved for its financial year ended 31 December 2019.
o The average peer spot EV/EBITDA multiple decreased from 12.7x (31 March 2019) to 10.8x, resulting in a decrease in the valuation
multiple applied from 11.0x to 9.0x.
o Net debt of GBP344.3 million per Virgin Active’s March 2020 management accounts has been increased by GBP95.2 million
(28% increase) to GBP440 million. The adjustment applied takes consideration of the estimated effect of working capital and costs
deferred during the lockdown period.
o Brait participates 79.2% (FY2019: 79.2%) in the carrying value of Virgin Active to the extent of shareholder funding and thereafter at
71.9% (FY2019: 71.9%) for any surplus equity value.
o Brait’s resulting unrealised carrying value for its investment in Virgin Active at reporting date is R9.4 billion (FY2019: R17.4 billion),
representing 42% of Brait’s total assets (FY2019: 53%).
o Normalising the valuation metrics applied to exclude the impact to EBITDA and net debt of new and developing clubs results in an
implied valuation multiple of 8.3x for the mature estate based on the R9.4 billion carrying value at reporting date.
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Investment Advisor’s Report (continued)

Premier (27% of Brait’s total assets)
• A leading South African FMCG manufacturer, offering branded and private label solutions, Premier produced a strong performance
during H2 of its financial year ended 31 March 2020, benefitting from: (i) a turnaround in its Mozambican business (10% of revenue);
(ii) volume recovery at its Cape Town bakery after the 2019 strike; and (iii) strong cost management and effective margin management,
with production costs kept flat and indirect costs limited to a 5% increase.
• For its financial year ended 31 March 2020, compared to FY19 (quoted on a pre-IFRS 16 basis):
o Revenue +8% (H1: +7%)
o EBITDA +4% (H1: -4%)
o EBITDA margin 9.6% (H1: 9.1%)
• Premier’s national formal retail market shares, measured by AC Nielsen as at 31 March 2020, increased across its major categories:
o Bread: 22.8% (FY2019: 22.2%)
o Maize: 16.2% (FY2019: 13.6%)
o Wheat: 26.1% (FY2019: 19.9%)
• Divisional highlights for the financial year ended 31 March 2020:
o Premier’s MillBake division (80% of group revenue) delivered a much-improved performance during H2, resulting in revenue growth for
the year of +8% (H1: +6%) and EBITDA +4% (H1: -10%), with EBITDA margin, pre head office costs, of 12.8% (H1: 11.9%):
– Bread: The baking division improved performance during FY2020 as volumes recovered in the Cape Town bakery after the 2019
strike. The division sold 549 million loaves and generated R5.2 billion of revenue, +3% on the prior year.
– Wheat: Revenue improved by 18% in FY2020, with sales volumes up 8% and average selling prices up 9%. Premier utilises
between 50 – 60% of its wheat flout production internally.
– Maize: Revenue increased by 13% with sales volumes marginally down, offset by a 15% increase in the average selling price.
o Premier’s Groceries and International division (20% of group revenue) grew revenue +11%, with EBITDA increasing by 49%, delivering
EBITDA margin, pre head office costs, of 10.5%:
– CIM: Premier’s Mozambican business (10% of group revenue) delivered a strong turnaround in operating performance during
FY2020. Revenue in Rands increased +13%, with EBITDA growing to R73 million from R4 million in the prior year. Turnaround
efforts focused on selling product into the Maputo region as well as margin management, resulting in strong growth, supported by
significant improvements in the operating environment.
– Home and Personal Care: Sales exceeded expectations due to the pandemic driven consumer buying spree, with Premier’s
Lil-lets and Dove products holding strong market shares in their South African and UK markets.
– Other Groceries: Conditions for Premier’s sugar based confectionary business remaining challenging with discretionary spend
under pressure resulting in volumes decline. A hard-boiled candy line has been commissioned to launch lollipops and boiled
sweets in FY2021. Premier’s Mageu range launched under its maize brands (Iwisa and Supersun) in South Africa and Eswatini,
delivered EBITDA growth of +57%.
• Impact of Coronavirus:
o As an FMCG manufacturer providing staple foods, Premier’s products were classified as ‘essential goods’ during the Coronavirus
lockdown period in South Africa (26 March 2020 onwards) and the other countries in which it operates, which enabled Premier to
continue with full production and operations.
o In March and April, Premier benefitted from increased sales across its major categories and the business is a net beneficiary of lower
interest rate and fuel costs.
o The challenging lockdown operating conditions resulted in additional costs to incentivise staff to work during this time, meet health
and safety requirements and ensure the supply chain coped with increased demand and operating restrictions.
o Most of Premier’s customers are wholesalers and retailers, who continued to operate during the lockdown and to pay Premier in the
ordinary course to ensure continued supply.
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o Management continue to monitor the impact of the coronavirus and are at the forefront of developing protocols to prevent and
mitigate its impact to the business.
o Premier has enhanced its CSI programmes to specifically assist those affected by the pandemic by donating products as well as
making a financial contribution to the Solidarity Fund in South Africa.
• Premier refinanced its South African banking facilities in December 2019, comprising a new 3-year R1.2 billion RCF and a 5-year
amortising loan of R800 million with annual capital service requirement of R160 million, reduced from R300 million. In addition, the group
has R600 million in overdraft facilities, as well as regional banking facilities in Eswatini and Mozambique.
• Capital expenditure for the group of R421 million (R210 million maintenance, R164 million expansion and R48 million on software and
intangibles) was in line with guidance at 4% of revenue (FY2019: R432 million; 4% of revenue).
• Premier repaid Brait R231 million of shareholder loans during the current year (FY2019: R232 million), increasing Brait’s share of realised
proceeds received to date to R1.5 billion. Premier’s leverage ratio for net debt owing to third parties is 2.2x (FY2019: 2.2x).
• Brait is engaging with Premier on Premier management’s future long term incentive scheme.
• Valuation as at 31 March 2020 (performed on a pre-IFRS 16 basis):
o Maintainable EBITDA of R1.010 billion is based on Premier’s actual EBITDA achieved for its financial year ended 31 March 2020.
o The average peer spot EV/EBITDA multiple decreased from 10.4x (31 March 2019) to 8.8x, resulting in a decrease in the valuation
multiple applied from 11.0x to 8.0x.
o Net debt of R2.0 billion is based on Premier’s FY20 reported net debt of R2.250 billion, with adjustment for capex spent on new
projects not as yet generating EBITDA.
o Following the acquisition of shares from certain members of Premier’s management, Brait’s shareholding increased to 98.5%
(FY2019: 96.1%).
o Premier’s resulting unrealised carrying value at reporting date is R6.1 billion (FY2019: R8.8 billion), which represents 27% of Brait’s
total assets (FY2019: 27%).

Iceland Foods (6% of Brait’s total assets):
• Iceland Foods, a UK based national food retailer best known for its frozen food offering, is releasing its FY2020 results to bond investors
on 24 June 2020.
• As set out above, Brait announced on 8 June 2020 the sale of its entire 63.1% shareholding in Iceland Foods to a newly established
company (“Newco”), returning the business to ownership by its founder and management team. Management have expressed an
interest in owning 100% of the business for some time, and diligent cash management, combined with a reduced capex programme,
has provided sufficient liquidity to enable them to do so. The sale transaction, treated as a non-adjusting post balance sheet event in
Brait’s FY2020 results, values Brait’s stake in Iceland Foods at GBP115 million, which equates to a 6.6x EV/EBITDA multiple based on
Iceland’s FY2020 EBITDA, and a significant premium to Iceland’s March 2020 carrying value of GBP63 million.
• The sale consideration is payable in three instalments, with Brait having received the first tranche of proceeds of GBP60 million
(R1,275 million) on 8 June 2020, which was applied to partially repaying the BML RCF. The Deferred Payments of GBP26.9 million and
GBP28.1 million are to be received by 30 July 2021 and 29 July 2022. Should they be settled in full, or in part, at any time on or before
these payment dates, a rebate for early repayment shall be applied.
• Brait’s valuation as at 31 March 2020:
Maintainable EBITDA of GBP134 million represents Iceland’s reported EBITDA for its financial year ended 27 March 2020.
o The average peer spot EV/EBITDA multiple decreased from 7.6x (31 March 2019) to 6.7x, resulting in a decrease in the valuation
multiple applied from 7.0x to 6.0x.
o Net debt of GBP705 million represents Iceland’s reported net debt at year end of GBP688 million, together with accrued interest of
GBP17 million.
o Brait’s shareholding in Iceland is 63.1% (FY2019: 63.1%).
o Iceland’s carrying value at reporting date is GBP63 million, translated using the closing GBP/ZAR rate of R22.17 to R1.4 billion
(FY2019: R3.2 billion); representing 6% of Brait’s total assets (FY2019: 10%).
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New Look (5% of Brait’s total assets):
• New Look, a UK based multi-channel fast fashion brand, offering on-trend, value fashion with a broad appeal for women and teenage
girls, will release its FY2020 results in due course to bond investors.

Other inves

3

• Valuation as at 31 March 2020:
R
o Brait’s 18.5% equity holding in New Look continues to be valued at nil.
Audited
A
o Brait’s GBP75.3 million holding of Senior Secured Notes (representing Brait’s previous GBP73.2 million holding, increased for the 31 Mar 2017
31 M
Other investments portfolio carrying value
2,0
GBP2.1 million of PIK interest capitalised by New Look on 15 January 2020), together with accrued interest, are valued using the
% total
R’m assets
R’m
quoted closing price at 31 March 2020.
Investments housed within Brait’s Other Investments portfolio:
o This results in a carrying value of GBP42.4 million, translated using the closing GBP/ZAR rate of R22.17 to R940 million
Other investments portfolio
carrying
2,064shareholding
4%
2,40a
• Majority
of thevalue
carrying value of this portfolio relates to Brait’s 81.3%
in DGB,
(FY2019: R1.146 billion); representing 5% of Brait’s total assets (FY2019: 3%).

exporter of local wine and importer of international spirit brands, and Brait’s position in certai
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of glass
packaging
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spirit manufacturer
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in certain
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Movements
during
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• The remainder of the portfolio
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Brait’s
remaining private equity investments, which mostly relates to Brait’s ef
c.10% interest in Brait IV; carrying value largely attributable to:

The net increase in carrying value over the financial year is a function of an investment in certai
Other Investments (3% of Brait’s total assets):
o Consol – the largest manufacturer of glass packaging products on the African continent
• Proceeds
received
Brait entire
IV’s realisation
of its investment in Primedia, which concluded
As set out above, Brait announced on 13 May 2020 the fulfilment of all the conditions relating
to the sale
of from
Brait’s
91.3%
Movements during FY2018
• ASeptember
decrease in the2019
carryingcarrying
value of Brait’s
investment
shareholding in DGB for a total consideration of R470 million, which was largely
in line with its
value
and in DGB, arising from a discontinued op
The net increase
in carrying
value over
the financial
is a function
of an
equal to the March 2020 carrying value. Brait applied the first tranche of proceeds
of R370
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onyear
1 June
2020
to investment
partiallyin certain public market securities,
Proceeds received from the Other Investments portfolio (since 1 April 2011)
• deferred
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from Brait
realisation
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in Primedia,
concluded
repaying the BML RCF. The remaining R100 million is to be received in two
payments
ofIV’s
R50
million
each
by 31
Marchwhich
2021
and in December 2017; and
• In excess of R2.5 billion has been received to 31 March 2018
• A decrease in the carrying value of Brait’s investment in DGB, arising from a discontinued operation
31 March 2022 respectively.

• The remainder of the carrying value relates to Brait’s remaining private Proceeds
equity fund
investments,
relating
to(since
Brait1 April
IV’s 2011)
investment in
received
from the Other mostly
Investments
portfolio
Consol Glass, the largest manufacturer of glass packaging in Africa.
•

22

Brait | Integrated Annual Report 2020

In excess of R2.5 billion has been received to 31 March 2018

BRAIT LIQUIDITY & DEBT ANALYSIS
GROUP LIQUIDITY POSITION

Available liquidity, debt and covenants
LIQUIDITY

DEBT & COVENANTS

Sufficient liquidity following recapitalisation:
Cash and cash equivalents (R million)
Opening cash balance

Total Group debt (R million)

Mar-20

Mar-19

834

2,907

Proceeds received from portfolio

1,570

830

Expenses (operating costs, other costs and taxes)

(422)

(294)

Purchase of investments

(664)

Net cash inflows / (outflow) from financing activities

2,102

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
Closing cash balance
Closing cash balance (Adjusted for 2020 CB settlement)
Borrowings (R million)
BML RCF Facility

(1,891)
(1)

(981)

467

263

3,887

834

141
Mar-20

(2)

Mar-19

6,310

8,500

(4,602)

(6,551)

Remaining facility

1,708

1,898

Available liquidity

5,595

2,823

Available liquidity (Adjusted for 2020 CB settlement)

1,849

-

Less: drawn

2020 Convertible Bond

12,750

2024 Convertible Bond

10,830
6,402

Drawn BML RCF

4,602

7,527

2,925

4,602

3,303

2,925

2,925

Mar 20 (Actual)

Mar 20 (Adjusted)

Mar 20 (incl.
DGB, Iceland
& VA loan)

6,473 (3)
3,548

6,348

Sep 19 (pre
restructure)

The R5.6bn net current liability position as at
September 2019 has improved to a neutral position as
at March 2020
– Brait is in compliance with all debt covenants as at the
reporting date
– Covenants remain NAV based and have been set with
sufficient headroom for short term volatility
– Per the terms of the 2020 and 2024 Convertible Bonds, Brait’s
‘Tangible NAV/Net Debt’ ratio is required to be not less than
200% (4)

(1) This includes R443m in accounts payable for the £20m buy back of the 2020 Convertible Bond on 31 March 2020 (settled on 2 April 2020), as well as £149 million (R3,303 million) of cash which is earmarked for the
remaining outstanding portion of the 2020 Convertible Bond; (2) Excludes R3,746m for settlement of the 2020 Convertible Bond; (3) Reflects the drawn balance on the BML RCF as at 19 June 2020. Includes initial tranches of
DGB (R370m) and Iceland (£60m at ZAR:GBP 21.25) proceeds, reduced by the Virgin Active shareholder loan injection (£16m at ZAR:GBP 21.62); (4) The definition for ʻNet Debtʼ excludes the Bonds, with the covenant
referenced to Braitʼs net asset value

• Brait received R1.6 billion from its portfolio (FY2019: R798 million), comprising:
o Investment proceeds of R1,137 million: R839 million shareholder funding repayments (R609 million from Virgin Active; R231 million
from Premier) and R293 million bridging facility repayment from New Look; and
o Other investment income of R425 million, largely from New Look (coupon, restructuring fees and net receipts following the cessation
of the Debtor Purchase Agreement post New Look May 2019 balance sheet restructuring).
• R5.6 billion available cash and facilities (FY2019: R2.8 billion)
As referred to above, Brait refinanced its previous credit facility with a new 3-year tenor, R6.3 billion facility (BML RCF) bearing interest at
a rate of JIBAR plus 4.6%, repayable quarterly with the right to rollup. Agreed reductions apply to both quantum and interest rate margin
as Brait de-gears. The key terms of the BML RCF are unchanged from those disclosed in Brait’s Rights Offer Circular of 27 January
2020, with the facility continuing to be secured on a senior basis by the assets of BML.
At 31 March 2020, the Group had available undrawn facilities on its BML RCF of R1.7 billion, being the facility of R6.3 billion less the
amount drawn of R4.6 billion. Considering the Group’s R3.9 billion cash, of which GBP149 million (R3,303 million) is earmarked for the
outstanding portion of the 2020 Bonds, this results in total liquidity at reporting date of R5.6 billion (R1,849 million excluding cash held for
the 2020 Bonds redemption).
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Investment Advisor’s Report (continued)
• Compliance with covenants
Brait is in compliance with all covenants at reporting date:
• BML RCF covenants remain NAV based and have been set with sufficient headroom for short term volatility.
• Per the terms of the 2020 Bonds and 2024 Bonds (“Total Bonds”), Brait’s ‘Tangible NAV/Net Debt’ ratio is required to be not less than
200%. The definition for ‘Net Debt’ excludes the Total Bonds, with the covenant referenced to Brait’s net asset value.
DIVIDEND POLICY
Brait’s ability to return capital to Shareholders pursuant to its new strategy will depend upon its receiving realisations on loans and
investments, dividends, other distributions or payments from its portfolio companies (which are under no obligation to pay dividends or
make any other distributions to Brait). In addition, Brait’s ability to pay any dividends will depend upon distribution allowances under the
terms of the BML RCF.
Ordinary dividends will be considered annually when the results for each year are published. The extent of any dividends will be determined
relative to net operating cash flows and to the payments received on the realisation of loans and investments from time to time and which
cash flows are not required for liquidity or earmarked for requirements at the portfolio company level, but always subject to distribution
allowances permitted under the terms of the BML RCF.
To the extent that surplus cash becomes available at a future date for distribution, the Board will consider the potential for the distribution
of such surplus cash by way of special dividend. Pursuant to the terms of the 2024 Bonds, before Brait is able to pay a special dividend to
Shareholders, it will have to first make an offer to the holders of the 2024 Bonds to tender for repurchase an aggregate principal amount of
the 2024 Bonds for an amount equal to such proposed special dividend at a price per Bonds equal to its principal amount together with
accrued interest.
ORDINARY SHARE CAPITAL
Total issued ordinary share capital at 31 March 2020, excluding treasury shares, is 1,319,992,804 shares of EUR0.22 each
(FY2019: 471,507,956). The increase of 848,484,848 shares relates to the R5.6 billion equity capital raise in February 2020, at the
Rights Offer price of R6.60.
At reporting date, the Group’s treasury shares comprise 54,091,259 shares, of which 36,616,189 are held by BML and 17,475,070 are held
by the Brait Investment Trust (“the Treasury Shares”). At the EGM, Shareholders approved the reduction of the share capital of the Company
through the cancellation of the Treasury Shares held for the vested benefit of the Group, subject to the provisions of article 83 of the Maltese
Companies Act. These provisions have been subsequently satisfied, resulting in the Treasury Shares having been cancelled during June
2020. The total issued ordinary share capital is accordingly 1,319,992,804 shares.
GROUP OUTLOOK
Brait’s portfolio companies delivered a robust performance pre-Coronavirus, continuing to optimise their business models and key
operational metrics in a continued challenging macroenvironment. All of the portfolio company management teams have proactively
implemented plans to address the unexpected and unprecedented impact of the Coronavirus, with a focus on health and safety of staff and
customers, reducing costs, preserving cash and maximizing liquidity to manage their businesses though this difficult period. The extent and
severity of Coronavirus is still uncertain and continues to evolve daily.
The Recapitalisation has de-geared Brait’s balance sheet and extended debt maturities, providing sufficient flexibility for the proposed
new Board, with the assistance of the advisor, EPE, to execute the Company’s new strategy focused on maximising value through the
realisation of portfolio companies over the medium term. The post balance sheet date realisation of DGB and Iceland Foods demonstrates
the Company’s ability to deliver on this strategy, generating R3 billion of disposals in addition to the R1.6 billion of capital returned from the
portfolio during the year. Focus continues on lowering Brait’s operating costs.
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CONCLUSION
Brait’s focus will be on optimising the portfolio over the next 12 months
Brait’s portfolio companies delivered a robust performance pre-Coronavirus, continuing to optimise their business models and key operational
metrics in a continued challenging macroenvironment
Portfolio company management teams have proactively implemented plans to address the unprecedented
impact of Coronavirus, with a focus on health and safety of staff and customers, reducing costs, preserving
cash and maximizing liquidity to manage though this difficult period.
The Recapitalisation has de-geared
Brait’s balance sheet and extended
debt maturities, providing sufficient
flexibility for the proposed new
Board, with the assistance of the
new advisor, EPE, to execute the
Company’s new strategy focused
on maximising value through the
realisation of portfolio companies
over the medium term
The post balance sheet date
realisation of DGB and Iceland
demonstrates Brait’s ability to
deliver on this strategy,
generating R3.0 billion of disposal
proceeds
Focus continues to focus on
lowering Brait’s operating costs

– Strong performance up to February 2020, significantly impacted by Coronavirus
– Managing the transition to re-opening the clubs is the key focus of management
– Virgin Active remains one of the leading global gym operators with an experienced
management team and is likely to be well placed to capitalize on the change in competitive
dynamics post Coronavirus
– Strong 2H20 performance driven by core products through continued focus on margin
management and cost savings
– Capex investment directed at low-risk, strategic projects targeting growth in core
operations and driving EBITDA growth through operating efficiencies and optimisation of
the bakery footprint
– Premier remains alert to potential value enhancing acquisitions to enter new categories
– Materially deleveraged balance sheet resulted in an improving operating performance
– However, Coronavirus has had a significant impact on the business; liquidity preservation
is management’s major focus
– Considerable progress has been made in delivering on its turnaround measures and the
UK retail landscape is likely to present a new, more balanced operating model for those
retailers who survive
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Investment portfolio
9.1 Virgin Active
Transaction overview

Initial acquisition (equity and shareholder funding)
Further investment (1,2)

%

Date

Multiple

£’m

£/R rate

R’m

78.2

16-Jul-15
Sep-16
to current

10.2x

691.0

18.40

12 715

11.4x

7.6

17.04

130

Total cost of investment at reporting date

79.2

10.2x

698.6

18.39

12 845

Carrying value at reporting date

79.2

9.0x

422.0

22.17

9 355

Proceeds received to reporting date

52.2

18.66

974

Carrying value + proceeds received

474.2

21.78

10 329

(1)
(2)

1.0

Increase in shareholding due to exercise of put and call option agreements over the period.
Post reporting date (15-Jun-20), Brait invested a further £16 million into Virgin Active UK, representing its pro-rata share of new equity funding liquidity support

VIRGIN ACTIVE
Overview
– Virgin Active is one of the leading international health club operators
– The company’s ambition is to become the world’s most loved exercise brand, with inspiring people designing and
delivering outstanding exercise experiences
– Virgin Active strives to provide customers with a combination of a leading physical experience and a world class
digital offering

79.2%

UNITED KINGDOM

243 clubs

Premium London focused operator

8 countries

17% of clubs
16% of closing adult members
28% of revenue (3)

4 continents
1.1 million
adult
members
worldwide

Brait effective
economic interest

ITALY

Market leading operator

16% of clubs
14% of closing adult members
21% of revenue (3)
ASIA PACIFIC

Premium operator in chosen cities

10% of clubs
6% of closing adult members
13% of revenue (3)
(1,2)

SOUTHERN AFRICA
Market leading operator

57% of clubs
64% of closing adult members
38% of revenue (3)

(1) As at 31st December 2019; (2) Including juniors results in a total of 1.2 million members worldwide, (3) % of revenue is based on 2019 full year revenue excluding closed clubs at 2019 average actual rates (ZAR 18.44, EUR
1.14, AUD 1.84, SGD 1.74, THB 39.65
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VIRGIN ACTIVE
Year ended 31 December 2019 headlines at a glance (1)
Revenue:

Closing adult membership:

£602m

1.1m

+3% / +37k YoY (3)

Membership sales:

+3% YoY
Enhanced
digital offering

to complement the physical
experience

(2)

£142m

(2)

+3% YoY actual currency (3)

+5% YoY actual currency (3)

8 new openings
1 new acquisition

Shareholder repayment:

+5% YoY constant currency (4)

(3)

EBITDA:

+8% YoY constant currency (4)

£42m

2 major refurbishments
4 closures (5)

Leverage of 2.8x

Focus on

31% penetration (+2ppt YoY)

&

7% penetration (flat YoY)

club utilisation
EBITDA growth

(2.6x Dec 18)

Group Exercise (6):

Personal Training (7):

PT Sessions Delivered (8):

742k (+3%/+22k YoY)

(1) All numbers in this presentation are presented pre-IFRS 16 unless otherwise stated; (2) Revenue and EBITDA are presented as reported in actual average exchange rates, including closed clubs; (3) Year on year growth as
at 31 December 2019 excluding closed clubs; (4) Year-on-year growth as at 31 December 2019 excluding closed clubs. Including closed clubs, revenue grew by 4% and EBITDA grew by 7% at constant currency rates; (5) 2019
closed clubs include 3 in Southern Africa (Pinetown, Somerset West, Southgate) and 1 in UK (West London). 2018 closed clubs include 1 in Southern Africa (Brightwater Commons) and 1 in Italy (Bologna DT); (6) Group
Exercise Penetration represents the percentage of gym usage that included a Group Exercise session. Metric is based on LFL clubs; (7) PT Penetration represents the percentage of active gym members that have undertaken
a personal training session; (8) PT sessions based on UK and Asia Pacific
16
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Investment portfolio (continued)

VIRGIN ACTIVE
Immediate management actions in response to Coronavirus
RENT DEFERRAL

VAT DEFERRAL & PAYROLL TAX

– UK: rent deferred during closure period and ongoing rental
reduction discussions ongoing with landlords

– Group payroll taxes have been deferred in line with local
government schemes

– Italy: rent deferred during closure period and ongoing rental
reduction discussions ongoing with landlords

– VAT deferrals have been agreed with all government
authorities

– Australia: no rent payable in closure period with 50%
waived and 50% deferred
– Thailand: legally no rent is payable in closure period
– Singapore: 4 months rent relief in closure period
– South Africa: significantly reduced rental being negotiated
during the closure period

GOVERNMENT SUPPORT
– South Africa: TERS relief for lower earning employees
– UK: Over 2,800 employees (98% of total) have been placed
on furlough supported by the government Job Retention
Scheme. In addition, business rates holiday between April20 and March-21
– Italy: Government redundancy fund supports wages up to
EUR 1,200 per month for non workers (this covers c. 90% of
staff)

28

SALARIES & BONUSES
– From May onwards, staff in all territories have taken pay cuts
of 20% to 40% (dependent on available government support
and seniority)
– Cancellation of bonus payments and pay awards.
– Strict focus on cost control. All territories are reviewing
operating costs (including headcount) in order to determine
the appropriate cost and headcount structures post reopening
– Freelance group exercise cost savings during closure period

CAPEX

– Australia: Job keepers allowance of A$1,500 per fortnight
paid to company for all employees

– 2020 and 2021 capex reduced. 2 new sites due to start in
Italy in 2021 (uncommitted Italian sites cancelled)

– Singapore: Support for Singaporean workers only

– Deferral of IT development capex at Group level
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A broad range of
mitigating actions have
been taken to preserve
liquidity and reduce cash
outflow by 2/3rds
during the closure
period
OTHER ACTIONS
– Total funding package between bank
and shareholders equivalent to £50m
(£25m from shareholders and Virgin
Enterprises Limited (as licensor) and
£25m from the banking syndicate)
– Reduction in utility cost to standing
charges and essential utilities only
during closure.
– Removal of all possible club costs
through the closure period including
costs relating to towels, cleaning, music
licences, TV subscriptions, licences,
exercise programmes, free-lancers,
club consumables.
– Supplier payment terms have been
discussed and agreed extensions of up
to 120 days

VIRGIN ACTIVE
Liquidity initiatives and impact on balance sheet
Following a strong FY2019 performance and a
good start to FY2020, Virgin Active has been
significantly impacted by Coronavirus. Despite
initiatives to manage costs and cash, the business
required additional liquidity support and a reset of
debt covenants

PRE-CORONAVIRUS
South Africa

UK, Europe & Asia Pacific

2.4x

3.0x

£57.4m (R1,153m)

£25.5m

Net debt / EBITDA (1)
Available liquidity

(2)

LIQUIDITY & COVENANT SUPPORT
UK, Europe and Asia Pacific
The Virgin Active shareholders are highly supportive and have agreed to contribute £25 million of liquidity support:
– Shareholders contributed £20m of new equity funding on 15 June 2020
– Virgin Enterprises Limited has agreed to defer and subordinate £5m of royalties from 2020 to beyond the maturity of the banking facilities
This has been matched by £25 million of new bank debt from the banking syndicate, in addition to existing debt covenants being replaced by a
liquidity-based covenant until December 2021 (EBITDA-based testing returns from June 2021 onwards)

South Africa
Virgin Active South Africa was in a strong cash position pre-Coronavirus and has taken steps to reduce cost in order to preserve cash to ensure
adequate liquidity in the event of an extended lockdown period
The company is in the process of finalizing the waiver of the June covenants with the Lenders

Based on managementʼs forecasts, this will provide sufficient liquidity and covenant headroom for the anticipated closure period
(1) As at 29 February 2020. Net debt converted at actual closing FX rates, Last 12 months EBITDA converted at FY2020 constant currency rates; (2) Liquidity includes cash on balance sheet and available but undrawn bank
loan facilities as at 29 February 2020
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Investment portfolio (continued)

VIRGIN ACTIVE
Impact of Coronavirus on the gym industry
What will the gym industry look like post-Coronavirus?...

– Historical health and wellness trend likely to see increased impetus
– Customer offering and loyalty will be key
– Enhanced understanding (through AI and customer engagement)
of customer needs and expectations

INCREASED FOCUS ON HEALTH AND WELLNESS
REDEFINED COMPETITIVE LANDSCAPE
– Shake out of smaller, undercapitalised operators
– Larger, “more product under one roof” offerings will benefit at
expense of low cost, boutique, single club offerings
– Impact on customer churn and product pricing
– Consolidation opportunities

– Will be imposed directly (through regulation) and indirectly
(customer expectations)
– Change industry profitability dynamics in favour of larger box
offerings
– De-commoditisation of gym offerings; quality, safety / hygiene,
product offering, etc.

IMPACT OF SOCIAL DISTANCING
FOCUS ON ONLINE OFFERINGS
– Accelerated digital disruption with low barriers to entry
– Proliferation of live / on-demand content; difficult to monetise
– Ability to offer complementary physical and digital offerings will be a
key differentiator
– Physical offering to focus on enhanced “customer experience”

What are the attributes of Virgin Active that mean it will emerge strongly post-Coronavirus?
(i) management team’s proven track record
(ii) diversified product / geographic offering
(iii) adaptable business model built on market insight and financial discipline
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VIRGIN ACTIVE
Impact of Coronavirus on the gym industry
WHAT WILL THE ATTRIBUTES OF THE STRONGEST OPERATORS BE?
1. CUSTOMER PROPOSITION
– Larger format offerings (>30,000 sq. ft) that can facilitate the
requisite social distancing
– Ability to optimise volume and yield
– Brands that are able to capitalise on loyal customer bases
2. PRODUCT OFFERING
– More product under one roof; offerings driven by customer
engagement & needs
– Digital offerings that complement in-club offerings
– Businesses with well established, proven product offerings
- landlords are likely to be willing to back market leaders
3. OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL STRUCTURE
– Businesses with operational flexibility and adequate
margins to absorb market shocks
– Operators with stronger balance sheets and the ability to
“spring back” post Coronavirus
– Proactive management to variabilize the fixed cost base
– Strong health and safety track records
4. MANAGEMENT & STAFF
– Engaged and high-quality professionals
– Highly aligned team and incentivised management

HOW IS VIRGIN ACTIVE POSITIONED?
Of the 105 Virgin Active clubs in Europe and Asia Pacific, almost all
are over 33,000 ft2 (with the exception of three clubs in each of
Singapore and Australia, one in Thailand, and one in the UK). Of the
138 Southern African clubs, the average size is 35,000 ft2
All clubs are positioned in prime demographic locations
Ability to flex membership options to manage volume and yield
Virgin Active offers the widest breath and highest quality of exercise
experiences
Digital offering in all markets, including on-line and live exercise
group content
Market leading operator in South Africa and Italy, with a premium
offering in UK and Asia Pacific
Historically low gearing up to the point of the Coronavirus
Company has been cash generative, with YTD cash generation of
£13m to March 2020
Ability to flex cost base, reducing costs by 2/3rd during closure period
Well capitalised Group structure, with a diversified geographical
spread
Management team are industry experts, with founding management
still in situ after over 20 years
The CEO and four regional Managing Directors have >90 years of
combined service to Virgin Active
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Investment portfolio (continued)

VIRGIN ACTIVE
Reopening gyms post-Coronavirus
ITALY

CLUB RE-OPENINGS

– 5 clubs opened on 20th May, 20 clubs opened on 25th May, remaining
13 clubs opened on 1st June. 10% - 15% of members expected to be
on membership freeze by the end of June
– Usage currently is at 53% of PY (61% in the first clubs reopened, 54%
in second group of clubs reopened and 50% in remaining clubs) and
the trend is improving. Group exercise class occupancy is 70%
ASIA PACIFIC
June. Usage currently 59% on PY. 13%
– Thailand: Clubs opened on
of members remain on membership freeze
2nd

– Australia: 8 clubs in Sydney opened on 13th June and 2 clubs in
Melbourne on 22nd June. 1 Sydney club remains closed until social
distancing restrictions are eased. LFL Usage currently 84% on PY
(96% suburban clubs and 44% urban clubs). 19% of members remain
on membership freeze
– Singapore: Clubs reopened on 25th June
UK
– Reopening date announced by government is 25th July
SOUTH AFRICA
– Re-opening date not yet confirmed; the company is leading the
industry’s engagement with the government and discussions continue

86% of UK gym members intend not to cancel
Barclays study (1)

Barclays conducted a survey of 2,075 UK consumers which indicated that only
14% planned to cancel their gym memberships; a reassuring result for the future
of the gym industry after the pandemic.
The survey found that young members were more likely to cancel, which is
surprising from a ‘safety’ perspective, but not a technology one, and poses a risk
to low-cost gyms given the high mix of young members.
There are grounds for optimism elsewhere with gym attendance rebuilding in
China at 80% (2) and c.75-80% in Sweden (3)

Gym workouts top list of activities the UK public is
most looking forward to post-lockdown
UK Active study (4)

A UK Active study polling over 2,000 people showed that the British public misses
gym work-outs more than any other activity. 87% of gym members said that they
are likely to resume their membership when facilities reopen and 27% of people
who are not currently members of gyms said they are likely to join

(1) Barclays study released in June 2020; research undertaken by YouGov; (2) Source: Leisure Opportunities; (3) SATS Group gyms; (4) UK Active study released in May 2020; polling from Sport England & Savanta ComRes.
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VIRGIN ACTIVE
Outlook
CURRENT
GOVERNMENT
GUIDANCE ON
OPENING OF GYMS

– Focus of governments remains on ensuring customer and staff health and safety
– Italy reopened 5 clubs on 20th May, with 20 further clubs opened on the 25th May and the Milan region opened on
1st June. Thailand reopened on 2nd June. Australia clubs reopened from 13th - 22nd June, with Singapore
reopened on June 25th. UK government announced club reopening date as 25th July; South Africa still to be
determined, however Botswana opened 22nd May and Namibia 2nd June
– Continued engagement with governments by Virgin Active directly and through industry bodies

GETTING READY TO
OPEN GYMS

SHORT TERM
MANAGEMENT
FOCUS

– Coronavirus Safety Plans in place for each territory ensuring compliance with government guidance and
regulatory requirements
– Specific focus on wellbeing of staff and members, physical distancing, hygiene and cleaning
– Customer engagement to outline new club usage rules, minimise churn and encourage membership retention
and utilisation
– Maintaining focus on reducing the operating cash costs in the business
– Engagement with all stakeholders regarding the post opening operating cost structure
– Customer engagement and interaction through Virgin Active’s digital offering
– Completed the increase to the European debt facilities to provide additional liquidity

– Likely to be a gradual return of members to clubs based on (limited) precedents in other jurisdictions

OUTLOOK FOR 2020
AND BEYOND

– Health and wellness likely to remain (even more) relevant than pre-Coronavirus
– Large, more established and diversified operators likely to benefit from the industry disruption
– Will take time to return to pre-Coronavirus profitability
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Investment portfolio (continued)

Summarised financial results
Summarised income statement
(Results in £m; actual reported
currency)
Revenue – continuing operations
% growth

Total Revenue
Revenue: Discontinued operations

Dec-19
Unaudited
Pre-IFRS 16

Dec-18
Audited

602

602

587

580

512

490

3%

3%

1%

13%

4%

n/a

602
–

602
–

587
–

620
(40)

641
(129)

631
(141)

Dec-17
Audited (5)

Dec-16
Restated (4)

Dec-15
Audited (3)

EBITDA – continuing operations

254

142

137

143

120

108

% margin

42%

24%

23%

25%

24%

22%

254
–

142
–

137
–

148
(5)

142
(22)

134
(26)

(126)
(6)

(48)
(6)

(44)
(6)

(44)
(16)

(37)
(17)

(34)
(27)

Total EBITDA
EBITDA: Discontinued operations
Depreciation expense
Amortisation expense
EBIT

122

88

87

83

66

47

% margin

15%

15%

15%

14%

13%

10%

Net bank debt interest charge
Shareholder funding interest (1)
Exceptional items (2)

(131)
–
(11)

(44)
–
(10)

(38)
–
(27)

(46)
–
(17)

(43)
–
(22)

(47)
(28)
(44)

EBT

(19)

34

22

20

2

(72)

Tax

(13)

(13)

(6)

(7)

(7)

(15)

(33)

21

16

13

(5)

(87)

PAT, continuing operations
PAT, discontinued operations

(6)

PAT
(1)

(2)
(3)
(4)

(5)
(6)

34

Dec-19
Unaudited
Post-IFRS 16

–

–

–

54

59

–

(33)

21

16

67

54

(87)

Post Brait’s acquisition in July 2015, shareholder funding is now held in a Virgin Active parent company and not included in the operating company’s audited results. Brait’s valuation of
Virgin Active takes full consideration of this shareholder funding;
Exceptional costs for 2018 include a once-off payment to reduce the ongoing minimum licence fee in the UK, restructuring costs and impairments;
2015 results presented on a continuing operations basis, excludes 35 UK clubs sold to Nuffield and 1 UK club exited in July 2016 and 14 clubs sold to David Lloyd in May 2017;
2016 results presented on a continuing operations basis (excluding 12 Iberian clubs sold to Holmes Place in October 2017, 35 UK clubs sold to Nuffield and 1 UK club exited in July
2016 and 14 clubs sold to David Lloyd in May 2017);
2017 results are presented on a continuing operations basis (excluding 12 Iberian clubs sold to Holmes Place in October 2017 and 14 clubs sold to David Lloyd in May 2017);
Majority of PAT from discontinued operations represents the gain realised from the proceeds received on sale of the discontinued operations less cost of assets sold
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Summarised balance sheet (1)
(Results in £m; actual reported
currency)
Total assets
Property and equipment
Goodwill and intangibles
Current assets
Cash
Other
Total liabilities
Trade creditors
Current liabilities
Interest bearing bank debt
Finance leases
Other
Shareholders’ equity
(1)

(2)

Dec-19
Unaudited
Post-IFRS 16
2 012

Dec-19
Unaudited
Pre-IFRS 16
927

Dec-18
Audited
912

Dec-17
Audited
939

1 474
373
30
56
79

402
374
36
56
58

390
381
37
52
52

370
399
36
86
48

370
410
73
113
43

365
389
41
79
29

1 860

725

690

712

849

803

21
89
437
1 254
60

21
97
437
13
157

26
89
400
14
161

23
88
404
19
177

31
121
486
34
178

26
96
423
58
200

152

202

222

227

160

100

Dec-15
Audited
903

The audited figures are from the Virgin Active operating company’s financial results. The shareholder funding which sits in a Virgin Active parent company is therefore, not reflected.
Brait’s valuation of Virgin Active takes full consideration of this shareholder funding, including accrued interest to Brait’s reporting date;
Summarised balance sheet for December 2016 includes assets related to the discontinued operations (relating to the 14 clubs sold to David Lloyd Leisure in May 2017) classified as
assets held for sale within other assets and other liabilities.

Summarised cash flow statement (1)
(Results in £’m; actual reported currency)
Cash flow from operations
% EBITDA

Maintenance and head office capex
Operating cash flow
% EBITDA

Investments – new clubs, acquisitions and
premiumisation
Exceptional, one off items and proceeds on
disposal of assets
Operating cash flow post capex
% EBITDA

Interest
Tax paid
Operating cash flow post capex, tax and
interest paid
% EBITDA

Shareholder funding repayments
Operating cash flow post shareholder
funding repayments
% EBITDA
(1)

Dec-16
Audited (2)
1 009

Dec-19
Unaudited
Post-IFRS 16
245.9

Dec-19
Unaudited
Pre-IFRS 16
132.3

Dec-18
Audited
129.2

Dec-17
Audited
132.9

Dec-16
Audited
149.7

(46.1)

(46.1)

(53.5)

(42.9)

(46.7)

(47.3)

199.8

86.2

75.7

90.1

103.0

77.8

(30.5)

(30.5)

(31.4)

(23.1)

(35.4)

(70.4)

97%

79%

94%

61%

94%

55%

93%

63%

124%

85%

Dec-15
Audited
125.1
116%

72%

(5.9)

(5.9)

(22.4)

54.7

50.4

(9.9)

163.4

49.8

21.9

121.7

118.0

(2.5)

(116.3)
(8.0)

(34.3)
(8.0)

(34.0)
(8.7)

(41.8)
(10.9)

(48.6)
(13.1)

(37.6)
(10.0)

39.1

7.5

(20.8)

69.0

56.3

(50.1)

(42.0)

(42.0)

(25.0)

–

–

(2.9)

(34.5)

(45.8)

69.0

56.3

64%

15%

(1%)

35%

5%

(24%)

16%

(15%)

(33%)

85%

48%

48%

98%

47%

47%

(2%)

(46%)
–

(50.1)
(46%)

The audited figures are from the Virgin Active operating company’s financial results
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Investment portfolio (continued)

VALUATION OVERVIEW

13.6x

15.0x

13.8x

13.7x

11.4x

11.4x

11.0x

11.0x

Mar 18

Sep 18

Mar 19

Sep 19

14.4x

14.2x

13.2x

14.2x

12.7x

10.8x
9.0x
Mar 20

Brait valuation multiple
Peer average: Trailing 3 years
Peer average: Spot

KEY VALUATION ASSUMPTIONS
EV/EBITDA
Peer Average

3yr ave

Spot

Virgin Active

14.4x

10.8x

9.0x

Primary reference measure: peer group average spot multiple

Maintainable EBITDA (£m)
Maintainable EBITDA

31-Mar-20
108.0

Maintainable EBITDA based on look-through to a medium-term post
Coronavirus sustainable level of £108m; a 24% reduction of the £142m
actual EBITDA achieved by Virgin Active for FY2019 (December)

Sustainable Net Debt (£m)
Actual Net Debt
Normalisation adjustments
Sustainable Net Debt

31-Mar-20
(344.3)
(95.2)
(439.5)

Net debt of £344.3m per Virgin Active’s March 2020 management accounts
has been increased by £95.2m to £439.5m to account for the estimated
effect of working capital and cost deferred during the lockdown period
(1) Merlin Entertainment Plc delisted during the quarter ended March 2020
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PEER GROUP (1)

PEER EV/EBITDA

Brait’svaluation
valuationof
ofits
its investment
investment
Brait’s
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

The Gym Group plc
Basic Fit N.V.
Technogym S.p.A
Planet Fitness, Inc
Woolworths Holdings Ltd
Life Healthcare Group Holdings Ltd
Clicks Group Ltd

Audited
31-Mar-19

Unaudited
30-Sep-19

Audited
31-Mar-20

Maintainable EBITDA

137.6

140.2

108.0

EV/EBITDA multiple

11.0x

11.0x

9.0x

1,513.3

1,542.2

972.1
(439.5)

£'m

Enterprise value
Less: net third party debt

(352.5)

(410.1)

Equity value

1,160.9

1,132.1

532.6

(1,160.9)

(1,132.1)

(532.6)

-

-

-

79.2%

79.2%

79.2%

919.0

896.9

422.0

71.9%

71.9%

71.9%

Less: shareholder funding (capped at equity value)
Surplus equity value
Braitʼs shareholder funding participation %
Shareholder funding value
Braitʼs participation % for surplus equity value
Surplus equity value
Carrying value (£m) for Brait’s investment
Closing GBP/ZAR exchange rate
Carrying value (Rm) for Brait’s investment

-

-

-

919.0

896.9

422.0

R18.89

R18.61

R22.17

17,364

16,695

9,355

9.2 PREMIER
Transaction overview

%

Date

Initial acquisition

49.9

Further investment (1)

48.6

5-Jul-11
8-Feb-12
to current

Total cost of investment at reporting date

98.5

Carrying value at reporting date

98.5

Multiple

Equity
R’m

Shareholder
funding
R’m

6.4x

848.3

221.2

1 069.5

various

1 377.2

2 355.0

3 732.2

2 225.5

2 576.2

4 801.7

2 850.0

3 197.0

6 047.0

1 495.0

1 495.0

4 692.0

7 542.0

8.0x

Proceeds received to reporting date
Carrying value + proceeds received
(1)

Total
R’m

2 850.0

Increase in shareholding due to exercise of put and call option agreements over the period. Increase in shareholder funding to fund Premier’s acquisitions to date

PREMIER
Overview
– Premier is a leading South African FMCG manufacturer offering branded and private label solutions
– The business has strong heritage brands in bread, maize meal, wheat flour, feminine hygiene and sugar confectionary
– Premier serves all channels to the market and operates through a wide footprint across South Africa, Eswatini, Lesotho and
Mozambique with a Lil-lets sales office in the UK
– In South Africa, its fleet of around 850 bakery trucks make 33,000 bread deliveries a day. Premier produces c.550 million
loaves of bread per annum with significant exposure to the informal market which accounts for c.70% of sales volumes

Brait effective
shareholding

98.5%

Founded in 1820 as a traditional milling & baking business, Premier has invested in its facilities and made corporate acquisitions, expanding its portfolio to become a leading
FMCG player

MILLING & BAKING

7 wheat mills & 3 maize mills located in
South Africa, Eswatini and Mozambique

OTHER GROCERIES

Premier owns the Manhattan & Super C brands and
manufacturing facility
Premier’s Eswanti Mahewu produces nutritional
beverages for local and SA market

Our bakeries are the biggest customer for our wheat mills

Owns a number of strong regional brands
in Milling & Baking
550 million loaves of bread p.a. from 12
bakeries situated in 9 provinces as well as
Lesotho & Eswatini
15 distribution depots

HOME & PERSONAL CARE
Premier owns Lil-lets & Dove Cotton
Lil-lets is a leading brand in the broader feminine
hygiene category in South Africa & the UK
Dove Cotton (1) is South Africa’s number one cottonwool brand

MOZAMBIQUE
Premier’s subsidiary CIM is a market leader with
leading wheat, maize, pasta, biscuit and animal feeds
brands
(1) Licenced from Unilever Plc for cotton wool products in South Africa
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PREMIER
Year ended 31 March 2020 headlines at a glance
Revenue:

R10,547m

R1,011m

H1 R5,224 (+7% YoY)
H2 R5,322m (+10% YoY)

H1 R474m (-4% YoY)
H2 R537m (+13% YoY)

+8% YoY

Improvement in performance
in H2 relative to H1
Driven by:
Operating efficiencies and improved
top-line performance

Successful turnaround
of Mozambique business
&

recovery from strike
in Cape Town in prior year

38
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+4% YoY underlying

EBITDA margin %

9.6%

H1 EBITDA % = 9.1%
H2 EBITDA % = 10.1%

Focus on operating
efficiencies
FY2020 realised cost reductions of

R195m

Coronavirus:
Operated throughout as essential
service – strong demand for
product range tempered by
additional costs

Shareholder funding:

Refinanced long term
debt to extend tenor

Total cash returned to Brait since
2011 of R1,495m

leverage ratio of 2.2x

Repaid R231m in
FY2020

Net third party debt

PREMIER
Impact of Coronavirus

– As an FMCG manufacturer providing staple foods, Premier’s products were classified as “essential goods”
during the Coronavirus lockdown period in South Africa, as well as the other countries in which it operates,
enabling Premier to continue with full production and operations
– In March and April, Premier has benefited from increased sales across its major categories (bread, wheat
and maize milled products and feminine hygiene products) and the business was a net beneficiary of lower
interest rates and fuel costs

IMPACT OF
CORONAVIRUS

– The challenging lockdown operating conditions resulted in additional costs to incentivise staff to work during
this time, additional health and safety requirements and measures to ensure the supply chain could cope with
increased demand and operating restrictions
– The lockdown has resulted in delays to the commissioning of the sanitary pads line at Premier’s feminine care
manufacturing facility and to the start of construction of a new bakery in Pretoria
– Most of Premier’s customers are wholesalers and retailers, who have continued to operate during the
lockdown and to pay Premier in the ordinary course to ensure continued supply
– Management continues to monitor the possible consequences of the virus and is at the forefront of developing
operating protocols to prevent and mitigate the potential impact on the staff and the business
– Premier has increased its CSI programme to specifically assist those affected by the pandemic by donating
products, as well as making a financial contribution to the Solidarity Fund
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PREMIER
Outlook
– The weak macro economic conditions expected for FY21 will have an adverse impact on discretionary
spending and potentially Premier’s sales volumes across the categories

SOUTH AFRICAN
MACRO OUTLOOK

– Cost inflation pressure remains, which continues to impact the company’s margins particularly in the wheat
flour value chain where the weak Rand is causing significant cost inflation in wheat and bread
– The forecast for the second largest maize crop in SA history will result in cyclically lower maize prices which is
likely to benefit Premier through lower working capital requirements and margin improvement

– Given the low revenue growth environment, operational efficiency and cost savings remain a key focus for
the company

STRATEGIC FOCUS
FOR THE BUSINESS
AND UPDATE ON
CURRENT TRADING

– Costs have increased due to Coronavirus in order to ensure that the operating environment is safe for staff and
other stakeholders
– Investments in capex into low-risk, strategic projects to drive growth in its core operations, targeting returns
through operating efficiencies. Several projects have, however, been delayed as a result of Coronavirus
– The business continues to seek value enhancing acquisitions to assist in entering new categories to drive
operating leverage and synergies across the platform
– Management is focused on EBITDA growth and free cash flow generation to drive further deleveraging
– FY21 has begun strongly with robust growth despite the difficult operating environment. For the 2 months to May
2020, Revenue and EBITDA were up 11% and 18% respectively on the prior year driven by recovery in the
milling business versus a weak comparable in Q1 FY20
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Summarised financial results
March 2020
Audited

March
2019
Restated

March 2018
Restated

March
2017
Pro forma

June
2016
Audited

11 048

10 093

10 695

11 692

11 209

9.5%

(5.6%)

(8.5%)

4.3%

26.9%

(2)

Summarised income statement
(Amounts in R’m)
Net revenue (1)
% growth

EBITDA

(5)

1 084

1 005

1 096

1 138

1 167

% margin

9.8%

10.0%

10.2%

9.7%

10.4%

Depreciation and amortisation (4)
Impairment (6)

(407)
(631)

(327)
(237)

(308)
(157)

(168)
(140)

(251)
(122)

(3)(4)

Adjusted EBIT

46

441

631

830

794

% margin

0.4

4.4%

5.9%

7.1%

7.1%

Exceptional items (7)

(15)

(86)

(48)

(134)

(27)

EBIT

31

355

583

696

767

Net interest charge – bank debt
Interest charge – grain inventory financing (3)
Interest charge – shareholder funding

(258)
(37)
(400)

(255)
(33)
(375)

(257)
(31)
(398)

(228)
–
(359)

(201)
–
(320)

EBT

(664)

(308)

(103)

109

246

PAT

(626)

(304)

(154)

4

103

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)
(7)

The adoption of IFRS 15 in FY2019 changed the accounting treatment for by-product sales. Previously such sales were classified as a reduction to cost of goods sold; now recognised
as revenue. The effect is an increase to FY2020 revenue of R620 million (FY2019: increase of R476 million) – no impact to EBITDA. Further to this, in FY2020, distribution centre
allowances granted to customers were reclassified from operating expenses to net off against revenue in order to align with IFRS15. The effect of this change is a decrease in revenue
of R119m (FY2019: decrease of R119 million)
As a result of distribution centre allowances granted to customers being reclassified from operating expenses to net off against revenue, FY2019 net revenue was restated from
R10,212 million to R10,093 million (R119 million decrease)
The adoption of IFRS 15 in FY2019 changed the accounting treatment for Premier’s grain inventory, which remains legally owned by the 3rd party financier, is now recognised as part of
Premier’s inventory, with the corresponding financing facility raised as a short-term facility. The holding cost is now recognised as interest expense; whereas previously it was accounted
for as cost of goods sold. The effect of this change in accounting is an increase in EBITDA of R37 million (FY2019: R33 million) and a corresponding increase in the interest charge of
R37 million (FY2019: R33 million)
IFRS 16 (lease accounting) results in an add back to EBITDA of the rental paid of R36 million for FY2020 which is reclassified as depreciation and interest expense and R229 million
being recognised as a right of use asset and lease liability. Premier Group adopted IFRS 16 by applying the modified retrospective approach, whereby the comparative figures are
not restated
In 2017 Premier changed its year end from June to March to align with Brait, resulting in a 9-month audited financial period ended 31 March 2017. For comparability, pro forma results
for the LTM March 2017 are shown
Impairment charge for FY2020 primarily relates to the write-down in the investment in CIM for PPE and the write down of various trademarks and goodwill
Exceptional items for FY2020 consisted of a net loss of R15 million (FY2019: net loss of R86 million) and relate to strike & retrenchment costs, offset by strengthening of the Metical
against the Rand on loan amounts owed by CIM to the Group
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Investment portfolio (continued)

Summarised cash flow information
(Amounts in R’m)
Cash flow from operations before working capital
Working capital
Movement in working capital
Effect of late debtor repayments (year-end fell on a weekend)
Adoption of IFRS 15: grain inventory finance (1)
Cash flow from operations
% EBITDA

Capex (including acquisition of intangibles)
Operating cash flow post capex
% EBITDA

Taxation paid
Interest paid – bank debt
Interest paid – inventory financing (1)
Operating cash flow post capex, tax and interest
% EBITDA

Shareholder funding repayments (capital and interest)
Operating cash flow post shareholder funding
repayments
% EBITDA
(1)

(2)

(2)

(3)

42

March 2019
Audited
877
(273)
(22)
(149)
(102)
604

March 2018
Restated
1 055
342
281
–
61
1 397

(421)
489

(432)
172

(308)
1 089

(24)
(199)
(34)
(85)

83.9%

45.1%

(34)
(232)
(37)
185

60.0%

17.1%

March 2017
Pro forma
1 035
(85)
(39)
(46)
–
950

June 2016
Audited
1 140
241
241
–
–
1 381

99.4%

(625)
325

28.6%

(1 199)
182

(35)
(269)
(31)
754

(100)
(183)
–
42

(121)
(126)
–
32

(2)

127.5%

83.5%

118.3%

15.6%

17.1%

(8.5%)

68.8%

3.7%

2.7%

(231)

(232)

(367)

(281)

(126)

(45)

(317)

387

(239)

(191)

(4.2%)

(31.5)

35.3%

(21.0%)

(16.4%)

The adoption of IFRS15 in FY2019 resulted in Premier’s grain financing facility being recognised on balance sheet. Accordingly, the grain financed is now recognised as inventory, with
any movements during the reporting period now forming part of change in working capital;
In 2017 Premier changed its year end from June to March to align with Brait, resulting in a nine month audited financial period ended 31 March 2017. For comparability, the pro forma
results for the Last Twelve Months ended 31 March 2017 are shown

Summarised balance sheet
(Amounts in R’m)
Total Assets
Property and equipment
Right of use asset (1)
Intangibles
Current Assets (2)
Cash
Total Liabilities
Trade creditors
Grain financing facility (2)
Interest bearing debt
Lease liabilities (2)
Other
Shareholders Equity (includes shareholder funding)
(1)

March 2020
Audited
1 100
(190)
(236)
–
46
910

March 2020
Audited
7 846
3 280
229
1 711
2 539
88
4 964
1 376
404
2 326
240
619
2 882

March 2019
Audited
8 134
3 399
–
2 184
2 230
321
4 848
1 253
450
2 444
–
701
3 286

March 2018
Restated
7 871
3 346
–
2 274
2 075
175
4 523
1 216
347
2 173
–
787
3 348

(3)

March 2017
Pro forma
8 064
3 388
–
2 525
1 975
176
4 481
1 251
–
2 508
–
722
3 583

June 2016
Audited
7 935
3 181
–
2 447
2 132
175
4 128
1 709
–
1 829
–
590
3 807

IFRS16 (lease accounting) results in R229m being recognised as a right of use asset and lease liability. Premier Group adopted IFRS16 by applying the modified retrospective
approach, whereby the comparative figures are not restated;
The adoption of IFRS15 in FY2019 changed the accounting treatment for Premier’s grain inventory, recognising the grain, which remains legally owned by the 3rd party financier, of
R404m (FY2019: R450m) as part of inventory, with the corresponding financing facility;
In 2017 Premier changed its year end from June to March to align with Brait, resulting in a nine-month audited financial period ended 31 March 2017. For comparability, the pro forma
results for the Last Twelve Months ended 31 March 2017 are shown;

Brait | Integrated Annual Report 2020

VALUATION OVERVIEW

PEER EV/EBITDA

13.1x
12.6x
12.4x

12.6x

12.2x

10.6x

10.4x

10.8x

11.4x

11.0x

10.75x

Sep 18

Mar 19

Sep 19

11.7x

11.2x

8.8x
8.0x

Brait valuation multiple
Peer average: Trailing 3 years

Mar 18

Mar 20

Peer average: Spot

PEER GROUP (2)

Brait’s
Brait’svaluation
valuationof
ofits
itsinvestment
investment

–
–
–

Tiger Brands Limited
AVI Limited
Rhodes Food Group Holdings
Limited

KEY VALUATION ASSUMPTIONS
EV/EBITDA
Peer Average

3yr ave

Spot

Premier

11.2x

8.8x

8.0x

R'm

Primary reference measure: peer group average spot multiple

Maintainable EBITDA (Rm)
Maintainable EBITDA

31-Mar-20
1,010

No adjustments made to EBITDA; Maintainable EBITDA of R1,010m is as
reported for FY2020

Sustainable Net Debt (Rm)
Actual Net Debt
Normalisation adjustments (1)
Sustainable Net Debt

31-Mar-20
(2,249)
260
(1,989)

Net third party debt at 31 March 2020 normalised to exclude R236m capex
investment which had not yet generated EBITDA at that date, as well as
R24m of other adjustments.
(1)
(2)

Audited
31-Mar-19

Unaudited
30-Sep-19

Audited
31-Mar-20
1,010

Maintainable EBITDA

1,009

1,000

EV/EBITDA multiple

11.00x

10.75x

8.00x

Enterprise value

11,094

10,750

8,080

Less: net third party debt

(2,053)

(2,123)

(1,989)

9,041

8,627

6,091

(3,028)

(3,170)

(3,197)

6,013

5,457

2,894

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

3,028

3,170

3,197

96.1%

98.5%

98.5%

Equity value

5,775

5,375

2,850

Carrying value (Rm) for Brait’s investment

8,803

8,545

6,047

Shareholder value
Less: shareholder funding
Equity value / (impairment to shareholder funding)
Braitʼs shareholder funding participation %
Shareholder funding value
Braitʼs equity participation %

Capex includes investment in Pretoria bakery, Hard-boiled candy and La Femme pads line
Pioneer delisted during the quarter ended March 2020
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Investment portfolio (continued)
9.3 ICELAND FOODS
Transaction overview

Initial acquisition
Further investment
Effect of company buybacks

%

Date

Multiple

£’m

£/R rate

R’m

18.7
38.4

09-Mar-12
18-Nov-15
Apr-17,
Apr-18

6.5x
7.9x

81
175

11.99
21.57

971
3 775

4 746

6.0

Total cost of investment at reporting date

63.1

7.5x

256

18.54

Carrying value at reporting date

63.1

6.0x

63

22.17

1 391

Post balance sheet date sale consideration (1)
Other proceeds received

63.1

6.6x

115
2

21.25
16.00

2 444
32

08-Jun-20
19-Nov-15

Sale consideration and other proceeds received
value
(1)

117
21.16
2 476
PERFORMANCE
OVERVIEW

Comprises three instalments: £60 million (R1,275 million) received on 8-Jun-20; £26.9 million to be received by 30-Jul-21; and £28.1 million to be received by 29-Jul-22.

Sale of Iceland Foods: Overview
Brait has completed a transaction to sell its entire interest in Iceland Foods for a total
consideration of £115m in line with Brait’s strategy focus on maximising value through the realisation
of its existing assets in the portfolio over the next five years

OVERVIEW & RATIONALE

TRANSACTION STRUCTURE & VALUATION

Brait sold its 63.1% shareholding in Iceland
Foods to a newly established company, wholly
owned by Sir Malcolm Walker (founder and
executive chairman), Tarsem Dhaliwal (CEO)
and their related parties, returning the
business to being wholly owned by its
founder and the management team.

The sale consideration to be paid to Brait is £115 million in cash in three instalments:
• The first tranche of £60 million received on 8 June 2020
• £26.9 million by 30 July 2021
• £28.1 million by 29 July 2022

Brait acquired its initial stake in Iceland in 2012
and a subsequent stake in 2015. Management
have expressed an interest in owning 100% of
the business for some time and diligent cash
management, combined with a reduced capital
expenditure programme, has provided sufficient
liquidity to enable them to do so.
This is in line with Brait’s revised strategy to
realise value from its existing portfolio.

This implies an exit EV/EBITDA multiple of 6.6x and an 83% premium to the Brait
March 2020 carrying value:
Valuation, £'m
Maintainable EBITDA (1)
EV/EBITDA multiple
Enterprise value
Less: net third party debt (2)
Equity value
Braitʼs equity participation %
Value (£m) for Brait’s investment

Audited
31-Mar-20

Disposal
value

134.0

134.0

6.0x

6.6x

804.0

886.8

(704.5)

(704.5)

99.5

182.3

63.1%

63.1%

62.8

115.0

Closing GBP/ZAR exchange rate (3)

22.17

21.25

Value (Rm) for Brait’s investment (3)

1,391

2,444

(1) Maintainable EBITDA of £134.0m is as reported for FY2020 (March); (2) Net debt as at 31 March 2020 of £704.5m includes £17.0m interest accrued on reported term debt of £687.5m; (3) Disposal value of £115m translated
into Rands using the actual £/R rate on 8 June 2020 applicable to the initial £60m tranche of proceeds Brait received.
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ICELAND FOODS
Overview
– Iceland Foods is a UK based national food retailer with an estate of over 890 UK stores mainly in convenient high street locations
and 121 larger format Food Warehouse stores mainly in out of town retail parks
– Iceland is best known for its frozen food offering which accounts for c.40% of its sales
– The business offers a compelling ‘value for money’ proposition, with an online service available throughout the UK
– The Food Warehouse concept, launched in 2014, continues to expand successfully and the ongoing Iceland refit programme is
transforming stores and revitalising growth

Core retail stores

892 stores in convenient and profitable high street
locations nationwide
– Well laid out stores: wide aisles,
big ticket displays, clear cut
pricing
– Typically lower income
demographic areas
– 3,500-8,000 sq. ft.
– Ongoing refit programme
transforming stores &
revitalising growth

The Range

Launched within 38 stores
– Formed a strategic alliance with
The Range in August 2018,
introducing the Iceland food range
into The Range’s home, garden
and leisure stores
– This creates a new type of
location, reaching a new customer
base

Brait effective
shareholding

63.1%

FOOD WAREHOUSE

Grown from a single store in September 2014 to
121 stores across England, Wales and Scotland
– Frozen-led destination shops,
focusing on bigger packs and
better value. Bigger format &
modern-looking
– Offers a wider product range
– 10,000-15,000 sq. ft. vs. c. 5,000
sq. ft. of average Iceland store
– Three 25k+ sq. ft stores

Online
– Major investment in Online offering has maintained Iceland’s
position as the fastest-growing online grocer in the UK
– Launched a new Online website in March 2019, offering an
improved mobile experience and new features including the
ability to add to a basket without booking a slot and to shop
directly from the search popup
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Investment portfolio (continued)
ICELAND FOODS
Outlook
– Since the outbreak of Coronavirus, the food retail sector in the United Kingdom has experienced a period of
strong sales as customers have stocked up on groceries (including frozen food) as the government has rolled out
its program to contain the spread of the virus
– Businesses with a strong online offering have also benefitted during this time

CURRENT TRADING
& STORE EXPANSION

– Iceland has opened 3 new stores in the UK since the start of Q4, comprising 2 new Food Warehouse stores
(including the first in Northern Ireland) and 1 new Iceland store. 3 underperforming Iceland stores have been
closed, resulting in no net change in estate. No further openings or closures are planned in FY2020
– The strategic alliance with The Range continues, with 4 new locations added in the fourth quarter and a total of
50 expected by April
– The recently concluded refit programme in Greater Manchester has delivered good results. Capital investment
will continue to focus on revamping existing stores, with a focus on ”mini” / low-cost refits

IMPACT OF
CORONAVIRUS

OUTLOOK FOR 2020
AND BEYOND
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– Management continue to assess the potential impact of the Coronavirus and to date have managed to ensure
continuity of its supply chain
– The business has sufficient liquidity to deal with the short-term consequences of Coronavirus and to meet its
commitments. The UK government’s announcements of relief from business rates and taxes and government
subsidies for salaries for affected staff will provide support to the company

– All long-term debt funding, save for £40m outstanding on its floating rate note due in July 2020 (for which Iceland
has sufficient liquidity from internally generated cash) is only repayable in 2024 and 2025
– Continued focus on store profitability and margin expansion going forward

VALUATION OVERVIEW

9.8x

8.4x

8.8x

8.4x

8.4x

Mar 18

Sep 18

PEER EV/EBITDA

10.3x

9.2x

8.7x

8.2x

7.6x

7.3x

7.0x

7.0x

6.7x

Mar 19

Sep 19

6.0x

Brait valuation multiple
Peer average: Trailing 3 years

Mar 20

PEER GROUP

Brait’s
Brait’svaluation
valuationof
ofits
itsinvestment
investment
–
–
–
–
–

Tesco Plc
J Sainsbury Plc
WM Morrison Supermarkets Plc
B&M European Value Retail S.A.
Marks & Spencers Group Plc

Peer average: Spot

KEY VALUATION ASSUMPTIONS
EV/EBITDA
Peer Average

3yr ave

Spot

Iceland

8.2x

6.7x

6.0x

Maintainable EBITDA

Primary reference measure: peer group average spot multiple

Maintainable LTM EBITDA (£m)
Maintainable EBITDA

31-Mar-20
134.0

No adjustments made to EBITDA; Maintainable EBITDA of £134.0m is as
reported for FY2020 (March)

Sustainable Net Debt (£m)

31-Mar-20

Actual Net Debt

(687.5)

Accrued interest

(17.0)

Sustainable Net Debt

£'m

(704.5)

Net debt as at 31 March 2020 of £704.5m includes £17.0m interest accrued
on term debt

EV/EBITDA multiple
Enterprise value
Less: net third party debt
Shareholder value
Less: shareholder funding
Equity value / (impairment to shareholder funding)
Braitʼs equity participation %

Audited
31-Mar-19

Unaudited
30-Sep-19

Audited
31-Mar-20

140.0

140.0

134.0

7.0x

7.0x

6.0x

980.0

980.0

804.0

(713.5)

(751.6)

(704.5)

266.5

228.4

99.5

-

-

-

266.5

228.4

99.5

63.1%

63.1%

63.1%

Equity value

168.1

144.1

62.8

Carrying value (£m) for Brait’s investment

168.1

144.1

62.8

18.89

18.61

22.17

3,176

2,683

1,391

Closing GBP/ZAR exchange rate
Carrying value (Rm) for Brait’s investment

Brait has disposed of its entire 63.1% interest in Iceland Foods for a total consideration of £115m; this implies an Enterprise Value of £887m and a
valuation multiple of 6.6x EV/EBITDA
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Investment portfolio (continued)

NEW LOOK

9.4 NEW LOOK

Overview
– New Look is a UK multichannel fast-fashion brand, offering exciting, on-trend, value-fashion with a broad appeal for women and
teenage girls (and including an online men’s range)
– New Look is the number 2 UK Womenswear retailer for ages 18 to 44
– Significant progress has been made on the company’s turnaround strategy to deliver financial and operational stability, however the
business has recently been negatively impacted by temporary store closures due to Coronavirus

UK AND REPUBLIC OF IRELAND RETAIL

TALL

MATERNITY

successful e-commerce site serving
around 66 countries

24%

At New Look it’s all about interpreting trends and making
them accessible to customers. Sourcing suppliers from all
around the world means the business can buy in to new
trends quickly. Available ranges offer a broad width of appeal
so that all customers can buy into the latest trends in a way
that suits them
PETITE

18.5%

E-COMMERCE

Over 500 stores in the UK & Republic of Ireland bringing the
brand to life and creating a fun, accessible shopping experience
for customers

INSPIRE

Brait effective
shareholding

65%

11%

New Look’s online shop has 800 new
products added every week, helping to
make the brand available to customers
anytime, anywhere. With home delivery,
order in store and click and collect, the
business is constantly looking for new
ways to improve its services and to
deliver a seamless brand experience

THIRD-PARTY E-COMMERCE
3rd Party Partnerships covering key
international markets

(1) Source: EBITDA data from Q32020 investor presentation
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YTD2020 EBITDA (1)
(39 weeks to 28 December 2019)

NEW LOOK
Progressagainst
against ongoing
ongoing turnaround
turnaround plan
Overview of progress
TURNAROUND PLAN
1

Return to proven broader appeal product
Lower prices delivering better value

2

Fundamentally realigned supply chain

3

Cohesive multichannel model

PROGRESS AGAINST TURNAROUND INITIATIVES
• Successfully rebalanced the mix of Core Colours and Broad Appeal
Fashion; ‘Core’ and ‘broad appeal’ clothing categories represent 98% of
product mix vs 75% ‘trend’ and ‘fashion’ last year
• Menswear space now filled with 915 and concessions
• Total lead times now 79 days (9 days faster than FY2019)
• In Q3, 915 & Brands improved 16 days vs Q3LY and Women’s clothing
improved 10 days vs Q3LY
• Continued focus on omni-channel offering (in-store and e-commerce)
• Right sizing & investing in store estate: 3 stores opened,10 closed

4

Efficiency and cost savings

5

People First

• ‘Revive’ investment programme in smaller stores (49 to date) delivering
strong return on investment and +6% LFL profit, with 45 further stores
planned for FY21
• New appointments strengthening top leadership team
o Clare Dobbie – Chief Customer Officer
o Helen Connolly – Chief Commercial Officer

o David Wertheim – Central Merchandising and Supply Chain Director
o Emma Hayward – Transformation Director
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Investment portfolio (continued)
NEW LOOK
Outlook
– On 21 March, New Look temporarily closed all 480 stores in the UK, with all 28 stores in the Republic of Ireland
temporarily closed on 20 March

IMPACT OF
CORONAVIRUS

– New Look’s online and third-party sales channels remain open and deliveries to home and Collect+ locations
remain available to customers
– Following the financial restructuring in May 2019 and the actions taken to achieve financial / operational stability,
the business entered the Coronavirus outbreak with strengthened liquidity
– New Look has no near-term maturities on its long-term debt funding (matures in 2024) and is able to toggle cash
interest to PIK to provide debt servicing flexibility. However, the operating facilities have a term end date in June
2020 and the RCF matures in June 2021

SHORT TERM
MANAGEMENT
FOCUS

– New Look is focused on preserving cash, maximising liquidity, managing working capital and reducing costs.
Proactive and immediate actions taken to date include, but are not limited to:
• Significantly reducing marketing costs
• Requesting a 3-month rent holiday from landlords
• Pausing all production
• Delaying all significant capex projects
• Halting all recruitment
– Management are actively pursuing the relevant channels to secure a business rates exemption for 12 months,
employee cost support, deferral of tax & national insurance payments, and gaining access to the Coronavirus
Corporate Financing Facility

OUTLOOK FOR 2020
AND BEYOND
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– Stores in the UK re-opened on 16 June 2020
– In light of the rapidly evolving nature of the Coronavirus outbreak, any guidance previously given by New Look
needs to be reviewed. The business is unable to provide updated guidance for FY2020 and beyond at this time
due to ongoing uncertainty

VALUATION OVERVIEW
Brait’s
of of
its its
investment
Brait’svaluation
valuation
investment
Post New Look’s 3 May 2019 balance sheet restructure, Brait’s equity holding in New Look is
18.5%. Brait values its equity investment at NIL
Brait’s £75.3 million nominal value of the Senior Secured Notes (previous £73.2 million plus
£2.1 million of PIK interest capitalised by New Look in January 2020) as at 31 March 2020 is
valued using the quoted Bloomberg price of GBP0.549

£'m
Equity and shareholder funding
Nominal Value: SSNs

Audited
31-Mar-19

Unaudited
30-Sep-19

Audited
31-Mar-20

-

-

-

193.1

45.3

45.3

Nominal Value: New money SSNs

-

27.9

27.9

Capitalised PIK interest

-

-

2.1

193.1

73.2

75.3

45.3

56.6

41.4

-

3.6

1.0

Carrying Value SSNs

45.3

60.2

42.4

Bridge Facility

15.3

-

-

Total Nominal value: SSNs
Value using quoted price
Add: accrued interest

Carrying value (£m) for Brait’s investment
Closing GBP/ZAR exchange rate
Carrying value (Rm) for Brait’s investment

60.6

60.2

42.4

18.89

18.61

22.17

1,146

1,121

940
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R
A

Audited
31 Mar 2017

Other investments portfolio carrying value

R’m
Investments housed within Brait’s Other Investments portfolio:

% total
assets

31 M

2,0

R’m

Other investments portfolio
carrying
2,064shareholding
4%
2,40a
• Majority
of thevalue
carrying value of this portfolio relates to Brait’s 81.3%
in DGB,

exporter of local wine and importer of international spirit brands, and Brait’s position in certai
Investments housed within
Brait’s
OtherofInvestments
portfolio:Brait’s remaining private equity investments, which
• The
remainder
the portfolio comprises

c.10%
interest
in Brait
IV; carrying
largely
attributable
to: a leading South African pro
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Movements
during
FY2018
• The remainder of the portfolio
comprises
Brait’s
remaining private equity investments, which mostly relates to Brait’s ef

c.10% interest in Brait IV; carrying value largely attributable to:
The net increase in carrying value over the financial year is a function of an investment in certai
o Consol – the largest manufacturer of glass packaging products on the African continent
• Proceeds received from Brait IV’s realisation of its investment in Primedia, which concluded

9.5 OTHER INVESTMENTS

Movements during FY2018
• A decrease in the carrying value of Brait’s investment in DGB, arising from a discontinued op

“Other investments” relates to Brait’s 91.3% stake in DGB, together with Brait’s remaining private equity fund investments,
The net increase in carrying value over the financial year is a function of an investment in certain public market securities,
mostly comprising Brait’s effective c.10% interest in Brait IV, which has a remaining
investment
in Consol.
Proceeds
received from the Other Investments portfolio (since 1 April 2011)
• Proceeds received from Brait IV’s realisation of its investment in Primedia, which concluded in December 2017; and
• In excess of R2.5 billion has been received to 31 March 2018
• A decrease in the carrying Unaudited
value of Brait’s investment in DGB, arisingAudited
from a discontinued operation
Audited
31-Mar-2019
30-Sept-2019
31-Mar-2020
Proceeds received from the Other Investments portfolio (since 1 April 2011)
% total
% total
% total
•
Inassets
excess of R2.5 billion has
been received
to 31 March 2018
R’m
R’m
assets
R’m
assets

DGB and remaining private equity fund investments

956

3%

849

3%

711

3%

• DGB is a leading South African producer and exporter of local wine and importer of international spirit brands
• As announced on 13 May 2020, all of the conditions relating to the sale of Brait’s 91.3% shareholding in DGB were fulfilled
for a total consideration of R470 million, which is largely in line with its September 2019 carrying value and equal to the
March 2020 carrying value.
• Brait received the first tranche of proceeds of R370 million on 1 June 2020, with the remaining R100 million to be received in
two deferred payments of R50 million each by 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2022 respectively
• Consol is the largest manufacturer of glass packaging on the African continent
• Brait’s effective stake in Consol is 3% (held through Brait Fund IV)
• The business performed strongly during the past financial year growing sales and EBITDA
• However, many of Consol’s customers were non-operational during the Coronavirus lockdown, negatively impacting performance
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Stakeholder engagement
SHAREHOLDERS
Brait places a high premium on the quality of its relationships with its individual and institutional shareholders. The Company has a policy of
active communication with its shareholders. All shareholders receive a copy of the Group’s Integrated Annual Report as well as having an
open invitation to the Group’s presentation of its annual and interim results as advertised on its website. The Group is committed to regular
dialogue and transparency in its relations with shareholders, and provides individual shareholders with regular and interactive information.
The Brait website, www.brait.com, provides a helpful source of information about the Group and facilitates access to the portfolio investment
websites. Its practical structure allows quick access to information on the Group, its activities, latest news and the Brait share price.
The site also provides access to all the Group’s main publications such as annual and interim reports, press releases and information letters
to shareholders.
All shareholders are invited to the Company’s annual general meeting (AGM) which is held in July/August each year in Malta. Shareholders
who cannot attend are allowed to vote in absentia through proxies. Agendas and resolutions for the AGM are communicated at least
21 days before the meeting. A holder of shares in the Company holding not less than 10 (ten) percent of the voting issued share capital of
Brait may:
(a) request Brait to include items on the agenda of the AGM, provided that each item is accompanied by a justification or a draft resolution
to be adopted at the AGM; and
(b) table draft resolutions for items included in the agenda of the AGM.
Provided that with respect to the request to put items on the agenda of the AGM or table draft resolutions, these shall be submitted to Brait
in hard copy form or in electronic form at least 7 (seven) days before the date set for the AGM and it shall be authenticated by the person or
persons making it. In the event that such a request or resolution is received after the lapse of the 7 day time limit set out above, Brait shall not
be obliged to entertain any requests by such holders of ordinary shares. The Chairman undertakes to respond to questions asked at the AGM
except where the answer might seriously harm the Group, its shareholders or its personnel. Brait posts the results of votes of the AGM on its
website and on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (LuxSE) and the JSE Stock Exchange News Service (SENS) soon after each meeting.
Key stakeholders are identified as groups or individuals with an interest in what we do or the ability to influence our activities. Mutual trust
and understanding with all of our stakeholders is essential and we seek to ensure that our interactions are continuous and effective.
Stakeholder

Type of interaction

Discussion items

Shareholders and analysts

Annual General Meetings
One-on-one meetings with analysts and investors
Investor conferences and road shows
Announcements through the LuxSE and JSE
Interim and final results presentations Group website
Integrated Annual Report
Ad hoc communications and addressing investor and analyst queries

Group NAV and performance
Portfolio investment performance
Investment process
Share price performance
Future prospects
Balance sheet management

Portfolio investments

Representation on boards, audit and risk committees
Attending executive team meetings
Attending planning/strategy sessions
Site visits

Financial performance
Budgets and strategies
Remuneration
Health and safety
Succession planning
Risk management
Corporate finance matters
(funding and deal activity)

Funding providers

Regular meetings with bankers post trading updates ensure an
informed understanding of the Group and investment portfolio

Group NAV and performance
Future prospects
Portfolio investment performance

Authorities and regulators

Directors in the jurisdictions the Group operates in lead the
engagement process with respective authorities and regulators

Compliance requirements

Community

Brait Foundation
Portfolio investment initiatives

Social responsibility investment
initiatives
Integrated Annual Report 2020 | Brait
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The Board is
committed to
business integrity,
transparency and
sustainability in
all its activities
to ensure that all
the entities within
the Group are
managed ethically
and responsibly
The current
members of the
Board are as
follows:

11.1 BOARD PROFILE
Phillip Jabulani Moleketi (63)*
Independent Non-Executive Chairman
Date appointed: 7 September 2009
Qualifications: Advanced Management
Programme (Harvard Business School in
Boston), MSc (Financial Economics), postgraduate diploma in Economic Principles
Former Deputy Minister of Finance of the
Republic of South Africa and Gauteng Province
MEC of Finance and Economic Affairs as well
as a director of several companies listed on the
JSE Limited. He is non-executive chairman of
Harith, Vodacom and PPC Limited. He holds
postgraduate economics and management
qualifications from the University of London and
Harvard Business School and has extensive
international exposure, extensive strategic
leadership skills and in-depth corporate
governance experience in both the public and
private sectors.

Alan Steven Jacobs (58)†
Independent Non-Executive Director
Date appointed: 19 February 2015
Qualifications: MA (Cantab)

Nationality
* South African
‡
Dutch
† British
^ American
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Mr Jacobs is a British national based in
London, United Kingdom. He is a solicitor of
the Senior Courts of England and Wales and
investment banker by training, and is the founder
and director of Jacobs Capital, a corporate
finance and investment firm. He is a former
Managing Director of Citigroup and J Henry
Schroder Wagg & Co. Limited and serves as
a non-executive director on several boards of
companies, including Brait Mauritius Limited, BE
offices, Wearisma and Zoggs. He has extensive
investment and advisory experience in the
European retail, consumer, luxury goods and
property sectors.

John Chester Botts (79)^ CBE
Independent Non-Executive Director
Date appointed: 29 January 2016
Qualifications: BA (Williams)
Mr Botts is senior advisor in the London office of
investment firm Allen and Company and senior advisor
to former operating partner Corsair Capital; formerly
non-executive chairman of Euromoney Institutional
Investor plc and non-executive chairman of United
Business plc. In 1987, he founded the investment
banking and investment firm, Botts & Company Limited,
in conjunction with Allen & Company. Previously CEO
of Citicorp’s investment bank in Europe, Middle East
and Africa and chairman of Citicorp’s Venture Capital
Investment Committee. He has extensive investment
banking and private equity experience

Dr Lawrence Leon Porter (68)†
Independent Non-Executive Director
Date appointed: 28 May 2013
Qualifications: BA, BSc, DPhil (Oxon), Fellow of
the British Computer Society, Chartered Information
Technology Professional
After a period of research in Experimental Psychology,
Dr Porter was with IBM Corporation for twenty five years
where he held various positions in Senior Management
and as a Senior Consultant in Research and
Development. He was a Technical Staff Member and an
IBM Master Inventor. He holds numerous US patents in
the field of Information Technology. He resides in Malta.

Christopher Stefan Seabrooke (67)*
Independent Non-Executive Director
Date appointed: 19 June 2009
Qualifications: BCom, BAcc, MBA, FCMA

Hermanus Roelof Willem Troskie (50)‡
Independent Non-Executive Director
Date appointed: 27 July 2005
Qualifications: BJuris, LLB, LLM

Mr. Seabrooke has been a director of over 25 stock
exchange listed companies over the years. He is
currently chief executive officer of Sabvest Limited,
Chairman of Metrofile Holdings Limited, Net1 UEPS
Technologies Inc and Transaction Capital Limited. He is a
former Chairman of The South African State Theatre and
former Deputy Chairman of the inaugural National Arts
Council of South Africa.

Mr Troskie is the deputy chief executive officer
of Maitland, a global advisory and administration
firm. Mr Troskie is based in Luxembourg and
has extensive experience in the areas of capital
markets and corporate governance, with a
particular interest in integrated structuring for
entrepreneurs and their businesses. Mr Troskie
is a non-executive director of a number of public
and private companies, including Brait Malta
Limited, Brait Mauritius Limited, Tradehold
Limited and Ardagh Group S.A. He is a solicitor
of the Senior Courts of England and Wales.

Dr Christoffel Hendrik (Christo) Wiese (78) *
Non-Executive Director
Date appointed: 04 May 2011
Qualifications: BA LLB D.Com (h.c.) University of
Stellenbosch, South Africa, D.Comm (Bus. Management)
(h.c.) Nkhoma University, Malawi D. Tech: Marketing, Cape
Peninsula University of Technology
Dr Wiese is chairperson of Shoprite Holdings Limited,
Africa’s largest fast-moving consumer goods retail
company with a total of more than 2 400 outlets trading
in 15 countries in Africa and the Indian Ocean Islands,
employing more than 148 000 people.
Dr Wiese is a significant shareholder in a range of
businesses throughout the world. He holds significant
stakes in Brait, Tradehold Ltd (UK based property
investment company) and Invicta Holdings Ltd.
Dr Wiese has served on the boards of many listed
companies over the years and is a past director of the
SA Reserve Bank and former chairman of the Industrial
Development Corporation of SA Ltd and Pepkor
Holdings (Pty) Ltd.
During 2015, Dr Wiese was awarded the Lifetime
Achievement Award at the Sunday Times Top 100
Companies Awards; the All Africa Business Leaders Awards,
as well as being inducted into the World Retail Hall of Fame.

Paul Johannes Roelofse (42) *
Alternate Director for Dr Wiese
Date appointed as alternate director:
2 October 2019
Qualifications: B.Acc (Cum Laude) degree
and B.Acc (Hons) degree from the University of
Stellenbosch, CA(SA) and CFA charterholder

A reconstituted
Board is to be
proposed to
shareholders at
the 2020 AGM.
The bios of the
5 new board
approved directors
proposed for
election are set out
in Annex 1 to the
Notice of the AGM
(page 150 of this
Integrated Annual
Report), as well as
on the Company’s
website at
www.brait.com

Mr Roelofse co-founded Oryx Partners in
October 2019, which manages Dr Christo
Wiese’s family office and serves as a strategic
business partner of the Wiese family.
Prior to Oryx Partners, Mr Roelofse spent
17 years at RMB, where he led a number of
pioneering transactions, serving on the RMB
Investment Banking Board from 2009 until he
resigned in 2019. Paul headed RMB’s global
Corporate Finance business from 2009 to 2015.
Mr Roelofse is a Dealmaker of the Year Award
winner from Dealmakers magazine.

Dr Porter, Dr Wiese
and Mr Troskie will
be standing for
re-election at
the AGM
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Governance (continued)
11.2 GOVERNANCE STRUCTURES

Principles
Good corporate governance is integral to Brait and incorporates sound business principles and best
practice. The Board recognises the need to conduct the business with integrity and according to
generally accepted and best international corporate practices. While compliance with formal standards
is important, emphasis is placed on effectiveness, particularly in relation to the business of Brait, with
substance prevailing over form.

The Board
has the format of
a European style
investment vehicle,
which is made up
exclusively of
non-executive
directors that
oversee the
Group’s strategy
and investment
management
function

Matters reserved for the Board include:
• Approval of the Group’s overall strategy, five year plans and annual operating budget;
• Approval of the Group’s half-yearly and annual financial statements and changes in the Group’s
accounting policies or practices;
• Approval of statements and announcements released on the website of the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange and on the Stock Exchange News Service of the JSE Limited;
• Approval of changes relating to the capital structure of the Group or its regulated status;
• Approval of the appointment and removal of the Group’s contracted investment advisors, including an
annual review of performance and compliance with the advisory agreement;
• Approval of major changes in the nature of business operations or investment strategy;
• Approval of investments and divestments;
• Approval of portfolio company valuations at each reporting date as recommended by the Audit and
Risk Committee;
• Regular reviews of the performance and plans for each portfolio company;
• Approval of share buyback program & bonus share issue/cash dividend policy and declarations;
• Regular reviews of the Group capital structure and efficiency;
• Review of the adequacy of internal control systems, including those operated by independent service
providers; and
• Appointments to the Board and determination of terms of appointment of directors.
Organisational structure, policies and objectives
The Board is structured as a European style investment vehicle which is made up exclusively of
Non-Executive Directors who are ultimately responsible for the strategic and investment functions of
the Group. The Board serves as the investment committee for the Group and has the final say on all
investment and treasury related decisions. The Board is specifically responsible for approving the Group
investment strategy and setting the acceptable level of risk together with key policies. In addition, it
ensures that its obligations towards its stakeholders are understood and met, reporting to stakeholders
on how it has fulfilled its responsibilities.
Group investments are made through Brait Mauritius Limited (BML). BML is licenced as a registered
investment advisor in accordance with the provisions of section 30 of the Mauritius Securities Act of
2015. BML has its own investment team. Authority has been delegated from the Board to BML to
identify, evaluate and recommend to it (the Board) for final approval on any investment related decisions.
BML and the Group’s previous corporate advisors agreed to the termination of their investment advisory
agreement on 29 February 2020.
With effect from 1 March 2020, BML has appointed Ethos Private Equity Limited (“EPE”) as its new
contracted investment advisor to assist it in discharging these responsibilities. See section 7 (Investment
Advisor) for details on EPE and the new investment advisory agreement. The Board, together with
assistance of BML and EPE, will focus on strategies for the Group’s portfolio of investments to realise
value from the portfolio over the medium term and return capital to shareholders. In addition, Brait will
re-evaluate costs and efficiencies of the overall Group structure.
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Compliance, legislation and regulation
As a provider of financial services, Brait operates in highly regulated environments. Accordingly, regulatory and legislative compliance
over the conduct of business, as well as maintaining good working relationships with the regulators in the various jurisdictions the
Group has operations, are of utmost importance to the Group.
Responsibility for compliance oversight falls within the Group’s risk management framework and functions independently, with a direct
reporting line to the Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee.
On 3 July 2016, Regulations (EU) No 596/214 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 April 2014 on market abuse
(“MAR”) came into effect. By virtue of its listing on the Euro MTF market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, the Company is subject
to the provisions of MAR. The MAR imposes three main obligations on issuers:
• control and disclosure of inside information;
• establishment and maintenance of insider lists; and
• notifications of managers’ transactions and related trading restrictions during closed periods.
Risk management and internal control
Whilst the responsibility for the Group’s risk management, including its systems of internal financial and operational control is that of
the Board, this is specifically monitored by the Audit and Risk Committee. The foundation for the Group’s internal control process is
found in its governance principles, which incorporate ethical behaviour, compliance with legislation and sound accounting practice.
The control systems include clearly defined lines of accountability and delegation of authority, and provide for full reporting and
analysis against approved budgets. The Board is responsible for determining the adequacy, extent and operation of these systems.
In this regard, the Board is of the opinion that Brait’s existing systems provide reasonable assurance that its assets are protected
against material loss or unauthorised use and transactions are properly authorised and documented.
Brait has representation on the boards of its portfolio companies. This includes representation on the various board committees,
including audit and risk, remuneration and nomination committees.
The management of risks is detailed on pages 70 to 76 of this Integrated Annual Report.
External and Internal audit
The Group’s external auditor is PricewaterhouseCoopers, appointed from September 2018 following a tender process.
Their independence is recognised and reviewed by the Audit and Risk Committee on a regular basis. The Audit and Risk Committee
meets with the external auditor to review their scope, budgets and other matters arising. The external auditor participates in the Audit
and Risk Committee meetings and has unrestricted access to the Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee.
KPMG provides internal audit services to Brait. The Group’s internal audit function operates in accordance with the Internal Audit
Charter, which is in line with the requirements of the Institute of Internal Auditors. The Charter formally defines the purpose, authority
and responsibility of the internal audit function, and is approved by the Audit and Risk Committee. The internal audit function reports
directly to the Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee and has full and unrestricted access to the Chairman of the Board.
All business and support units, including significant enterprise-wide related processes, are subject to regular internal audit reviews.
Material or significant control weaknesses and planned corrective action by BML are reported to the Audit and Risk Committee.
These issues are monitored to ensure that agreed corrective action has been implemented. The internal audit function is risk rather
than compliance based and conducts an annual formal enterprise-wide risk assessment, based on inherent risk and the Board’s
assessment of residual risk. A comprehensive risk-based annual audit plan is derived from this assessment, which identifies areas
of focus based on the relative degree of the inherent risks identified during this process. The annual audit plan is approved by the
Audit and Risk Committee and is regularly reviewed to ensure that it remains relevant given any changes to Brait’s business and the
operating environment within the Group. Any changes to the audit plan are approved by the Audit and Risk Committee.
Integrated Annual Report 2020 | Brait
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Governance (continued)
The internal audit plan includes a review of the contracted investment advisor’s compliance with the
services agreement as authorised by the Audit and Risk Committee.
The portfolio investment companies have separate reporting processes for their internal and external
auditors. Brait is represented on all portfolio company audit and risk committees. These Brait
representatives provide regular feedback to the Brait Audit and Risk Committee on any material matters
raised at the portfolio company.
Business integrity and conduct
The Group subscribes to a corporate ethos which requires the adoption of highest personal ethical
standards in dealing with all stakeholders in the conduct of the Group’s affairs. The principles to which
each individual subscribes include integrity, openness, accountability, impartiality and honesty and are
embedded in the Code of Conduct.

Board confirms
compliance
with all ten principles
of the Corporate
Governance Charter

Brait maintains a zero-tolerance approach to unethical or dishonest behaviour. The Board believes that
there has been no material non-adherence to these principles during the year under review.
In accordance with Brait’s policies, no donations were made to any political parties, by any of the
companies within the Group, during the year under review.
Board of directors
Corporate Governance Charter
On 4 May 2011 Brait adopted a European style investment committee Board which is 100% nonexecutive. The Board is a headed by an independent non-executive Chairman. The Board retains
the main authority and function of overseeing the Company’s strategy and investment management
functions, including making the final decision on all investment related activities.
Brait is governed by its Corporate Governance Charter which describes the duties and responsibilities
of the Board and its committees. The Corporate Governance Charter is based on the X Principles of
Corporate Governance of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, which read as follows:
1.

Corporate governance framework
The company will adopt a clear and transparent corporate governance framework for which it will
provide adequate disclosure.

2.

The board of director’s remit
The board will be responsible for the management of the company. As a collective body, it will act in
the corporate interest and will serve all the shareholders by ensuring the long-term success of the
company. They shall consider corporate social responsibility aspects and shall take into account the
interests of all stakeholders in their deliberations. The board shall regularly evaluate the way in which
it operates and its relations with management and the contracted investment advisor.

3.

Composition of the board of directors and of the special committees
The board will be composed of competent, honest, and qualified persons. Their choice will take
account of the specific features of the company. The board will establish the special committees
necessary for the proper execution of its remit.

4.

Appointment of directors, executive managers and contracted advisors
The company will establish a formal procedure for the appointment of members of the board of
directors, executive managers (1) and contracted investment advisor.
(1)
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The X Principles mention that “executive managers” are senior managers who are not board directors but who are members of a
body of executives who are charged with the day-to-day management of the company. This refers to the BML executives in the
context of Brait.

5.

Professional ethics
The directors must exercise the mandate with integrity and commitment. Each shall represent the shareholders as a whole, and
shall make decisions in the company’s interest, and independently of any conflict of interest.

6.

Executive management
The board is directly responsible for the management of the company through executive management appointed by it in its
subsidiaries. It shall clearly define the assignments and duties of the executive management and shall delegate to it the powers
required for the proper discharge thereof.

7.

Remuneration policy
The company shall establish a fair remuneration policy for its directors and the members of its executive management that is
compatible with the long-term interests of the company.

8.

Financial reporting, internal control and risk management
The board will establish strict rules designed to protect the company’s interests in the areas of financial reporting, internal control
and risk management.

9.

Corporate social responsibility (CSR)
The company shall define its corporate social responsibility policy with respect, including to it those responsibilities related to
social and environmental aspects. It shall set out the measures taken for its implementation of that policy and shall provide for
these to be adequately published.

10. Shareholders
The company will respect the rights of its shareholders and ensure they receive equal treatment. The company shall define a
policy of active communication with its shareholders and shall establish a related structured set of practices.
Power and obligations of the Board
The Board has full power to perform all such acts as are necessary or useful to further the objects of the Group.
To carry out its responsibilities regarding strategy and general policy, the Board:
• Is responsible for approving Group strategy, setting the accepting level of risk for the Company, together with key policies, and
should prepare (or cause to be prepared) the annual financial statements, budgets and periodic accounts;
• Has the widest power to carry out any acts of management or of disposition that shall interest the Company. All that is not expressly
reserved for the Shareholders in general meeting by law or by the Company’s Articles of Association is intra vires the Board;
• Defines and delegates specific responsibility and authority to the advisory and service providers contracted by the Company;
• Ensures that its obligations towards its Shareholders are understood and met, and reports to the Shareholders on how it has
fulfilled its responsibilities; and
• Gives proper consideration to its staff policy and code of business ethics. The Company has a Code of Conduct which has been
approved by the Board and circulated to all staff and the Corporate Advisors.
In instances where a Director is unable to attend a Board/Committee meeting and has shared their views on the documentation
circulated in advance of the meeting with the director to whom they have given their proxy, they are deemed to have attended
such meeting.
Appointment of directors
Even though, in terms of the Articles, the directors’ terms of office may be for a period of up to six years from the date of
appointment, the term of office of the current directors expires at the forthcoming AGM and they shall all be nominated for re-election
for a period expiring at next year’s AGM.
All directors must be willing and able to fulfil their duties. Before each meeting, each director receives a Board pack with supporting
information on all key decisions to be made. All directors are expected to engage in constructive and critical discussion of the strategy
and key policies to ensure no single director or group of directors dominates decision-making.
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The Board elects a Chairman whose principal function is to preside over meetings of the Board and ensure optimal decision-making
and good governance. His duties include the following:
• The appointment, monitoring and evaluation of the Board and directors;
• Determining, with input from other directors, an annual plan for the Board; and
• Ensuring that all directors play a constructive role and initiating their removal in cases of non-performance or unsuitability.
Skills and training of directors
Directors are elected on the basis of their abilities and the contribution they can make to the administration of the Company. Criteria
for selection include the following:
• Entrepreneurial flair;
• Strategic, analytical and communication skills;
• An ability to appreciate the wider business perspective;
• Honesty and integrity in personal and business dealings;
• Readiness to objectively challenge and critique in the best interests of the Company;
• Ability to devote sufficient time to carrying out their duties and responsibilities effectively;
• Willingness to commit to good governance; and
• Does not have any conflict of interest with the Company and maintains his/her independence from the Company.
In order to acquire a thorough understanding of the Group, directors undertake an induction process which includes visiting the
operations of the Group’s investment companies; familiarisation with the functions of the Company, Board and various committees as
well as an introduction to the internal and external auditors and contracted investment advisor.
Directors have ongoing education to keep them abreast of relevant legislation and regulatory changes in order to be able to make
effective decisions.
Evaluation of the performance of the Board
The Chairman is responsible for the Board’s self-evaluation process. This includes an assessment of the balance of skills, experience
and knowledge of the Board members. A similar evaluation is carried out by each committee of the Board. In addition to the
self-assessment process, the evaluation of the Audit and Risk Committee includes comments and assessments of the committee
members’ performance from external audit, internal audit, BML and the contracted investment advisor.
The results of the above assessments continue to show a high degree of satisfaction with the operation of the Board and its committees.
Evaluation of the performance of the contracted investment advisor
The Audit and Risk Committee is responsible for the annual evaluation of the contracted investment advisor. To discharge this
responsibility, the Audit and Risk Committee receive a formal assessment from BML and an independent assessment from the
Group’s internal auditors. These annual assessments evaluate performance in terms of the advisory services contract during the
contract term.
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Board meeting attendance

Date of appointment

Number of
meetings attended
during the year

Attendance
record

7 September 2009
29 January 2016
19 February 2015
28 May 2013
19 June 2009
27 July 2005
4 May 2011

4/4
3/4
4/4
4/4
4/4
4/4
4/4

100%
75%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

Non-executive directors
PJ Moleketi (Chairman)
JC Botts
AS Jacobs
Dr LL Porter
CS Seabrooke
HRW Troskie
Dr CH Wiese

Pursuant to the Board’s decision to engage in an extensive process to materially reduce the debt on Brait’s balance sheet, the Board
mandated a sub-committee of the Board to oversee this process, having the responsibility of engaging with and managing the various
stakeholders (e.g. bankers, lawyers) involved, ensuring that the process could be concluded as efficiently as possible. Decisions
related to the Recapitalisation remained the overall responsibility of the Board and these decisions were taken as part of the formal
Board meetings held during the year. The sub-committee provided regular feedback to the Board, with update meetings held on an
ad-hoc basis as required outside of the formal board meetings recorded above.
Company Secretarial Services
The Maitland group of companies is contracted to perform the function of the Company Secretary, listing agent, registrar and transfer
agent. They are responsible for:
• Ensuring compliance with all Board procedures;
• Ensuring that the directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary;
• Assisting with the director induction and training programmes;
• Assisting with the appointment of directors;
• Guiding the Board on the duties of directors and good governance;
• Ensuring that board and committee charters are kept up to date;
• Circulating Board papers; and
• Circulating minutes of Board and committee meetings.
BOARD COMMITTEES
The Company is committed to upholding the highest standards of corporate governance. The Board is responsible to shareholders
for the overall management of the Group. Certain responsibilities of the Board have been delegated to Board committees to assist
and enable the Board to properly discharge its duties and responsibilities. These committees comprise the Audit and Risk Committee,
the Treasury Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nominations Committee and the Corporate Social Responsibility
Committee, all of which operate under written terms of reference confirmed by the Board. Pursuant to the reconstituted Board
proposed to shareholders at the AGM, the Board committees will be reconstituted to comprise the Audit and Risk Committee,
a combined Remuneration and Nominations Committee, and the Corporate Social Responsibility Committee. The Company’s
Corporate Governance Charter will be updated accordingly.
Ad hoc committees are also mandated to attend to specific business matters from time to time. The existence of these committees
does not reduce the overall responsibility of the Board and, therefore, all committees must report and make recommendations to the
Board. The chairman of each committee is free to obtain independent external professional advice in the carrying out of their duties as
and when required.
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Audit and Risk Committee
The Audit and Risk Committee’s primary objective is to provide the Board with additional assurance regarding the quality and reliability
of the financial and risk management information used by the directors and to assist them in the discharge of their duties. The Audit
and Risk Committee has a minimum of three members.
Membership and meeting attendance

Members
CS Seabrooke (Chairman)
JC Botts
AS Jacobs
HRW Troskie

Date of
appointment

Independent

Number of
meetings
attended
during the
year

19 June 2009
29 January 2016
19 February 2015
20 May 2008

Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes

4/4
3/4
4/4
4/4

Attendance
record
100%
75%
100%
100%

Responsibilities in terms of the Charter of the Audit and Risk Committee include:
• Reviewing the Group’s interim and annual financial statements and changes in the Group’s accounting policies or practices;
• Providing satisfaction to the Board of the effectiveness of the internal control environment of the Group, ensuring that adequate
and appropriate financial and operating controls are in place;
• Ensuring compliance with appropriate standards of governance, reporting and other regulatory requirements in all jurisdictions;
• Reviewing the scope of the external audit, audit fee budgets and any other matters;
• Reviewing the recommendations of the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary Brait Mauritius Limited on the valuations of portfolio
investments, including the benchmarking of those valuations in the context of prevailing market conditions;
• Providing satisfaction to the Board of the performance of the contracted investment advisor, to which it receives annually from
the Group’s Internal Auditors on independent assessment of the compliance with the respective advisory agreements, as well as
consideration of BML’s formal assessment;
• Reviewing and update of the audit committee charter, internal audit charter and corporate governance charter;
• Reviewing the Group’s risk assessment and mitigating factors;
• Reviewing the Group’s long-term debt facility covenant compliance;
• Reviewing the Group’s cash flow forecast and going concern considerations;
• Reviewing the Integrated Annual Report;
• Reviewing related party services;
• Reviewing and approving internal audit, risk and compliance policies, reports and findings; and
• Ensuring that significant business, financial and other risks have been identified and are being managed.
The Audit and Risk Committee presented its conclusion on the above matters to the Board and advised the Board that it considered
the Annual report and accounts, taken as a whole, to be fair, balanced and provides the information necessary for shareholders to
assess the Group’s performance, business model and strategy.
External and Internal audit
Issues relating to accounting, auditing, internal control and financial reporting matters are discussed with the Group’s external auditors
at meetings convened on a periodic basis. Both the internal and external auditors are afforded unrestricted access to the Audit and
Risk Committee (ensuring that their independence is maintained at all times).
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The internal and external auditors meet privately with and have unrestricted access to the Audit and Risk Committee, ensuring that
their independence is maintained at all times.
The Audit and Risk Committee monitors the Company’s policy for non-audit services to ensure that the provision of such services by
the external auditors does not impair the auditors’ independence or objectivity. In order to safeguard the auditor’s independence and
objectivity, the Audit and Risk Committee is required to approve all non-audit work undertaken by the auditor, for the Company and its
subsidiaries in advance.
Treasury Committee
The Treasury Committee has the responsibility, subject to the guidance of the Board, to manage, supervise, implement and execute
the Company’s treasury and funding related matters. The Treasury Committee has a minimum of three members. Given the
Recapitalisation, responsibilities of the Treasury Committee were assumed by the Board during the year, as noted on page 63.
Membership and meeting attendance

Members
JC Botts (Chairman)
AS Jacobs
CS Seabrooke
HRW Troskie

Date of appointment

Independent

Number of
meetings
attended
during the
year

23 February 2016
23 February 2016
23 February 2016
23 February 2016

Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes

1/1
1/1
1/1
1/1

Attendance
record

100%
100%
100%
100%

Responsibilities in terms of the Charter of the Treasury Committee include:
• Reviewing the Group’s capital structure, continuously exploring new pools of efficient permanent capital;
• Regular monitoring of available Group borrowing facilities and covenants;
• Regular monitoring of cash balances, currency exposures and their placement with investment grade institutions;
• Consideration of the Group’s ordinary dividend policy, taking into account the Group’s available cash resources and debt
utilisation; and
• Consideration of any share buyback programme.
Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee has a charter and is primarily responsible for the remuneration strategy for the Group and meets
regularly to consider annual reviews, remuneration issues, incentives and policy matters. It comprises a minimum of 3 members.
Directors fees are based on an assessment of each directors’ time commitment, responsibilities, skills and experience in rendering
their services on the Board as committee members.
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Governance (continued)
Membership and meeting attendance

Members
HRW Troskie (Chairman)
PJ Moleketi (Dr CH Wiese as alternate)
Dr LL Porter
(1)

Date of
appointment

Independent

Number of
meetings
attended
during the
year (1)

24 October 2013
7 September 2009
24 October 2013

Yes
Yes
Yes

2/2
2/2
2/2

Attendance
record
100%
100%
100%

Attendance includes meetings where proxies were provided.

Responsibilities in terms of the Charter of the Remuneration Committee include:
• Reviewing the directors’ and staff remuneration based on time, responsibilities, skills and experience; and
• Reviewing the policies and remuneration for key personnel at portfolio investments to ensure adequate retention and performance
that is aligned with the Group’s strategy.
Non-executive directors’ fees
Non-executive directors do not have service agreements. Letters of appointment confirm the terms and conditions of their service.
Remuneration packages of the directors are agreed and determined by the Remuneration Committee.
In accordance with the shareholder approval obtained at the AGM held on 31 July 2019, aggregate compensation for
directors increased by 1.8% to £771 000 for FY2020. This approved level of compensation takes into consideration directors’
time commitments, responsibilities, skills and experiences in rendering their services. As set out in the Notice of the AGM
(page 147 resolution 2(c)) to be held on 13 August 2020, further to the reconstitution of the Board, a maximum aggregate amount of
compensation, subject to the effect of the £/R exchange rate, of £400 000 is proposed for the financial year ending 30 March 2021.
This represents a significant decrease on FY2020 compensation for directors, in line with the Board’s focus on reducing costs.
2020
Total fees (1)
GBP£’000

2019
Total fees (1)
GBP£’000

PJ Moleketi (Chairman)
JC Botts
AS Jacobs (2)
Dr LL Porter
CS Seabrooke
HRW Troskie (2)
Dr CH Wiese

179
94
85
42
134
85
152

176
93
83
41
132
83
149

Total

771

758

(1)
(2)
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Fees paid to the Chairman and non-executive directors for their services in those capacities on the Board and Board Committees of the Company.
In addition to their roles as non-executive directors on the Brait SE board, Mr Jacobs and Mr Troskie both serve as non-executive directors on the board of the subsidiary
company BML. For these additional services, Mr Jacobs and Mr Troskie each receive an additional £14,270 (FY2019: £9,270) paid by BML.
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Retention of key personnel
Retention of key personnel is an increasingly more complex and demanding challenge. Remuneration practices and policies
are constantly reviewed to ensure they remain competitive, entrench a high performance culture across the business, and align
performance and reward across the Group.
Nominations Committee
The Committee is responsible for adopting a formal and transparent procedure for the appointment of new directors, including
interviewing potential candidates. Final decisions on nominations are however taken by the Board. The Nominations Committee may
use the services of external search consultants when new directors are being recruited.
The Nominations Committee facilitates the annual completion of an independence self-assessment questionnaire by each
Non-Executive Director. The Committee reviews the responses and reports to the Board on each Director’s independence for the
Board’s consideration. Furthermore, the Board is of the opinion that independence is a matter of a director’s character and attitude
of mind and is not compromised after any particular length of service. The Board is therefore satisfied with the independence of
Mr HRW Troskie who has served on the Board for more than 12 years.
The Nominations Committee comprises at least three directors.
Membership and meeting attendance

Members
PJ Moleketi (Chairman) (1)
AS Jacobs
Dr LL Porter
HRW Troskie
(1)

Date of
appointment

Independent

Number of
meetings
attended
during the
year

7 September 2009
19 February 2015
24 October 2013
24 October 2013

Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes

2/2
2/2
2/2
2/2

Attendance
record
100%
100%
100%
100%

Dr Wiese serves as alternate for Mr Moleketi

Responsibilities in terms of the Charter of the Nominations Committee include:
• Supervise and review the affairs of the Board and committee composition;
• Recommendation of new directors; and
• Leadership and Board evaluations.
• Review the independence self-assessments performed annually by each director and report to the Board as appropriate.
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Governance (continued)
Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Committee
Brait and its portfolio companies have a long-standing commitment to doing business responsibly. The CSR Committee serves as a
framework for collating information from each portfolio company’s respective CSR reporting lines, ensuring that portfolio companies
have appropriate reporting lines and policies in place for the identification and assessment of CSR risks and opportunities.
Membership

Members
JC Botts (Chairman)
AS Jacobs
CS Seabrooke
HRW Troskie

Date of
appointment
21 May 2019
21 May 2019
21 May 2019
21 May 2019

Independent

Number of
meetings
attended

Attendance
record

Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes

1/1
1/1
1/1
1/1

100%
100%
100%
100%

Responsibilities in terms of the Charter of the CSR Committee include:
• Defining the Group’s corporate and social obligations and the creation of appropriate policies and measures;
• Providing satisfaction to the Board that the Group’s responsibilities to social and environmental aspects, as defined by the CSR
policies, are adequately implemented, measured and publicised;
• Identifying, analysing, evaluating and monitoring the social, political, environmental and public policy trends, issues and concerns
which could affect the Company’s business activities or performance; and
• Monitoring the Group’s engagement with external stakeholders and other interested parties.

11.3 CODE OF SHARE DEALING
The Board has adopted a code for directors’ dealing in ordinary shares. The Board is responsible for taking all proper and reasonable
steps to ensure compliance with the code.
The Group operates strict closed periods during which no dealing is allowed in Brait shares. Written notice of closed periods are sent
to all directors, employees, and the contracted investment advisor. Closed period notices are also circulated to key executives of the
Group’s major portfolio companies. The periods operate:
• Between the end of the interim and final reporting periods until the release of the Group’s results; and
• During any period when trading under a cautionary announcement.
Directors are similarly restricted relative to any listed portfolio investments the Group may hold from time to time.
On 3 July 2016, Regulation (EU) No 596/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 April 2014 on market abuse (MAR)
came into effect. The Group maintains a register of notified transactions. All persons are required to notify the Company Secretary in
advance of any transaction in any form of Company securities whether concluded on any of its listed stock exchanges or off-market
or whether transacting in any derivative involving Company securities, whether listed or unlisted. In terms of the (MAR), persons
discharging managerial responsibilities (“PDMR’s”) and closely associated persons (“CAP’s”) are required to inform the competent
authority of any transactions involving the securities of the issuer. Transactions by PDMR’s and CAP’s involving Brait shares are
reported to the Malta Financial Services Authority in Malta and the Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier in Luxembourg
within 3 business days following such transaction. Such transactions are disclosed to the public in terms of the MAR by means of
an announcement which is published on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange website, the Brait website as well as the SENS of the
Johannesburg Stock Exchange within three business days of the transaction involving the PDMR or CAP taking place. Furthermore,
details of directors’ dealings in Brait shares are disclosed to the Board and to the public through its Integrated Annual Report.
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Directors’ dealings in Brait shares for the year under review
Number of shares
Closing Balance: 31 March 2019

Direct
Beneficial

Indirect
Beneficial

Total

Net
transactions
during the
year
Purchases/
(Sales)

PJ Moleketi
JC Botts
AS Jacobs
Dr LL Porter
CS Seabrooke (1)
HRW Troskie
Dr CH Wiese (2)

–
–
–
–
–
50 000
–

466 073
–
–
–
4 000 000
–
184 095 593

466 073
–
–
–
4 000 000
50 000
184 095 593

–
–
–
–
(4 000 000)
84 350
135 716 015

–
–
–
–
–
134 350
–

466 073
–
–
–
–
–
319 811 608

466 073
–
–
–
–
134 350
319 811 608

Total

50 000

188 561 666

188 611 666

131 800 365

134 350

320 277 681

320 412 031

Director

Closing Balance: 31 March 2020

Direct
Beneficial

Indirect
Beneficial

Total

(1)

As at 31 March 2020 CS Seabrooke held GBP3 million of face value of the Brait issued 2024 convertible bonds

(1)

The table above is prepared in terms of the requirements of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and does not include trades by closely associated persons (CAP’s) reported to
the market in terms of the MAR. CAP’s of Dr Wiese at 31 March 2020 held 32 823 537 shares (31 March 2019: 31 918 384).

There were no changes to the directors’ interests between 31 March 2020 and the results announcement date of 24 June 2020.
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Management of risks
OVERVIEW
The Board is composed of entirely non-executive directors and has the independent investment committee function for the Group to
approve all investment related decisions. The Board is charged with the responsibility for implementing and maintaining a risk management
strategy governing the Group’s investment function and related processes.
Risk management is the process of avoiding unacceptable losses, namely those losses that are not planned for. Risk management does
not mean risk avoidance, but rather is the process of extracting optimum reward from an acceptable risk exposure whilst minimising cost.
A systematic framework is designed to ensure that risk management considerations are appropriately understood, controlled and integrated
into decision-making.
Best practice recommends that the purpose of a formalised risk management framework (setting out appropriate policies, controls and
procedures) is to provide a set of directives and guidelines to regulate the activities of the Group and to resolve potential conflicts of interest
between stakeholders. In addition, a formalised risk management framework serves as a reference for the contracted investment advisor to
understand the Board’s requirements and how their own activities relate to the entire operation. Sound policies ensure that transactions are
executed in accordance with the terms of the Board’s authorisation and that the contracted investment advisor’s actions are consistent at
all times.
The Board is ultimately responsible for any financial loss or reduction in shareholder value. It is therefore responsible for recognising all risks
to which the Group is exposed and ensuring that the requisite culture, practices, policies and systems are in place. To achieve this, the
Board has closely defined the duties and responsibilities of the significant structural elements of the Group’s risk management systems and
processes on the one hand, and risk monitoring on the other.
Certain functions are delegated to the Audit and Risk Committee. See page 64.
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RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK
The Brait Risk Management Framework (RMF) is depicted graphically below:

• Capital allocation
• Business strategy and financial plans
• Performance measures

Risk strategy,
objectives and
appetite

• Risk identification and assessment
• Risk aggregation
• Risk ranking

Risk register

•	Investors and analysts
• Capital providers
• Regulators

• Clear accountability and risk responsibility
• Risk policies

External communication and
stakeholder relationships

Governance and organisational structure
and policies

Ongoing risk assessment, business
performance, capital management

Brait – Risk management framework
The four primary objectives of Brait’s RMF are:
• Strategy – high-level goals, aligned with and supporting the organisation’s mission;
• Operations – effective and efficient use of resources;
• Financial reporting – reliability of operational and financial reporting; and
• Compliance – compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
The RMF contains or references to the following risk management elements:
• Risk management strategy and objectives;
• Responsibilities and delegations of authority;
• Committees responsible for the oversight and monitoring of risk;
• Risk management and control policies;
• Recruitment, training and succession planning; and
• Business continuity (continuation plans established to address disruption to normal business operations).
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Management of risks (continued)
The individual components of the RMF are tailored for the requirements of each business function, and are directed towards each key step
in Brait’s risk management cycle.
RISK STRATEGY, OBJECTIVES AND APPETITE
The business planning process is conducted annually in February, setting out strategic priorities and considerations for the next financial
year, as well as articulating longer term objectives and targets in terms of inter alia performance, quality of assets, capital utilisation.
This business planning process is managed contemporaneously with the annual budgeting exercise, ensuring that operational and financial
goals are appropriately aligned and subjected to rigorous scrutiny, reasonability testing and scenario analysis.
As part of the risk strategy and business planning process, determination is made of:
• Capital to be placed at risk as a result of investment activities;
• Responsibility for the active management of financial risk arising from each investment;
• Policies regarding the extent of risk exposures which may be assumed; and
• Policies regarding the instruments that may be used.
Individual objectives for each investment are defined, including where relevant:
• Funding;
• Investment; and
• Hedging.
The Board has established a set of risk limits to control the extent of risk exposures arising from investment activities. The nature of the risk
exposures are adequately understood and policies considered appropriate given the expertise of the contracted investment advisor and the
extent of other risk exposures.
RISK REGISTER
The risk management requirements and relevant investment and accounting processes and activities are assessed to determine their
materiality and risk to the operation. This is achieved through the Risk Register, which is submitted to the Audit and Risk Committee.
The Risk Register addresses the following key components of the RMF (and the risk management cycle):
• Risk/event identification classified according to key risk areas for Brait, and where applicable, consider risks/events identified in the
portfolio companies which may impact these key risk areas;
• Risk assessment (involving the quantification of a severity rating);
• Risk response through mitigating factors and controls;
• Control activities (involving the assessment of the effectiveness of identified controls and mitigating factors, resulting in the quantification
of the residual risk exposure); and
• Information and communication (including the identification of the risk owner).
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These can be depicted graphically as:

nd
ra
o
t
ni ort
Mo rep

Reporting:
•	To Board, Audit and
Risk Committee, regulators,
investors

e
nag
Ma sures
o
exp

Risk management tools
include:
•	Independence (segregation)
of key steps (measurement,
management and monitoring/
reporting)
•	Internal control framework
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authority framework
•	Independent evaluation
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Monitoring:
• lnvestment regular reporting
• Compliance function reviews
•	lnternal and external audit
reviews

Risk management tools include:
•	Policy and procedure framework
•	System and process documentation
•	Security and access controls (physical and
logical)
•	Disaster Recovery Plan and Business
Continuity Plan
•	Segregation of duties
•	Financial controls (including reconciliations)
•	Fraud prevention

Risk exposures identified
according to following
framework:
•	Business model risks
•	Macro-environment risks
•	Stakeholder risks
•	Financial risks
•	Legal and regulatory risks
•	Compliance risks
•	Taxation risks
•	Investment asset risks

Inherent risk rating =
Business impact (severity
rating) x likelihood
(probability rating)
Residual risk = inherent
risk rating – control/
mitigant effectiveness

IMPACT OF CORONAVIRUS
The unexpected and unprecedented impact that the Coronavirus has and continues to have on global markets and companies is well
known. As at reporting date, global valuation multiples had fallen sharply and short-term profitability, liquidity and gearing in some businesses
has been impacted materially, impacting the valuation of Brait’s portfolio, in particular Virgin Active.
The safety of staff and customers across the Group’s portfolio of companies is top priority and we are fully supportive of the various
government initiatives to curb the impact and spread of the Coronavirus. Brait’s portfolio companies have implemented effective measures
to protect the health and safety of staff and customers and have business continuity plans in place to deal with the impacts of Coronavirus.
In some instances this is focused on reducing costs, preserving cash and maximizing liquidity through this difficult period. In other cases,
the challenge is to ensure the portfolio companies can deliver demand for their customers in a safe manner.
As set out in the investment portfolio discussion in section 9 of Brait’s Integrated Annual Report, each portfolio company has been
impacted differently and the management teams continue to assess the impact of the Coronavirus and refine strategies to mitigate this
impact. Engagement with key stakeholders continues across our portfolio to ensure appropriate actions are instituted given the changed
operating environment.
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Management of risks (continued)
KEY RISKS
The Group’s key business risks and responses are summarised as:
Context

Risk description and response

Liquidity

Access to facilities is key to the Group’s business model and ensuring prompt response to investment
opportunities:
• Insufficient capital for investments and working capital and inability to meet current and future liabilities
o	Following the conclusion of the Recapitalisation, comprising of the Rights Offer, issuance of a new 5 year
Convertible Bond and new 3 year tenor RCF, the Group’s balance sheet has been strengthened with the material
reduction and extension of maturities of Brait’s debt. The Group has available credit facilities with banks and also
actively pursues alternative capital raising mechanisms
o	Cash generated in excess of portfolio company’s needs is monitored with a view to distribute to the Group
o	Regular interaction with the Group’s bankers ensure strong working relationships across the Group and
portfolio. Discussions are held with the senior credit executives of the Lenders post the interim and final results
presentations in order to facilitate a good understanding of the Group’s operations
o	Cash flow forecasts are regularly monitored across the Group
o	Covenants embedded within the banking facilities and long-term debt are monitored on an ongoing basis for
compliance, and form part of the regular stress tests
o	The Board monitors optimal gearing levels both at Group and portfolio company levels. Stress testing ensures
early detection should any concerns arise
o	Specific focus on reduction of debt levels and serviceability from maintainable free cash flow

Group NAV

Growth in NAV drives the Group’s business model:
• Underperformance by portfolio companies
o	Thorough due diligence and analytical assessments are completed by the Group on all investments considered by
the Board
o	Consideration is given to appropriate gearing levels for each portfolio company based on sustainable EBITDA and
cash flow conversion.
o	The Group is represented on portfolio company boards and interact frequently with their line management teams
to ensure concerns are identified early, enabling preventative actions to be taken
o	Performance across the portfolio companies is regularly monitored through latest management accounts and
comparisons to budget
o	The Group receives feedback on portfolio companies from BML on at least a quarterly basis
• Exchange rate fluctuations
o	The Group continuously monitors its currency exposures, entering into hedging strategies where necessary
• Key risks identified at the portfolio company level
o	The Group assesses and continually monitors the key risks identified by each portfolio company ensuring these
are appropriately addressed.
o	Active involvement across the portfolio companies allow for early identification and appropriate management of
any perceived risks.
• Economic outlook
o	Economic outlook is continually monitored and discussed with respective management teams to ensure portfolio
companies are well placed
o	Portfolio company management teams have proactively implemented plans to address the unprecedented
impact of the Coronavirus, with a focus on health and safety of customers, reducing costs, preserving cash and
maximising liquidity to manage through this difficult period. Engagement with key stakeholders continues across
the portfolio to ensure appropriate actions are instituted given the changed operating environment.
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Context

Risk description and response

People

Alignment is a key investment thesis for the Group and a major contributor to addressing reliance on
directors/individuals:
• Loss of key individuals at Group level, portfolio company level and in professional advisors
o	The Remuneration and Nomination Committees review the appropriateness of the Board’s membership and
remuneration
o	Key management at portfolio company level are aligned with the Group’s interests through sizeable shareholdings
in the respective companies they work for
o	Portfolio companies have succession plans in place. Where appropriate these are monitored and managed by
either the Board or Nomination Committees at portfolio company level
o	The Group has long-term contracts with professional advisors, which include key man clauses
o	Short-term engagements include a team from the advisors and are not negotiated with any one individual

Legislation

The Group’s ability to manage compliance with all relevant legislation across the jurisdictions it operates in:
• Non-compliance with stock exchange requirements
o	The Group utilises external service providers to assist with the compliance of the various requirements for the
Group’s listing on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (Group’s primary listing) and Johannesburg Stock Exchange
(Group’s secondary listing)
o	Closed period notices are circulated to all directors, employees, the contracted investment advisor and key
executives of the Group’s major portfolio companies when required (see 11.3 code of share dealing on page 68)
• Non-compliance with legislation, tax and exchange controls
o	The Group has retained legal advisors in the various jurisdictions it operates in
o	Tax advisors in the various jurisdictions assist the Group identify and mitigate tax risks, including transactional and
operational tax compliance, legislative changes in tax, court decisions of tax rulings and country tax risk
o	Meetings are held with Regulators and Authorised Dealers regarding exchange control rulings obtained and the
impact on the Group’s transactions
o	The Group monitors the businesses it invests in to commit to compliance in all its forms with anti-bribery, antifraud and anti-money laundering laws applicable to them

Financial

Effective financial controls maintenance ensures safeguarding of assets and early response to any
emerging risks:
• Financial risk management
o	This is fully detailed in the annual financial statements from page 131
o	The Group’s internal and external audit plan covers key systems and controls on rolling basis, with findings
reported to the Audit and Risk Committee
• Portfolio company level
o	Representation on portfolio company audit and risk committees
o	Internal audit function encouraged across the portfolio
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Management of risks (continued)
Context

Risk description and response

Systems

The proper alignment of IT systems which support business processes and procedures to deal with
disaster recovery with the least amount of interruption:
• Inadequate IT system processes and procedures to deal with disaster recovery
o Disaster recovery plans are in place at both the Group and portfolio company level
o Servers appropriately backed up to the Group’s disaster recovery site
• Insufficient protection from malicious IT attacks
o Servers are segmented with users having unique passwords with increased authentication measures

The Board is comfortable with the level of combined assurance obtained from the Audit and Risk and Treasury committees, the internal
and external auditors and the contracted investment advisor relative to the Group’s key risks and its control environment. The Group
is also reliant on the risk management operations of its portfolio companies and manages risk through representation on the portfolio
company’s boards.
Nothing has come to the attention of the Board that has caused it to believe that the Group’s systems of internal controls and risk
management are not effective.
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Corporate Social Responsibility
SUSTAINABILITY
Brait follows the X Principles of Corporate Governance of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (LuxSE) that aim at ensuring market standards
through transparency, business ethics and controls. Specifically, Principle 9 outlines the expectations regarding Corporate Social
Responsibility (CSR). Under CSR, Brait acknowledges that it is not sufficient to focus solely on the bottom line, recognising the importance
of building and sustaining long-term reciprocal relationships with all stakeholders. Direct stakeholders are shareholders, clients, investors,
employees, suppliers, government and regulators. Indirect stakeholders include the communities and the environments in which Brait and its
portfolio companies operate. Brait reports annually on the significant initiatives focused on by each of the portfolio companies in which Brait
has a majority shareholding, as well as projects supported by the Brait Foundation.
Brait is cognisant of the LuxSE’s ‘Guide to ESG Reporting’ that was released in October 2019. Brait has reviewed the requirements of the
Guide with a view to reporting on the recommended Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) information and will be working with its
portfolio companies in the coming year on the ESG data collection processes relevant to each portfolio company.
BRAIT’S CSR
Brait supports various projects through the Brait Foundation, as well as overseeing the CSR initiatives undertaken by its portfolio companies.
The focus for the year ahead will be on enhanced accountability for CSR performance indicators at the portfolio companies and on greater
uniformity and intensity of CSR reporting metrics through continued engagement with each portfolio company.
HOW IS CSR MANAGED?
Responsibility for CSR has been delegated by the Board to the CSR Committee, with the chairman of the CSR Committee reporting directly
to the Board. The CSR Committee has established terms of reference and meets annually to review progress of any CSR initiatives across
the Group and where relevant, to agree activities to support relevant programmes undertaken by portfolio companies.
Brait aims to integrate the CSR aspects in its strategy for the creation of long-term value. Brait’s philosophy is to be invested in companies
that offer long-term growth potential and looks for responsible management in businesses which take account of their stakeholders’
interests, treat their employees fairly and respect the environment.
The management teams of Brait’s portfolio companies pride themselves on their respective CSR programmes, which have been a key focus
for many years, and for which they take responsibility for setting and executing on. In keeping with the LuxSE’s Principle 9, CSR for Brait
and its portfolio companies is defined broadly and encompasses environmental and social initiatives. The CSR Committee serves as the
framework for collating information from each portfolio company’s respective CSR reporting lines.
To achieve its commitment to sustainability, the CSR Committee focuses on:
• Compliance with country-specific regulations governing the protection of the environment, labour, occupational health and safety and
business practices;
• Ensuring that portfolio companies have appropriate reporting lines and policies in place to deal with the identification, management and
reporting of CSR risks and opportunities;
• Appropriate assessment of CSR risks and opportunities, forming part of due diligence when considering potential acquisition
opportunities, and ensuring that necessary monitoring procedures are implemented post acquisition.
KEY AREAS OF FOCUS
Brait and its portfolio companies have a long-standing commitment to doing business responsibly, with a vision to create long-term value
for Brait and its portfolio companies and society in general. For each portfolio company, CSR has a particular meaning which relates to that
company’s operations and impacts. As the Group is predominantly consumer facing, the following areas have been identified as key for Brait
and its portfolio companies:
• People (health and well-being, quality education, addressing poverty and hunger, and inequality); and
• Responsible consumption and production (minimising the impact on marine and land resources and climate change).
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Corporate Social Responsibility (continued)
PEOPLE
Impact of the Coronavirus Pandemic
Whilst the unexpected and unprecedented impact that the Coronavirus is having on global markets and companies is well known, the extent
and severity of this virus at this stage remains uncertain.
The safety of staff and customers is the Group’s top priority and Brait is fully supportive of the various government initiatives to curb the
impact and spread of the Coronavirus. Brait’s portfolio companies have implemented effective measures to protect the health and safety of
staff and customers and have business continuity plans in place to deal with the impacts of Coronavirus.
All Virgin Active gyms (including South Africa, Italy, the UK, Australia, Thailand and Singapore) were closed by 25 March 2020 as part of
those governments’ initiatives to limit the spread of Coronavirus. A key priority at this time has been the welfare of its 9,400 employees and
their future job security. During this closure period, Virgin Active implemented a “free membership freeze” whereby memberships are retained
without members having to make payment during the freeze period. Once territories reopen, the membership freeze is lifted, allowing the
company to access monthly dues from its members.
Prior to respective territory lockdowns, the company had put in place extensive cleaning and sanitisation procedures to ensure that the
gyms were a safe place for its members and its staff, including:
• The size of the cleaning teams and the frequency of cleaning was increased, with particular focus on high-touch areas;
• The size of group classes was reduced by 50%;
• Water fountains and kids club facilities were closed;
• Boxing pads, gloves, Yoga belts, Suspension Yoga hammocks, and resistance bands were temporarily removed from club floors;
• Additional hand sanitisers, disinfectant sprays and paper towels were introduced throughout the clubs.
The focus continues on ensuring that appropriate sanitation measures remain in place and that government-regulated social distancing
requirements are stringently adhered to as the gyms safely reopen to safeguard the health and wellness of members and staff. Refer to
page 32 of the Annual Report for the status of club reopenings.
As a fast-moving-consumer-goods (FMCG) manufacturer providing staple foods, Premier’s products have been classified as “essential
goods” during the Coronavirus lockdown period in South Africa and the other countries (Mozambique, Eswatini and Lesotho) in which it
operates. Accordingly, Premier continued with full production and operations. Management continues to monitor the possible consequences
of the virus on the business and is at the forefront in developing operating protocols to prevent and mitigate any potential impacts.
Premier’s specific Coronavirus initiatives to support its 7,400 employees and communities survive the pandemic include:
• Front line employee bonus: Premier thanked its employees for tirelessly and selflessly providing an essential service at the “front line”
during the Coronavirus lockdown in South Africa with a bonus paid to each staff member at the end of April 2020.
• Operational initiatives during South Africa’s lockdown: Premier contracted private taxis across South Africa to transport its workforce to
its major sites and hired private nurses to screen each employee on arrival at its manufacturing sites. Medical doctors were also available
to refer employees to testing sites. Each major site was comprehensively and repeatedly sprayed with a static spray to keep the work
environment safe. The wellbeing of employees was prioritised by providing face masks for all employees, making hand sanitiser refill
stations available, by providing onsite lunches and by adhering to social distancing throughout the organisation. All premier vehicles were
sanitised after each trip and drivers and their assistants were also provided with masks and sanitisers when delivering products.
• Solidarity Fund: Premier contributed to the Solidarity Fund, the South African vehicle established to collate individual and organisational
donations to prevent, detect, care and support for South Africans during the pandemic. Premier also donated to the Eswatini and
Lesotho governments to assist with their Coronavirus initiatives.
• Premier is providing support in the form of significant donations of products to three registered NGO’s for them to distribute substantial
volumes of food (and sanitary products) to a large number of people and communities across South Africa. These organisations either
have their own depot and transport infrastructure or work with local charities in the communities and deliver a basket of groceries/food
hampers sourced from a number of different suppliers. The charities selected to be supported are:
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o African Children Feeding Scheme (ACFS) operates mostly from a central depot in South Africa’s Gauteng province. Premier delivers
to this depot with ACFS making up grocery hampers to deliver to homes in need. Many of the large FMCG manufacturers work with
ACFS to supply food whilst ACFS also receives donations, vehicles and other support from other businesses.
o Gift of the Givers operates throughout South Africa and in many other countries on the continent, offering food and medical support
for disaster relief. Gift of the Givers is actively involved in providing food, sanitary products and other support to medical staff and
patients at quarantine facilities in the major centres.
o FoodForward operates throughout South Africa with several depots in the major regions and outlying towns. They largely work with
short dated stock and returns from retailers to prevent dumping of consumable products but also receive direct donations from food
manufacturers as well as financial support and logistical support from the industry. FoodForward is working closely with Consumer
Goods Council of South Africa (CGCSA) member companies during the Coronavirus pandemic to increase the supply of food and
other consumables to consumers in need.
• Local site initiatives during South Africa’s lockdown: Premier’s sites had autonomy to assist with local ad hoc and incremental
Coronavirus programmes within certain parameters during South Africa’s lockdown.
Iceland Food’s stores and online offering remained open during the lockdown imposed by the UK government. Iceland’s specific
Coronavirus initiatives to assist their 25,000 employees and communities during the crisis include:
• Front line employee bonus: Iceland awarded bonuses to front line store staff during April 2020.
• Operational initiatives: Iceland introduced a range of measures for the benefit of its staff and customers in line with the UK market.
Staff were provided with face masks and clear perspex screens were installed at checkouts. Floor markings were added to store
checkouts to encourage customers to keep a safe distance when queuing. Iceland also elected to reduce store opening hours to give its
staff more time to tidy up and to replenish shelves. They also restricted store entries so that social distancing could be observed in store.
• Store initiative: Iceland led the UK market in announcing dedicated store opening times for “over 70’s” and for NHS staff.
• ageUK: Iceland contributed to ageUK to support older people survive the pandemic. ageUK is the leading charity for older people in
the United Kingdom - it exists to help older people when they need it most by providing information and advice, tackling loneliness and
helping older people to stay active and independent for longer, by providing health and care services and conducting research to make
life better for older people today and tomorrow.
• National Emergencies Trust: Iceland encouraged donations to the National Emergencies Trust (NET), a UK organisation that collaborates
with charities and other bodies to raise and distribute money and support victims at the time of a domestic disaster. Iceland included a
“donate” banner on its homepage and links via its social media channels to enable shoppers to easily donate to NET’s Coronavirus fund
raising appeal.
The Brait Foundation, Brait’s primary CSI initiative, was established in July 2000 to provide better opportunities to previously
disadvantaged communities primarily in South Africa, largely through education and specifically focussing on foundation level maths and
literacy. The Brait Foundation takes a long-term view on a limited number of projects in the territories and areas it has selected to focus on.
The Brait Foundation made financial contributions to the Solidarity Fund and the following South African programmes to support people and
animals negatively affected by the Coronavirus pandemic and its social distancing lockdown on the South African economy:
• One Small Act of Kindness: a charity that provides a safe-haven for children, meals for the homeless on a Thursday night, clothing for the
needy and food and care for animals in distress. The charity also operates an agency to find odd-job employment for artisans offering a
variety of skills, to upskill and rehabilitate the needy.
• FeedSA: a non-profit organisation that believes that every person has a right to be fed, to be educated and to live with dignity. FeedSA
feeds around 6,500 people a day and has successfully set up creches, feeding schemes and classrooms in informal settlements
across South Africa. The organisation works with the communities to ensure all their projects are self-sustaining and operating at their
highest potential.
• Salvation Army: includes day-care centres for both pre-school children and senior citizens, goodwill centres, health services, creches,
homes for street children, abused women, men and the elderly, as well as community programmes, rehabilitation centres, social centres
and schools.
• Four Paws: a global and independent voice for animals under direct human influence, inspired by the vision of a world where people treat
animals with respect, empathy and understanding.
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• SPCA (Sandton and Tshwane): assist with the prevention of cruelty to animals and the provision of places of safety and care for all
animals in distress in the Sandton and Tshwane areas in South Africa. SPCA work encompasses all animals, including wildlife, equine
and farm animals, marine life and animals used for experimentation.
Given the impact of the Coronavirus, senior executives at Brait’s investment advisor,
EPE, volunteered salary sacrifices as a consequence of which, EPE voluntarily reduced
its advisory fee for the April – June 2020 quarter by 25%. Brait board members also
volunteered a reduction of their directors’ fees by 25% for this quarter.
Good health and well-being
Virgin Active has always believed in making exercise accessible for everyone, anytime,
anywhere, and this includes making exercise accessible to people with disabilities. Virgin
Active South Africa partnered with the Roxy Davis Foundation to support an Adaptive
Surf programme done on modified surf equipment to help people with disabilities (ranging
from cerebral palsy and amputations to blindness as well as mental disabilities) get active
in the water. One of the programme’s participants made it to the World Championships
in California winning second place as part of the South African National Team. Virgin
Active UK has partnered with The Valuable 500 to ensure disability is part of the business
leadership agenda, and has commenced an accessibility audit of all its clubs and will look
at measures to ensure these are as accessible as possible and inclusive for all.
Globally Virgin Active rolled out digital content to its members over various platforms,
and in some instances the general public, during the various lockdowns imposed during
the Coronavirus pandemic, building on its digital strategy already envisioned prior to the
current crisis.
Premier’s Lil-Lets is a key sponsor of the Hlokomela Banana initiative, donating personal
care products to girls in Lesotho with the aim of keeping girls in school while they are
menstruating. 318 schools have been adopted to date through the programme, reaching
and keeping over 90,000 girls at school. The campaign has extended beyond the supply
of sanitary pads to an SMS ‘Adopt a Girl’ initiative which has seen 625 girls being adopted
since its launch.
Lil-Lets’ ongoing CSI initiative aims to empower disadvantaged girls with body and
menstruation knowledge and mentoring opportunities. The programme has been run in
21 disadvantaged schools in Kwa-Zulu Natal and Gauteng to-date, achieving pleasing
results, which include: 20 school bathroom upgrades, 29 educational workshops per
quarter, donation of 38,000 sanitary products and the creation of 270 brand ambassadors.
In addition, 20,000 tampons were distributed to 35 schools outside of the current school
program.
Lil-lets has been involved with the Imbumba Foundation’s Caring4Girls initiative which
focuses on the distribution of sanitary materials to help keep adolescent girls in school
during their monthly cycles. The initiative also provides health education on puberty and
adolescence to demystify menstrual related myths and break down societal taboos.
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Iceland Foods has continued to make an important contribution to the community through the work of the Iceland Foods Charitable
Foundation (Iceland Foundation). The Iceland Foundation raises and donates some £5 million each year and for the last decade has
focused primarily on supporting UK dementia charities. It has committed over £17 million to help beat dementia since 2011. In March 2018
the Iceland Foundation fulfilled its pledge to donate £10 million to support the development of the new London hub of the UK Dementia
Research Institute, a year ahead of schedule. A further £10 million was raised for this project by the UCL Retail Partnership which was
created by Iceland with nine other retailers pledging to donate some or all their revenues from the sale of single-use carrier bags to dementia
research. Iceland’s charity partner for the 2019/2020 year is Alzheimer’s Research UK. Over 23,000 Iceland staff have been trained to be
Dementia Friends.
In July 2019 the Foundation committed £340,000 funding to develop the Backyard Nature campaign, aimed at connecting the poorest
children in the UK with nature within their own neighbourhoods. The campaign won the support of 22 NGO partners, including the country’s
best-known environmental charities, and was supported publicly by Her Royal Highness the Duchess of Cambridge. Backyard Nature
enabled children to plant 15 million wildflower seeds in September 2019 and 330,000 bug hotel kits were distributed from Iceland stores in
February 2020.
Other significant donations by the Iceland Foundation in its FY2020 included £250,000 to the UK Sepsis Trust, with which Iceland worked to
raise awareness of sepsis by funding a Schools Against Sepsis campaign and by adding messaging to Iceland own label milk bottles; and
£100,000 to the British Lung Foundation.
Previously, the Iceland Foundation has also made significant contributions to Prostate Cancer UK (£1 million since 2005), Help For Heroes
(£1.5 million since 2010), the Royal British Legion (£1 million since 2014), and the new Defence & National Rehabilitation Centre (£1 million
by 2018).
In the 1980s Iceland was the first UK food retailer to remove artificial colours, flavourings and non-essential preservatives from its own label
products, and in the 1990s Iceland was the first in the world to introduce a ban on genetically modified ingredients in its own label food, a
move that was quickly copied by the whole UK food retailing industry. Iceland also banned mechanically recovered meat from all Iceland
own label products in 1990. Iceland has committed to end the sale of eggs from caged hens in its UK stores by 2025.
Quality education
Virgin Active South Africa focuses on providing new skills to learners giving them the opportunity to earn externally recognised
qualifications. During its financial year ended 31 December 2019, over 230 learners participated in these learnership programmes.
The majority of the participants were unemployed and graduated, moving into permanent roles in the business. Virgin Active UK have
rolled out apprenticeship programmes focused on junior management skills development via its Evolve programme, along with a lifeguard
apprenticeship currently in pilot phase. In addition, it is designing a training Academy, aimed at developing the best fitness professionals in
the industry, and providing them with access to job opportunities within its clubs.
Premier invests in various skill development initiatives including graduate development, CEO bursaries, study assistance and on-the job
training and leadership development. The group’s internal training initiatives benefitted over 5,400 employees in FY2020, whilst external
training initiatives benefitted in excess of 2,400 employees. Premier is involved in various community-based projects where it supplies
learning material and baking aids to training institutions.
In Malta, the Brait Foundation continued to contribute to the Malta Community Chest Fund.
In Mauritius, the Brait Foundation continued its sponsorship of a Mauritian rugby development programme (The Barbarian Sports Trust)
designed to attract young Mauritian players, specifically from vulnerable and socially disadvantaged communities and to give them the
opportunity to enjoy and excel in a sporting code that has worldwide application. The 2020 and 2019 sponsorships assisted the Mauritian
Barbarian Women’s 7’s Team, comprised of Mauritian women from disadvantaged backgrounds, to participate in the 2019 and 2018
Emirates Dubai 7’s Tournaments.
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In South Africa, the Brait Foundation continued to support:
• The Tomorrow Trust – a non-profit organisation focused on the educational needs of orphans and vulnerable children, providing them
nutritious meals, transport to and from hosting schools, course material and stationery.
• COUNT – a non-profit organisation involved in numeracy programmes throughout South Africa.
• Gadra – a well-established NGO based in the Eastern Cape of South Africa aimed at improving practice in education to the nineteen
public primary schools in Grahamstown, with a particular focus on improving literacy levels.
• Realema Teacher Intern Programme – founded in 2013, Realema is a teacher intern programme that offers support to prospective
teachers during their final year at high school and throughout their long-distance university studies and internships. The Brait Foundation
supports this programme via full bursaries to selected candidates to study for a teacher’s degree at UNISA, while gathering work
experience via an internship at top schools in Johannesburg.
• Salvazione Preparatory School – started in 1991 to accommodate learners from Slovo Park informal settlement in Johannesburg who
were unable to attend local schools due to their dire financial and personal circumstances. There are currently around 250 learners from
Grade R to Grade 7 attending the school, which also provides a daily feeding scheme for all learners.
• The Alexandra Education Committee (AEC) – provides bursaries, additional educational and psychosocial support for high-school
education at quality high schools for academically promising learners from low-income families in Alexandra, Johannesburg. In addition,
the AEC has a Saturday programme for Grade 7 learners from primary schools in Alexandra to prepare them for high school.
Poverty and hunger
Virgin Active South Africa set up emergency relief drop-off points in partnership with Gift of the Givers at 115 health clubs across the
country to help with relief efforts after the heavy rains over the 2019 Easter claimed many lives, caused massive landslides, and left hundreds
of people displaced or missing. This initiative made it easy for the public to drop off
non-perishable food, blankets, clothing and hygiene items to assist areas devastated by
the floods.
Virgin Active South Africa embarked on a new journey with its investment and support
of the official launch of the Branson Centre of Entrepreneurship in South Africa. Virgin
Active views this support as a key milestone to delivering on the social enterprises goal of
creating 10,000 new jobs in South Africa through entrepreneurship. Through its launch, an
entrepreneur Lolo Ndlovu was able to establish his sneaker-cleaning services as a stopand-drop inside the Virgin Active Claremont health club in Cape Town. The Branson Centre
has played a pivotal role in the business development of the I Love Coffee Group, an
impact-focused premium coffee brand, supplying coffee and food services by employing
and training deaf baristas and kitchen staff, with one of their first cafés launched at Virgin
Active’s national head office in Cape Town.
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Premier’s Snowflake co-sponsored the Bake-for-Profit initiative, a course designed to
teach both baking and business skills. Snowflake’s support consisted of providing baking
kits for each student on registration, printing of the learning material pack, as well as
sponsored flour and baking powder used in training by Learn to Earn and its 3 associate
centres around the country. With the high unemployment rate in South Africa, the Bakefor-Profit initiative is addressing one of the deepest needs in communities throughout the
country - the right to earn a living and the opportunity to do so. During the year under
review a total of 272 people registered for training with 250 graduating. The majority of
graduates are now self-employed and running businesses focused around baking.
Premier’s Blue Ribbon Ultimate Sandwich Experience is a sandwich-making initiative
where bakeries, mills, depots from different regions are challenged to make as many
sandwiches as possible, using Blue Ribbon bread, for donation to communities in need
in the surrounding areas. 187 000 sandwiches were made in the year under review. Blue
Ribbon also pledged to provide bread to various NGO’s while Manhattan Sweets donated
250 cases of sweets to the Santa Shoe Box project, a project which gifted a shoebox of
8 essential items and treats to more than 950,000 children during the year under review.
Premier also contributed to various initiatives during August 2019 to assist the northern
region of Mozambique which was ravaged by Cyclone Idai.
Iceland Foods is committed to reducing its food waste by 50% by 2030 and has seen
a drop of 23.2% in the last two years. All unsold food from depots is donated to support
challenged communities and in 2019 the business ran a successful 12-month trial to give
any unsold food left in stores to colleagues at the end of the day.
Reduced inequality
Virgin Active is committed to fairness, equality and inclusion at all levels of the business
and employs a diverse workforce. In South Africa, Virgin Active supports employment
equity guidelines, issued by the government, which encourage the appointment and
advancement of previously disadvantaged individuals. Virgin Active South Africa’s current workforce demographics represent 58% female
across the business, with the intent to achieve 50% female representation across all management levels within the business. To ensure the
success of this gender agenda, the company has a number of measures in place to ensure females are given the same opportunity to grow
within the organisation, including a minimum of 50% intake for all management development programs and learning interventions, as well as
identifying key management roles that are designated for female applicants. Virgin Active UK’s current workforce demographics represent
49% female across the business, with the intent to achieve 50% female representation across all management levels. In 2020 Virgin Active
UK participated in the Women of the World (WOW) festival, a global movement celebrating women and girls, and taking a frank look at the
obstacles they face. Virgin Active UK has committed to a holistic Diversity & Inclusion strategy led by the Executive Team with six focus
areas: Gender, Age and Life stage, Ethnicity, Disability, LGBTQ+ and Social Equality.
Premier’s workforce is diverse in terms of race, gender and origin and it commits itself to cementing a strong and effective organisational
culture through the development of a shared set of common values (“The Premier Way”) rooted in dignity and equality of all people.
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RESPONSIBLE CONSUMPTION AND PRODUCTION
Consumption and production
Virgin Active has always prided itself on being a sustainable and environmentally aware organisation. Supporting its commitment to achieve
Net Zero Waste Water by 2030 across all properties in South Africa, Virgin Active was awarded silver at the 2019 Eco-Logic Awards.
The Constantia club in Cape Town is the first gym to have been awarded a Net Zero Waste certification by the Green Building Council.
Virgin Active aims to work in partnership with its suppliers to meet sustainability challenges and to ensure that they, and their suppliers, work
to the same standards and principles and share the same objectives to ensure responsible procurement. Virgin Active considers its supply
chain to be one of the most powerful routes to addressing its sustainability impacts. To ensure visibility of what is happening across its
supply chain, Virgin Active has developed a Supplier Code of Conduct (“Code”) which it requires each supplier to confirm their agreement to
and compliance with. The Code outlines a set of sustainability principles that suppliers are expected to follow, covering three main areas:
• Human rights and labour practices
• Environmental management
• Business ethics
Virgin Active uses the Code to build a more focused and targeted approach to identify sustainability risks and opportunities in its supply
chain, while regularly asking suppliers to confirm compliance with the Code and participate in annual key supplier reviews specifically
focusing on sustainability and any risks and opportunities.
Premier has set out to reduce the energy required to produce and distribute their products while continuing to grow the business,
by investing in improved and/or alternative energy sources such as solar power, alternative fuels, new transport fleets, improved route
management and improved technologies. A solar power project completed at Potchefstroom Bakery during the 2019 financial year saved
461 MWh during the 2020 financial year, resulting in the prevention of 433 tonnes of CO2 equivalent being emitted into the environment.
Premier recognises that recycling is crucial to sustainability and supports a reduce, re-use and recycle philosophy in its manufacturing
facilities and offices. For FY2020, Premier’s waste management efforts have encouraged the following savings: 1,550 MWh in electricity,
preventing 1,457 tonnes of CO2 equivalent being emitted into the environment, 8,936 kilolitres reduction in water usage and an equivalent
5,812 trees saved and 44,397 m3 reduction in landfill space used. The Candy Division is the only manufacturing unit within Premier which
discharges effluent from its production processes. The recent upgrade to the wastewater treatment plant improved the quality of the effluent
being discharged in the 2020 financial year to reduce any possible impact to the environment.
Premier also promotes a safe working environment and a healthier lifestyle for all employees through their integrated Risk Management
Programme. This programme considers all the relevant risks associated with a production environment which can impact employees.
The goal is to ensure compliance with applicable Health and Safety legislation and to implement best practice in the FMCG industry.
Iceland Foods was the first supermarket to support Greenpeace’s call for the introduction of
a bottle Deposit Return Scheme across the UK to increase recycling rates and reduce plastic
pollution. Launched in five stores during 2018, this resulted in over a million plastic bottles
being returned to stores for recycling. Further to this, in January 2018, Iceland became the
only UK supermarket to announce its intention to eliminate plastic packaging from its complete
own label range by the end of 2023 and has reduced its own label plastic packaging usage by
29% over the two years since embarking on this initiative. The Iceland Foundation is working
with Surfers Against Sewage to empower and reward plastic-free communities, sponsoring annual nationwide beach cleans and founding
the first ever annual Plastic Free Awards.
The packaging development team works with partner suppliers to ensure the design and selection of materials that will maximise the
possibility of packaging being recycled at the end of its life. Iceland also ensures that the amount of material used is optimised, to eliminate
as much unnecessary packaging as possible.
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By 31 December 2018, Iceland had become the first UK supermarket to commit to and successfully end the use of palm oil as an ingredient
in its own label food. As a further commitment to tackle deforestation, the business has also signed up as a supporter of the Cerrado
Manifesto, which supports and expands existing environmental legislation, and calls on companies in the soy and meat supply chain to help
protect the critically important biome in Brazil.
All Iceland own label products are sourced from approved suppliers at approved sites. All suppliers must be certified to the British Retail
Consortium (BRC) Global Standard for Food Safety; they are regularly audited by independent inspectors against this standard and required
to achieve Grade AA, A or B. Iceland’s own label products suppliers must also adhere to a strict animal welfare policy. Iceland works with
suppliers to ensure high standards of animal welfare based on the Five Freedoms endorsed by the Farm Animal Welfare Council. Iceland
believes in its responsibility to preserve the planet for future generations and has accordingly developed a responsible sourcing policy
for Iceland’s own brand fish and seafood. In 2019 the business launched a new range of Marine Stewardship Council (MSC) certified
labelled products across all stores. The MSC ecolabel is only applied to wild fish or seafood from fisheries that have been certified to the
MSC Fisheries Standard, a science-based set of requirements for sustainable fishing. It contributes to the health of the world’s oceans by
recognising and rewarding sustainable fishing practices. Iceland’s own label farmed fish is certified to internationally recognised aquaculture
standards: Global Aquaculture Alliance (GAA) – Best Aquaculture Practice (BAP) minimum 3*, the Global G.A.P and the Aquaculture
Stewardship Council (ASC).The ongoing asset replacement programme, which has already included the conversion of all ancillary lighting
in stores to LEDs and the installation of automatic lighting controllers throughout the estate, has been extended to achieve like-for-like
reductions in energy consumption by chillers and freezers of 25–30% per unit.
Climate change
Virgin Active aims to reduce carbon emissions through reducing its own
greenhouse gas emissions and those within its supply chain as much as
practicably possible. Virgin Active’s goal is to achieve net zero carbon
emissions by 2050, with plans to switch to renewable energy to reduce their
carbon footprint.
Between 2011 and 2019 Virgin Active reduced electrical usage by 29% across
the group by optimizing electrical, heating, ventilation and air conditioning
systems and training staff on electrical reduction methods. As part of
Virgin Active’s phased energy reduction strategy:
• Virgin Active UK installed energy efficient condensing boilers for heating
systems at 3 clubs and replaced air conditioning systems with more energy
efficient chiller systems at two clubs;
• Virgin Active Italy installed energy efficient Combined Heat and Power (CHP)
systems at 12 clubs and a 350 kWp photovoltaic (PV) solar panel array at
one club;
• Virgin Active Thailand installed energy efficient Variable Air Volume (VAV) air
conditioning systems at four clubs;
• Virgin Active Australia installed an energy efficient CHP system at one club;
• Virgin Active South Africa begun the installation of 1.14 MWp photovoltaic
(PV) solar panels to power five health clubs.
In addition to initiatives reducing their own emissions, Virgin Active South Africa
teamed up with the World Wildlife Fund (WWF) for a fun-filled, family-friendly
Earth Hour event. The event had participants of all ages navigate their way to
hidden checkpoints across a 5km course in Kirstenbosch National Botanical Garden in Cape Town and Walter Sisulu National Botanical
Garden in Johannesburg. The Earth Hour Adventure events are fundraisers for WWF South Africa and are sponsored by Virgin Active. Funds
raised go towards supporting WWF’s work to continue to educate and create awareness around climate change.
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Premier’s manufacturing units have been driving a reduction in power consumption for many years through initiatives such as upgrading
of technologies, consolidation of plants, installation of occupancy sensors and replacement of lights with LED alternatives. For FY2020,
these ongoing initiatives led to a reduction of 4,551 MWh, resulting in the prevention of 4,278 tonnes of CO2 equivalent being emitted into
the environment. Through fleet replacement, route optimisation and fuel conversion from 500PP to 50PP, Premier has also been able to
reduce the fuel used for FY2020 by 88,993 litres, further resulting in the prevention of 251 tonnes of CO2 equivalent being emitted into
the environment. Premier’s energy consumption from fuel and gases decreased by 62,221 GJ year-on-year as a result of consolidation of
bakeries and upgrading and maintenance of plant and equipment, which resulted in the reduction of 4,885 tonnes of CO2 equivalent being
emitted into the environment.
Iceland Foods has active programmes to reduce its energy demand and cut food and packaging waste. In March 2010, Iceland was
officially certified as having attained the Carbon Trust Standard, after achieving a 15% reduction in carbon emissions relative to turnover over
the three-year assessment period and an absolute reduction in emissions of 2%.
Iceland has beaten 10-year targets to reduce its carbon footprint by 20%, achieving a reduction of over 40% by March 2020. All signage
lighting had been replaced with LEDs by 2012; sales floor lighting systems were replaced with LEDs by the end of 2015, and a further
£3.2 million investment in 2017 completed the conversion of all ancillary lighting in stores to LEDs and the installation of automatic lighting
controllers throughout the estate. A Climate Change Agreement (CCA) is in place with DEFRA (the UK Government’s Department for
Environment, Food and Public Affairs) covering all Iceland’s distribution centres, under which a commitment was originally made to cut
energy consumption by 12% by March 2013. This target was met and the CCA has since been extended to 2023, with targeted yearon-year reductions in energy usage continuing to be achieved. Iceland is also a signatory to the Courtauld Commitment 2025. This is a
voluntary agreement that brings together organisations across the food industry to make food and drink production and consumption more
sustainable. At its heart is a ten-year commitment to cut the carbon, water and waste associated with food and drink by at least one fifth
by 2025.
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Shareholder information
SHARE ANALYSIS
Shareholders
Number

%

Shares held
Number

%

Distribution of shareholders at 31 March 2020
Range of shareownings
1 – 1 000
1 001 – 10 000
10 001 – 100 000
100 001 – 1 000 000
more than 1 000 000

5 687
2 784
790
248
147

58.90
28.83
8.18
2.57
1.52

1 403 521
9 188 872
24 594 895
83 418 195
1 255 478 580

0.10
0.67
1.79
6.07
91.37

Total

9 656

100.00

1 374 084 063

100.00

The analysis of shareownings above includes the underlying beneficial shareowners in nominee companies.
Shareholder spread (1)
To the best knowledge of the directors and after reasonable enquiry, as at 31 March 2020, the spread of shareholders holding more than 5%
of the Company, is as follows:
Investment managers
Public Investment Corporation (PIC)
Mergence Investment Managers (Pty) Ltd
Allan Gray
Ninety One Plc
Kagiso Asset Management (Pty) Ltd

141 323 520
129 754 630
114 065 928
107 259 932
81 746 117

10.71
9.83
8.64
8.13
6.19

Total

574 150 127

43.50

Dr CH Wiese (2)
Government Employees Pension Fund (GEPF)
Ethos Fund VII
Ethos Capital

352 635 145
197 866 921
87 606 060
75 090 910

26.71
14.99
6.64
5.69

Total

713 199 036

54.03

Beneficial owners holding

(1)

(2)

Given the Group’s Treasury Share Holding at reporting date of 54 091 259 shares have subsequently been cancelled, pursuant to shareholder approval obtained at the January 2020
EGM, 1 319 992 804 shares in issue has been used as the basis for determining the percentages quoted for investment managers and beneficial owners holding in excess of 5%.
Dr Wiese’s beneficial shareholding in Brait is held indirectly through the Titan group of companies (Titan). The total shown of 352 635 145 represents the 319 811 608 shares held by
Titan, together with the 32 823 537 shares held by Closely Associated Persons of Dr Wiese.
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Performance on the JSE Limited*
for the years ended 31 March

2020

2019

2018

2017

2016

Price performance
Traded prices (South African cents per share)
– year-end closing price
– high
– low
– weighted average price per share traded

375
2 529
274
1 245

2 400
4 358
2 385
3 697

3 610
8 795
3 425
5 329

7 820
17 056
7 362
10 531

16 700
17 045
8 320
13 846

1 374 084
352 713
169 034
26
9 656

525 599
233 752
228 089
44
11 823

525 599
408 175
475 148
78
20 027

521 012
386 814
973 862
74
26 679

520 625
297 342
675 065
57
23 652

4 392

8 641

21 876

40 736

41 170

5 153

12 614

18 974

40 743

86 944

Volume performance
Number of shares in issue (‘000)
Volume of shares traded (‘000)
Number of transactions
Volume traded as % of shares in issue
Number of shareholders (at 31 March)
Value performance
Value of shares traded
– ZAR’m
Market capitalisation at 31 March
– ZAR’m
Liquidity rating of securities

Brait’s shares have a class one maximum liquidity rating on the JSE Limited
* The performance on the JSE Limited has been analysed as this is the most liquid exchange on which Brait’s shares trade.

Brait convertible bond quoted price (listed on the Open Market segment of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange)
2020 Convertible bond price (£)
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2024 Convertible bond price (£)
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Financial calendar 2021 to 2022
Updated information can be found at www.brait.com or contact us at invest@brait.com
FY2021

FY2022

June

FY2020 Annual results presentation

July

Publication of the FY2020 Integrated Annual Report

August

Annual general meeting

September

Convertible Bond 2020 coupon and maturity date

November

Interim FY2021 results presentation

December

Convertible Bond 2024 coupon payment

March

Financial year-end – 31 March

June

FY2021 Annual results presentation
Convertible Bond 2024 coupon payment

July

Publication and posting of the FY2021 Integrated Annual Report
Annual general meeting
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Directors’ responsibilities and approval

for the year ended 31 March

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RELATION TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The following statement, which should be read in conjunction with the auditor’s statement on their responsibilities as set out in their report
on page 104, is made with a view to distinguish for shareholders the respective responsibilities of the Directors and auditors in relation to the
financial statements.
The Directors are responsible for the preparation, integrity and objectivity of the Consolidated and Company financial statements that fairly
present the state of affairs of Brait SE and its subsidiaries (the Group) at the end of the financial year and the net income and cash flows for
the year, and other information contained in this report.
To enable the Directors to meet these responsibilities:
•	the Board sets standards for systems of internal control and accounting and information systems aimed at providing reasonable
assurance that assets are safeguarded and the risk of error, fraud or loss is reduced in a cost-effective manner. These controls, contained
in established policies and procedures, include the proper delegation of responsibilities and authorities within a clearly defined framework,
effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties; and
•	the Audit and Risk Committee, together with the external and internal auditors, play an integral role in matters relating to financial and
internal control, accounting policies, reporting and disclosure. The Audit and Risk Committee is satisfied that the external auditors
are independent.
To the best of their knowledge and belief, the Directors confirm:
•	the financial statements of the Group and Company presented in this Annual Report are established in conformity with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted in the European Union and give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial
position and loss of the Group and Company;
•	the Integrated Annual Report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and position of the Group and
Company, together with the description of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group and Company; and
•	they are satisfied that no material breakdown in the operation of the systems of internal control and procedures has occurred during the
year under review.
The Group and Company consistently adopt appropriate and recognised accounting policies and these are supported by reasonable and
prudent judgements and estimates on a consistent basis.
The Directors have no reason to believe that the Group and Company as a whole will not be a going concern in the year ahead, based on
forecasts and available cash resources. These financial statements have accordingly been prepared on that basis. The external auditors
concur with this statement.
It is the responsibility of the independent external auditors to report on the Consolidated and Company financial statements. Their report to
the members of the Group and Company is set out on page 100.
APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Directors’ report and the financial statements of the Group, which appear on pages 106 to 135 and Company on pages 136 to 141,
were approved by the Board on 24 June 2020, respectively, and are signed on its behalf by:

PJ Moleketi
Chairman
On behalf of the Board
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HRW Troskie
Director

Directors’ report
The Board hereby reports to Shareholders on the Consolidated and Company audited financial statements for the financial year ended
31 March 2020.
Brait is a listed investment holding company, domiciled in Malta, with its ordinary shares listed primarily on the Euro MTF market of the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange and secondary listed on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange. Brait’s Convertible Bonds are listed on the open
market (Freiverkehr) segment of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange.
As at financial year end, the Group’s portfolio of investments comprised controlling interests in the following companies:
• Virgin Active (42% of total assets), a leading international health club operator, with 243 clubs and 1.2 million members across Southern
Africa, Italy, the UK and Asia Pacific, complementing its premium focused club experience with an enhanced digital offering;
• Premier (27% of total assets), a leading South African FMCG manufacturer, offering branded and private label solutions, serving all
channels to the market and operating a wide footprint across South Africa, Eswatini, Lesotho and Mozambique, with a sales office in
the UK;
• Iceland Foods (6% of total assets), a UK based national food retailer best known for its frozen food offering, with an estate of over 1,000
UK stores offering a compelling ‘value for money’ proposition and an online service through the UK; and
• New Look (5% of total assets), a UK multi-channel fast fashion brand, offering on-trend, value fashion with a broad appeal for women
and teenage girls. Brait holds a minority equity and bond investment in the company.
• DGB, a South African producer and exporter of local wine and importer of international spirit brands classified as part of the Other
Investments portfolio (3% of total assets);
The remaining 17% of Brait’s total assets is cash, largely earmarked for the redemption of the outstanding 2.75% Convertible Bonds due
2020. Alongside the investment in DGB, the Other Investments portfolio includes Brait’s remaining private equity fund investments, mostly
comprising a minority stake in Consol, the largest manufacturer of glass packaging products on the African continent.
RECAPITALISATION
The Group completed the Recapitalisation of its balance sheet during the year under review as approved by shareholders at the
extraordinary general meeting held in January 2020 (“EGM”). The Recapitalisation comprised the following:
• GBP150 million, 5-year term, convertible bond issued on 4 December 2019 (“2024 Bonds”);
• R5.6 billion equity capital raised during February 2020 through an oversubscribed R5.250 billion Rights Offer and R350 million specific
issue of shares; and a
• New R6.3 billion revolving credit facility, with a 3-year tenor (“BML RCF”) refinancing Brait’s previous credit facility.
The Recapitalisation has materially reduced and extended the maturities of Brait’s debt, clearing the net current liability position of
R5.6 billion as at 30 September 2019. The net proceeds raised were applied towards:
• Repurchase of GBP201 million of Brait’s GBP350 million convertible bond due September 2020 (“2020 Bonds”); and
• Repaying R2 billion of the BML RCF.
FINANCIAL OVERVIEW, PERFORMANCE OF THE INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO, GROUP FUNDING POSITION AND FINANCIAL
RISK MANAGEMENT
A review of the results and the operations are included in the Chairman’s Statement, with the Investment Advisor’s Report setting out a
detailed discussion on the performance of each of the Group’s investments, as well as the Group’s funding position and available cash
and facilities.
The Group’s reported NAV per share at 31 March 2020 is R8.27/€0.42. The issuance of the 848 million new shares pursuant to Brait’s
R5.6 billion equity capital raise, accounts for the majority (61%) of the decrease in NAV per share for the year under review from the R41.80
reported for FY19. As disclosed on Brait’s website, Brait’s interim 30 September 2019 unaudited NAV per share of R38.00 decreased to
R17.46 when updated for the impact of the Recapitalisation.
Pursuant to Brait’s strategy focused on maximising value through the realisation of its existing portfolio companies over the medium term,
the primary reference measure considered at reporting date is the peer group average spot multiple. Taking consideration of the current
period declines in peer spot multiples, Brait has reduced valuation multiples accordingly at reporting date, which accounts for 20% of the
decrease in NAV per share for the current year.
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Directors’ report (continued)
The unexpected and unprecedented impact that the Coronavirus is having on global markets and companies is well known. Global valuation
multiples have fallen sharply and short-term profitability, liquidity and gearing in some businesses has been impacted materially, impacting
the valuation of Brait’s portfolio, in particular Virgin Active, as at reporting date. The safety of staff and customers across the Group’s
portfolio of companies is top priority and we are fully supportive of the various government initiatives to curb the impact and spread of
the Coronavirus. Brait’s portfolio companies have implemented effective measures to protect the health and safety of staff and customers
and have business continuity plans in place to deal with the impacts of Coronavirus. In some instances this is focused on reducing costs,
preserving cash and maximizing liquidity through this difficult period. In other cases, the challenge is to ensure the portfolio companies can
deliver the demand of their customers in a safe and healthy manner.
Each portfolio company has been impacted differently and the management teams continue to assess the impact of the Coronavirus and
refine strategies to mitigate this impact. Engagement with key stakeholders continues across our portfolio to ensure appropriate actions are
instituted given the changed operating environment. Brait remains confident that the actions taken by its portfolio companies are appropriate
and timely.
The Integrated Annual Report sets out separate reports on Governance and Risk Management. The financial statements of the Group are
set out in the financial statements and accompanying notes for the year ended 31 March 2020 on pages 106 to 135. The financial results
of the holding company are set out in the Company financial statements and accompany notes for the year ended 31 March 2020 on
pages 136 to 141.
NEW STRATEGY AND RECENT DISPOSALS
In the current year, the Board adopted a new strategy focused on maximising value through the realisation of the existing portfolio
companies over the medium term and returning capital to Shareholders. The Board believes that the Recapitalisation provides the Company
with sufficient flexibility to manage its portfolio of investments and execute this new strategy in an optimal manner.
In line with this new strategy, Brait concluded the post balance sheet date sales of its investments in DGB and Iceland Foods. The total
consideration for DGB of R470 million was largely in line with its September 2019 carrying value and equal to the March 2020 carrying value.
The GBP115 million consideration for Iceland Foods represents a significant premium to the GBP63 million carrying value at March 2020.
Brait applied the initial tranche proceeds of R1.6 billion received during June 2020 from these two transactions (DGB: R370 million; Iceland
Foods: R1,275 million (GBP60 million)) to partially repay the Group’s drawn borrowings. Note 21 of the consolidated financial statements
(Post Balance Sheet Events) sets out further detail in this regard.
NEW INVESTMENT ADVISOR
The Board, through its wholly owned subsidiary BML, entered into a new advisory agreement, with Ethos Private Equity (“EPE”) effective
1 March 2020. The terms of the advisory agreement with EPE include an initial 3-year tenor with an annual renewal thereafter, at a cost
of R100 million per annum, increasing annually with inflation. This represents a significant cost saving to the Group going forward in
comparison to the agreement with BML’s previous advisors, the contract for which was terminated effective 28 February 2020.
To align the interests of EPE with Brait’s Shareholders in terms of value creation: (i) the Board is in the process of approving a new short
term incentive structure based on annual, pre-determined key performance indicators, and (ii) a new share incentive structure, which will be
proposed to Brait shareholders for their consideration and approval at a future general meeting, will also be developed.
DIVIDEND POLICY
Brait’s ability to return capital to Shareholders pursuant to its new strategy will depend upon it receiving realisations on loans and
investments, dividends, other distributions or payments from its portfolio companies (which are under no obligation to pay dividends or
make any other distributions to Brait). In addition, Brait’s ability to pay any dividends will depend upon distribution allowances under the
terms of the BML RCF.
Ordinary dividends will be considered annually when the results for each year are published. The extent of any dividends will be determined
relative to net operating cash flows and to the payments received on the realisation of loans and investments from time to time and which
cash flows are not required for liquidity or earmarked for requirements at the portfolio company level.
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To the extent that surplus cash becomes available at a future date for distribution, the Board will consider the potential for the distribution
of such surplus cash by way of special dividend. Pursuant to the terms of the 2024 Bonds, before Brait is able to pay a special dividend to
Shareholders, it will have to first make an offer to the holders of the 2024 Bonds to tender for repurchase an aggregate principal amount
of the 2024 Bonds for an amount equal to such proposed special dividend at a price per Bond equal to its principal amount together with
accrued interest.
UNISSUED SECURITIES
At the forthcoming AGM, members will be asked to renew the authority to place the unissued securities in the capital of the Company under
the control of the Directors in terms of the provisions of the Company’s Articles of Association (Articles). In terms of the authority given by
Shareholders at the previous AGM, the Directors are limited when issuing unissued securities in any one year, whether for cash or otherwise,
to 10% of the Company’s issued ordinary share capital.
RENEWAL OF AUTHORITY FOR THE REPURCHASE OF SECURITIES
The conditions relating to the repurchase by the Company of its own securities are governed by the Articles and the EU Regulation
596/2014 on Market Abuse (MA) which provide, inter alia, that this authority shall not extend beyond the date of the then forthcoming annual
general meeting unless such authority is renewed by shareholders in general meeting. At the forthcoming AGM shareholders will accordingly
be requested to renew this authority to enable the Directors to acquire up to 10% of the issued shares of the Company, until the conclusion
of the next annual general meeting.
On the basis this authority is renewed by shareholders, the Directors would be required, in accordance with EU Regulations, to first
announce to the market the terms of a new buyback programme before acquiring any issued shares of the Company under this authority.
TREASURY SHARES
At reporting date, the Group’s treasury shares comprise 54,091,259 shares, of which 36,616,189 are held by BML and 17,475,070 are held
by the Brait Investment Trust (“the Treasury Shares”). At the EGM, Shareholders approved the reduction of the share capital of the Company
through the cancellation of the Treasury Shares held for the vested benefit of the Group, subject to the provisions of article 83 of the Maltese
Companies Act. These provisions have now been satisfied, with the Treasury Shares subsequently cancelled. The total issued ordinary share
capital is accordingly 1,319,992,804 shares.
DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN BRAIT ORDINARY SHARES
According to information available to the Company, after reasonable enquiry, the aggregate interests of the Directors at the date of
this report, including the holdings of ordinary shares and share entitlements, are detailed in the Governance Report in the Integrated
Annual Report, on page 69.
INSURANCE AND DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITY
The Group maintains a comprehensive insurance programme, providing Group cover under professional indemnity, directors’ and
officers’ liability.
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
An analysis of directors’ remuneration is disclosed in the Remuneration Committee section of the Integrated Annual Report on page 66.
DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS
The Group maintains a register of directors’ interests. Other than as disclosed in the financial statements, during the financial year no
contracts were entered into in which directors of the Company had an interest and which significantly affected the business of the Group.
DIRECTORATE UPDATE
As previously announced by the Company, a new Board is to be constituted. The Board extends its appreciation to the following directors
who have decided not to stand for re-election at the AGM, for their contributions during their long-standing tenures: PJ Moleketi (chairman),
CS Seabrooke, AS Jacobs and JC Botts.
Dr CH Wiese, Dr LL Porter and HRW Troskie will be standing for re-election at the AGM. Dr Porter has indicated that he will step down
from the Board once the proposed redomiciliation from Malta to Mauritius has been effected. The Board has approved the Nomination
Committee’s proposed five candidates for Shareholders to consider and approve at the AGM: RA Nelson (British), PG Joubert
(South African, Mauritian resident), JM Grant (British), Y Jekwa (South African) and P Roelofse (South African) currently alternate director to
Dr Wiese). Their respective biographies are available on Brait’s website at www.Brait.com, and are also set out in Annex 1 of the Notice of
the AGM (page 150 of this Integrated Annual Report).
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Directors’ report (continued)
PROPOSED REDOMICILIATION
Pursuant to the stated objective of reducing costs, the Board has resolved to propose to Shareholders in due course that the Company’s
registered office be transferred from Malta to Mauritius, where the Company’s main investment subsidiary, Brait Mauritius Limited, is
domiciled (the “Redomiciliation”). The Redomiciliation will not impact the Company’s primary listing on the Euro MTF Market of the LuxSE
or its secondary listing on the JSE. Based on the analysis performed to date, no amendments will be required to the terms and conditions
of the 2020 Bonds and 2024 Bonds. In addition, the share capital of the Company will not be affected. Further information on the
Redomiciliation is set out in the Notice to the AGM.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Full details regarding the Company’s commitment to, and its compliance with, appropriate international corporate governance practices are
set out in the Integrated Annual Report.
AUDITORS
PricewaterhouseCoopers of Malta have expressed their willingness to continue in office subject to the completion of engagement
acceptance and continuance processes. Resolutions pertaining to the appointment of the Group’s auditors and authorising the Audit and
Risk Committee to set their remuneration, will be submitted to the forthcoming AGM.
GROUP AND COMPANY OUTLOOK
Virgin Active
Following a strong FY2019 performance and a good start to its FY2020, Virgin Active has been significantly impacted by the Coronavirus.
In accordance with respective government directives to stop the spread of Coronavirus, gyms in all territories were closed by
25 March 2020, with all memberships frozen at the point of closure and members not being charged any fees through the closure period.
Virgin Active has been a beneficiary of the government support programs available across its various territories. Since early February
2020, when the likely scale and impact of the Coronavirus became evident, the company has taken measures to preserve liquidity across
all territories including salary reductions, removing all but essential capital expenditure investments, operating expense reductions where
possible, and other initiatives focused on preserving cash.
The health and safety of staff and members remain Virgin Active’s key focus in reopening clubs in adherence with respective government
directives. The Italian government permitted the reopening of gyms with 5 clubs reopening on the 20th of May and a further 20 clubs
opening on 25th of May. The Milan region opened on 1st of June. Thailand reopened on 2nd of June. Australia started reopening from
13 June, with Singapore reopened on 25th June. Botswana reopened 22nd May and Namibia 2nd June. The reopening date announced by
the UK government is 25th July. A reopening date is not yet confirmed for South Africa. The company is leading the industry’s engagement
with the government and discussions continue. Early usage from the Virgin Active clubs that have reopened is encouraging with all the
popular exercise classes fully booked and subject to waiting lists. Coronavirus safety plans have been put in place for each territory ensuring
compliance with government guidance and regulatory requirements, with specific focus on the wellbeing of staff and members, physical
distancing, hygiene and cleaning. Virgin Active is engaging with customers to outline new club usage rules, minimise churn and encourage
membership retention and utilisation. Health and wellness is likely to remain (even more) relevant than it was pre-Coronavirus, with large,
more established and diversified operators likely to benefit from the industry disruption.
On 15 June 2020, to enable the Virgin Active UK, Italy and Asia Pacific territories to navigate appropriately through the current exceptional
circumstances as a result of Coronavirus, shareholders contributed GBP20m of new funding (Brait’s pro rata share being GBP16 million,
by way of shareholder loans). In addition, Virgin Enterprises Limited agreed to defer and subordinate GBP5 million of royalties for 2020
to beyond the maturity of Virgin Active’s UK, Italy and Asia Pacific banking facilities. This aggregate funding of GBP25m million has been
matched by a further GBP25 million of new bank debt from the UK, Italy and Asia Pacific banking syndicate, with the existing covenant
package to be replaced by a liquidity-based covenant until December 2021 (returning to EBITDA-based testing thereafter).
Focus will remain on reducing operating costs in the business, engaging with all stakeholders regarding the post opening operating cost
structure in order to return to pre-Coronavirus profitability.
Premier
As an FMCG manufacturer, Premier’s products have largely been classified as ’essential goods’ during the Coronavirus lockdown period
in South Africa (26 March 2020 onwards) and the other countries in which it operates, which has enabled Premier to continue with full
production and operations. However, the weak economic conditions expected for FY2021 are expected to have an adverse impact on
discretionary spending and potentially Premier’s sales volumes across the categories. Cost inflation pressure remains, which continues to
impact the company’s margins, particularly in the wheat flour value chain where the weak Rand is causing significant cost inflation in wheat
and bread. The forecast for the second largest maize crop in SA history will result in cyclically lower maize prices which is likely to benefit
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Premier through lower working capital requirements and margin improvement. Given the low revenue growth environment, operational
efficiency and cost savings remain a key focus for the company. Costs have increased due to Coronavirus in order to ensure that the
operating environment is safe for staff and other stakeholders. The business continues to seek value enhancing acquisitions to assist in
entering new categories to drive operating leverage and synergies across the platform, as well as investing capex into low-risk, strategic
projects aimed to drive growth in its core operations, targeting returns through operating efficiencies. Several projects have, however, been
delayed as a result of Coronavirus. Management is focused on EBITDA growth and free cash flow generation to drive further deleveraging,
with FY21 having begun strongly with robust growth despite the difficult operating environment. The company remains alert to potential
value enhancing acquisitions to enter new categories.
Iceland Foods
Since the outbreak of Coronavirus, the food retail sector in the United Kingdom has experienced a period of strong sales as customers
have stocked up on groceries (including frozen food) as the government has rolled out its program to contain the spread of the Coronavirus.
Management continue to assess the potential impact of the Coronavirus and to date have managed to ensure continuity of its supply
chain. The business has sufficient liquidity to deal with the short-term consequences of Coronavirus and to meet its commitments.
The UK government’s announcements of relief from business rates and taxes and government subsidies for salaries for affected staff has
provided support to the company. Iceland Foods will continue to focus on store profitability and margin expansion going forward.
As noted earlier, pursuant to Brait’s new strategy, the sale of Brait’s entire 63.1% interest in Iceland Foods was concluded in June 2020,
for a total consideration of GBP115 million. Brait received the initial tranche of GBP60 million proceeds on 8 June 2020, with the remaining
deferred payments of GBP26.9 million and GBP28.1 million to be received by 30 July 2021 and 29 July 2022 respectively.
New Look
The impact of the Coronavirus has been severe for New look, temporarily closing all 480 stores in the UK and all 28 stores in the Republic of
Ireland during March 2020. New Look’s online and third-party sales channels remained open and deliveries to home and Collect+ locations
remained available to customers. Following the financial restructuring in May 2019 and the actions taken to achieve financial and operational
stability, the business entered the Coronavirus outbreak with strengthened liquidity and has no near-term maturities on its long-term debt
funding (matures in 2024) and is able to toggle cash interest to PIK to provide debt servicing flexibility. The operating facilities have a term
end date in June 2020 and the RCF matures in June 2021.The company is engaged with its funding providers to extend these facilities.
New Look is focused on preserving cash, maximising liquidity, managing working capital and reducing costs. Management have pursued
the relevant channels to secure a business rates exemption for 12 months, employee cost support, deferral of tax & national insurance
payments, and gaining access to the Coronavirus Corporate Financing Facility. In light of the rapidly evolving nature of the Coronavirus
outbreak, any guidance previously given by New Look needs to be reviewed in light of the changing circumstances.
Brait
Brait’s portfolio companies delivered a robust performance pre-Coronavirus, continuing to optimise their business models and key
operational metrics in a continued challenging macroenvironment. All of the portfolio company management teams have proactively
implemented plans to address the unexpected and unprecedented impact of the Coronavirus, with a focus on health and safety of staff and
customers, reducing costs, preserving cash and maximizing liquidity to manage their businesses though this difficult period. The extent and
severity of Coronavirus is still uncertain and continues to evolve daily.
The Recapitalisation has de-geared Brait’s balance sheet and extended debt maturities, providing sufficient flexibility for the proposed
new Board, with the assistance of the new Investment Advisor, EPE, to execute the Company’s new strategy focused on maximising
value through the realisation of portfolio companies over the medium term. The post balance sheet date realisation of DGB and Iceland
Foods demonstrates the Company’s ability to deliver on this strategy, generating R3 billion of disposals (of which R1.6 billion was received
by 8 June 2020) in addition to the R1.6 billion of capital returned from the portfolio during the year. Focus continues on lowering Brait’s
operating costs.
Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf on 24 June 2020 by:

PJ Molekti
Chairman

HRW Troskie
Director
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Brait SE
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our opinion
In our opinion:
• Brait SE’s Group and Parent Company’s financial statements (the “financial statements”) give a true and fair view of the Group and the
Parent Company’s financial position as at 31 March 2020, and of the Group’s and the Parent Company’s financial performance and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRSs’) as adopted by the EU; and
• The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386).
What we have audited
Brait SE’s financial statements, set out on pages 106 to 135, comprise:
•
•
•
•
•

the Consolidated and Parent Company statements of financial position as at 31 March 2020;
the Consolidated and Parent Company statements of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
the Consolidated and Parent Company statements of changes in equity for the year then ended;
the Consolidated and Parent Company statements of cash flows for the year then ended; and
the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Independence
We are independent of the Group and the Parent Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements of the Accountancy Profession (Code
of Ethics for Warrant Holders) Directive issued in terms of the Accountancy Profession Act (Cap. 281) that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in Malta. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these Codes.
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OUR AUDIT APPROACH
Overview
Overall group materiality
Materiality

• €11,342,000/R223,451,000 representing 1% of group total assets.
Group
scoping

The subsidiaries of the group were audited through collaboration with auditors from other PwC network firms.
Work performed by component auditors was performed under our instruction, including the review of the
consolidation process used in the preparation of consolidated financial statements.

Key audit
matters

• Valuation of unlisted investments
As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the consolidated financial
statements. In particular, we considered where the directors made subjective judgements; for example, in respect of significant accounting
estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, we also
addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including among other matters consideration of whether there was evidence
of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.
Materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. An audit is designed to obtain reasonable assurance whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if
individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the
consolidated financial statements.
Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for materiality, including the overall group materiality for
the consolidated financial statements as a whole as set out in the table below. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to
determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of misstatements, both
individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as a whole.
Overall group materiality

€11,342,000/R223,451,000

How we determined it

1% of total assets

Rationale for the materiality
benchmark applied

We chose total assets as the benchmark because, in our view, it is the benchmark against
which the performance of the Group is measured, as the main transactional activity of the Group
pertains to the revaluation of unlisted investments. The use of an asset-based benchmark
was used to avoid the volatility arising in profitability, which is largely an effect of revaluation
movements on underlying investments. We chose 1% which is within the range of quantitative
materiality thresholds that we consider to be acceptable.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above €569,000/R11,212,000
as well as misstatements below that amount that, in our view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons.
Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Brait SE
(continued)
Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of unlisted investments
This key audit matter applies to the consolidated and
separate financial statements.
The Group’s shareholding in unlisted investments of
€936 million/R18.44 billion represents a substantial portion
of its total assets (approximately 82.5%). The valuation of
the Group’s unlisted investment portfolio was considered to
be a matter of most significance to our current year audit
due to the degree of estimation and judgement applied in
determining the value of unlisted investments.
The Group has utilised the maintainable earnings multiple
model as its primary valuation technique to value its
unlisted portfolio investments. Maintainable earnings are
determined with reference to prior year audited EBITDA per
portfolio company and to forecasts for future periods after
adjusting both for non-recurring income/expenditure or
abnormal economic conditions. If the forecasts are higher
than the prior year earnings, as the year progresses the
weighting is increased towards the forecast. If the forecasts
are lower, they will usually be used as the maintainable
earnings for valuation purposes.
The model is dependent on the identification of an EV
(Enterprise Value)/EBITDA multiple for each portfolio
company which is derived from the latest available financial
information from an appropriate group of comparable
quoted peer companies, and adjusted for points
of difference.
The Group’s fair value measurement policy is disclosed
within note 1.9.3 of the consolidated financial statements
and the valuation assumptions and disclosures of
material unlisted investments are included in note 3 of the
consolidated financial statements.
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In our assessment of the Group’s determination of the fair value of unlisted
investments, we assessed the assumptions and inputs used in the
respective valuations.
• Our audit procedures included, amongst others, the following:
• We evaluated the design and implementation of key controls over the
Group’s investment valuation process.
• We assessed whether the final valuations of unlisted portfolio companies,
and related inputs used in their determination were appropriately approved
by the Board of Directors, through our attendance of the Group Audit and
Risk Committee meetings. The valuations were appropriately approved.
• We obtained an understanding of the methodology used and found
that the Group’s primary valuation technique is aligned with appropriate
industry guidance (International Private Equity and Venture Capital
Valuation Guidelines).
• We performed an independent analysis and identification of appropriate
comparable companies for each portfolio investment, and evaluated the
consistency of the peer group used by management;
• We performed an independent assessment of the inputs used in the
EV/EBITDA multiple determined for each portfolio investment, including
a calculation of the fair value of equity and debt and comparative
peer EBITDA values derived from independent third-party sources.
We focused on this area since the outputs of these valuation models are
highly sensitive to changes in inputs, which are inherently judgmental in
nature. The inputs are reasonable.
• We assessed the impact of COVID-19 on the EV/EBITDA multiple
and maintainable EBITDA of the portfolio companies. Management
reassessed the maintainable EBITDA and adjusted for non-recurring
expenditure as a result of the operational disruptions in certain territories
due to COVID-19. An independent analysis was performed on the
assessment made by management by considering market data obtained
from independent third-party sources. There were no material differences
between our assessment and the assessment made by management.
• We assessed the application of the methodology applied in the
determination of blended EBITDA for non-coterminous portfolio company
year-ends, by performing an independent analysis on management’s
assessment by using results as at 31 March 2020 obtained from third
party sources. The methodology applied is appropriate and consistent
with prior years.
• We performed a sensitivity analysis of the valuations to changes in key
inputs and noted no material impact.
• We tested the mathematical accuracy of the underlying valuation
calculations and noted no exceptions.

How we tailored our group audit scope
We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Group, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the
Group operates.
The Group consists of subsidiaries that i) hold investments, ii) provide services to the Group and related entities and iii) subsidiaries that
consist of both. Where a subsidiary holds an investment and/or provides services to the Group, that entity is considered an Investment
entity. Investment entities are accounted for at fair value through profit and loss. Where an entity provides services to the Group, the
subsidiary is consolidated. The consolidated financial statements are a consolidation of the Company and its 3 subsidiaries, namely Brait
Malta Limited, Brait Mauritius Limited and Brait Investment Trust. The investment entities which hold portfolio investments are Brait Capital
International Limited, Brait CM1 Limited, Brait Fund Investments Proprietary Limited, Brait South Africa Holdings Proprietary Limited, Brait III
Investments Limited, Brait Manager Mauritius Ltd and SAPEF GP Ltd. Each subsidiary is considered a component for purposes of our group
audit scope. We performed full scope audits on the Brait Malta Limited, Brait Mauritius Limited, Brait Capital International Limited and Brait
CM1 Limited’s components due to their financial significance to the Group. No further work was performed on entities that were regarded
as trivial. Trivial entities are regarded as entities that contribute less than 1% to the Group’s consolidated total assets and consolidated profit/
loss before tax. This, together with additional procedures performed at the group level, including testing of the consolidation process and
intercompany eliminations, gave us the evidence we needed for our opinion on the consolidated financial statements as a whole.
In establishing the overall audit approach to the Group audit, we determined the type of work that needed to be performed by us, as the
group engagement team, and by component auditors from other PwC network firms operating under our instruction. Where the work
was performed by component auditors, we determined the level of involvement we needed to have in the audit work at those reporting
components to be able to conclude whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence had been obtained as a basis for our opinion on the
consolidated financial statements as a whole.
OTHER INFORMATION
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Directors’ Responsibilities and Approval,
Directors’ Report and Definitions included in the annual financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2020 (but does not include the
consolidated or the separate financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon).
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information, including the directors’ report.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified above and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
With respect to the directors’ report, we also considered whether the directors’ report includes the disclosures required by Article 177 of the
Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386).
Based on the work we have performed, in our opinion:
• The information given in the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the
financial statements; and
• the directors’ report has been prepared in accordance with the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386).
In addition, in light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we are
required to report if we have identified material misstatements in the directors’ report and other information. We have nothing to report in
this regard.
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Brait SE
(continued)
RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED AND
SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated and separate financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the requirements of the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386), and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the Parent
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the Parent Company or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s and the Parent Company’s
internal control.
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s or the
Parent Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, because not all future
events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to the Group and Parent Company’s ability to continue as
a going concern. In particular, it is difficult to evaluate all of the potential implications that COVID-19 will have on the Group and Parent
Company’s trade, customers and suppliers, and the disruption to their business and the overall economy.
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
OTHER MATTERS ON WHICH WE ARE REQUIRED TO REPORT BY EXCEPTION
We also have responsibilities under the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386) to report to you if, in our opinion:
• Adequate accounting records have not been kept, or that returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not
visited by us.
• The financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.
• We have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.
We have nothing to report to you in respect of these responsibilities.
PricewaterhouseCoopers
78, Mill Street
Qormi
Malta

Joseph Camilleri
Partner
24 June 2020
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Consolidated statement of financial position

as at 31 March 2020

Audited
31 March
2019
R’m

Audited
31 March
2020
R’m

31 444

18 444

ASSETS
Non-current assets

31 444

18 444

Investments

1 158

3 901

Current assets

324
834

14
3 887

Accounts receivable
Cash and cash equivalents

32 602

22 345

Notes

3

4

Total assets

Audited
31 March
2020
€’m

Audited
31 March
2019
€’m

936

1 934

936

1 934

198

71

1
197

20
51

1 134

2 005

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
19 708

10 910

Ordinary shareholders equity and reserves

2

553

1 213

4 476
(1 623)
864
15 991

9 924
(270)
729
527

Share capital and premium
Foreign currency translation reserve
Convertible Bonds reserve
Retained earnings

5

847
(897)
46
557

508
(848)
57
1 496

12 870

7 527

Non-current liabilities

382

791

–
6 359
6 511

2 925
–
4 602

6.50% Convertible Bonds due 2024
2.75% Convertible Bonds due 2020
Borrowings

148
–
234

–
391
400

24

3 908

Current liabilities

199

1

–
24

3 303
605

2.75% Convertible Bonds due 2020
Accounts payable and other liabilities

168
31

–
1

32 602

22 345

1 134

2 005

6
7
8

Total equity and liabilities

7
9

The financial statements set out on pages 106 to 135 were approved by the Board, authorised for issue on 24 June 2020 and signed on its
behalf by:

PJ Moleketi
Chairman
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HRW Troskie
Director

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 March 2020

Audited
31 March
2019
R’m

Audited
31 March
2020
R’m

(10 813)
539
74
599

(15 576)
480
28
758

Investment losses
Finance income
Other investment income
Foreign exchange gains

(9 601)

(14 310)

Loss

(278)
(523)

(224)
(164)

(10 402)

(14 698)

(838)

(1 240)

(11 240)

(15 938)

(26)

(22)

(11 266)

(15 960)

3 502

1 353

(7 764)

(14 607)

(2 219)

(2 799)

Notes

Operating expenses
Other expenses

10
11

12
13

Loss
Finance costs

14

Loss before taxation
Taxation

15

Loss for the year
Other comprehensive gain
Translation adjustments
Comprehensive loss for the year
Loss per share (cents) – basic and diluted

16

Audited
31 March
2020
€’m

Audited
31 March
2019
€’m

(948)
29
2
46

(679)
34
5
38

(871)

(602)

(14)
(10)

(18)
(33)

(895)

(653)

(76)

(53)

(971)

(706)

(1)

(2)

(972)

(708)

(49)

33

(1 021)

(675)

(170)

(139)
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

for the year ended 31 March 2020

Total
equity
and
reserves
R’m

108

Foreign
currency Convertible
Retained translation
Bonds
earnings
reserve
reserve
R’m
R’m
R’m

Share
capital
and
premium
R’m

Share
Foreign
capital Convertible currency
and
Bonds translation
premium
reserve
reserve
€’m
€’m
€’m
Ordinary shareholders balance at
31 March 2018

565

57

(881)

2 204

1 945

Net translation adjustments
Purchase of treasury shares
Loss for the year

–
(57)
–

–
–
–

33
–
–

–
–
(708)

33
(57)
(708)

Ordinary shareholders balance at
31 March 2019

508

57

(848)

1 496

1 213

–

–

(49)

–

(49)

348

–

–

–

348

(9)

–

–

–

(9)

–

(33)

–

33

–

–
–

22
–

–
–

–
(972)

22
(972)

847

46

(897)

557

553

28 384

27 257

(5 125)

864

5 388

3 502
(912)
(11 266)

–
–
(11 266)

3 502
–
–

–
–
–

–
(912)
–

19 708

15 991

(1 623)

864

4 476

1 353

–

1 353

–

–

5 600

–

–

–

(152)

–

–

–

–

496

–

(496)

361
(15 960)

–
(15 960)

–
–

361
–

Net translation adjustments
Rights Offer and specific issue
5 600 of shares
Transaction costs for the Rights
(152) Offer and specific issue of shares
2.75% Convertible Bonds due
– 2020 transfer to retained earnings
Equity reserve for 6.50%
– Convertible Bonds due 2024
– Loss for the year

10 910

527

(270)

729

9 924
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Retained
earnings
€’m

Total
equity
and
reserves
€’m

Ordinary shareholders balance at
31 March 2020

Consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 March 2020

Audited
31 March
2019
R’m

Audited
31 March
2020
R’m

Audited
31 March
2020
€’m

Audited
31 March
2019
€’m

798
17
15
(275)
–
(19)

1 137
183
8
(235)
(164)
(23)

69
11
1
(14)
(10)
(1)

50
1
1
(17)
–
(1)

536
(1 658)
(1 420)
1 187

906
(664)
(210)
452

Operating cash flow before purchase of investments
Purchase of investments
Gross amount advanced: Debtor Purchase Agreement
Gross amount received: Debtor Purchase Agreement

56
(40)
(13)
28

34
(104)
(89)
75

(1 355)

484

Net cash generated/(used in) operating activities

31

(84)

2 288
(343)
–
–
(1 174)
(647)
(17)
(176)
–
–
–
(912)

170
(2 409)
5 600
(152)
–
(318)
(10)
(153)
(91)
(3 376)
2 841
–

Drawdown of Borrowings
Repayment of Borrowings
Proceeds from Rights Offer and specific issue of shares
Transaction cost for the Rights Offer and specific issue of shares
Settlement of financial guarantee
Interest paid
Facility fees paid
Convertible Bonds coupons paid
Convertible Bonds issue costs
Repurchase of 2.75% Convertible Bonds due 2020
Proceeds from issue of 6.50% Convertible Bonds due 2024
Purchase of treasury shares

10
(147)
348
(9)
–
(19)
(1)
(9)
(6)
(205)
173
–

144
(22)
–
–
(74)
(41)
(1)
(11)
–
–
–
(57)

(981)

2 102

Net cash generated/(used in) from financing activities

135

(62)

(2 336)
263
2 907

2 586
467
834

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

166
(20)
51

(146)
(2)
199

834

3 887

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

197

51

Notes
Cash flows from operating activities:
Investment proceeds received
Other investment income received
Interest income received on cash balances
Operating expenses paid
Other expenses paid
Taxation paid

17

18
18

8
8

4
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

for the year ended 31 March 2020

1.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1.1 Basis for preparation
The Consolidated and Company financial statements (Financial Statements) are prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union, on the going concern principle, using the historical
cost basis, except where otherwise indicated. The accounting policies and methods of computation are consistent with those
applied in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2020.
The Group’s financial statements are prepared using both the Euro (EUR) and SA Rand (R/ZAR) as its presentation currencies.
The Group’s subsidiaries have one of three functional currencies: Pound Sterling (GBP), SA Rand or US Dollar (USD/US$).
The holding company, Brait SE, and its main consolidated subsidiaries use GBP as their functional currency. The financial
statements have been prepared using the following exchange rates:
2020

1.2

2019

Closing

Average

Closing

Average

USD/ZAR

17.8379

14.7750

14.4978

13.7630

GBP/ZAR

22.1694

18.7829

18.8946

18.0440

EUR/ZAR

19.7008

16.4280

16.2620

15.9166

USD/EUR

0.9054

0.8994

0.8915

0.8647

GBP/EUR

1.1253

1.1433

1.1619

1.1337

Compound financial instruments
The Convertible Bonds (the “Bonds”) issued in September 2015 and December 2019 are convertible into Brait ordinary shares
by bondholders in terms of their conversion rights in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Bonds. These Bonds are
accounted for as compound financial instruments. The liability components were initially recognised as the present value of the
future coupon and principal payments. The discount rate used for this calculation was the market rate, on the date the bonds
were issued, for similar liabilities that do not have the equity conversion component (vanilla bonds). The equity components
represented the excess of the proceeds received on issuance, less the value of the liability components recognised for each of
the instruments respectively.
Subsequent to its initial recognition, the liability components are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
In addition, the conversion options classified as equity (convertible bonds reserve) will remain in equity until the conversion
options are exercised for each bonds respectively, in which case, the balance recognised in convertible bonds reserve will be
transferred to share premium. Should the conversion options remain unexercised at maturity date, or the Bonds are repurchased
by the Company, the balance recognised in convertible bonds reserve will be transferred to retained earnings. No gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss on conversion or expiry of the conversion options.

1.3

Principles of consolidation
1.3.1 Accounting for subsidiaries and associates
Given the nature of the Group’s operations, all portfolio investments are accounted for at Fair Value Through Profit and
Loss (FVTPL) in terms of IFRS 9: Financial Instruments, irrespective of whether they are subsidiaries or associates as
explained below.
Subsidiaries are entities that the Group controls by being exposed to, or having rights to, variable returns from its
involvement with that entity and where the Group has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
The Group subsidiaries consist of entities that:
i. hold portfolio investments;
ii. provide services to third parties and related companies; and
iii. do both (i) and (ii).
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1.

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION (CONTINUED)
1.3 Accounting for subsidiaries and associates (continued)
1.3.1 Accounting for subsidiaries and associates (continued)
Subsidiaries classified as (i) or (iii) are classified as Investment Entities under IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements.
Investment Entities are exempt from consolidation and measured at FVTPL in terms of IFRS 9. Changes in fair value,
primarily driven by revaluation of portfolio investments, are recognised in profit and loss in the period of change.
Subsidiaries classified as (ii) are not Investment Entities and continue to be consolidated (“Consolidated Subsidiaries”).
Where the Group does not have control, but has significant influence over a portfolio investment, such entities are
classified as associates. This treatment is permitted by IAS 28, ‘Investment in associates’, which allows investments that
are held by investment entities to be recognised and measured as at fair value through profit or loss and accounted for in
accordance with IFRS 9 and IFRS 13, with changes in fair value recognised in the statement of comprehensive income
in the period of the change.
A statement setting out further details of the Group’s Investments can be found at the Maltese Registry of Companies in
terms of the applicable legislation.
1.3.2

Basis of consolidation for Consolidated Subsidiaries
On acquisition date, the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of a subsidiary are measured at their fair values.
Any excess of acquisition cost over fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill.
Any shortfall in the acquisition cost below the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired (ie discount) is credited
to profit and loss in the period of acquisition. Minority shareholders are stated at their proportion of the fair value of the
assets and liabilities recognised.
The results of Consolidated Subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the period are included in the statement of
comprehensive income from their effective date of acquisition up to their effective date of disposal. Where necessary,
adjustments are made to the financial statements of Consolidated Subsidiaries to align their policies with those used by
the Group. All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

1.3.3

Treasury shares
Ordinary shares held for the vested benefit of the Group are classified as treasury shares in the statement of changes in
equity. The number of shares includes the shares acquired by subsidiaries within the Group, reflected as treasury shares
in accordance with IFRS.
Treasury shares are treated as a deduction from the issued and weighted average number of shares in issue and
the cost price of the shares is presented as a deduction from equity. On the reissue of the shares to the market the
proceeds are credited to reserves.
Dividends received on treasury shares are eliminated on consolidation.

1.3.4

Use of estimates, judgements and assumptions
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are required to exercise their judgement in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies, making of estimates, judgements and assumptions that affect reported income, expenses,
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities.
Judgement is primarily exercised by the directors in assessing the fair valuation of unlisted investments held by the
Group, which includes (where applicable) the assessment of the recoverability of shareholder funding advances.
Other areas of judgement relate to the classification of financial assets and liabilities into their relevant categories and in
determining their appropriate measurement and disclosure.
A change in accounting estimate is defined as an adjustment to the carrying value of an asset or liability that results from
new developments or information. Changes in accounting estimates are recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income during the period in which the change is made.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2020

1.

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION (CONTINUED)
1.3 Accounting for subsidiaries and associates (continued)
1.3.5 Segmental reporting
The Group has only one operating segment being that of an investment holding company. All segment information can
be obtained through inspection of the consolidated financial statements.
1.4

Translation of financial statements of entities into the presentation currencies
The Company, and its main operating subsidiaries Brait Malta Limited and Brait Mauritius Limited use GBP as their functional
currency. The Group’s financial statements are prepared using both the Euro (EUR) and SA Rand (R/ZAR) as its presentation
currencies given its domiciliation in Malta, its primary listing on the Lux SE and secondary listing on the JSE. Assets and liabilities
of these entities are translated into the Group’s presentation currencies of Euro and Rand at closing exchange rates. Capital and
reserves are translated at historical rates. Income statement items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period.
On disposal of these entities, such translation differences are recognised in profit and loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

1.5

Foreign currency assets and liabilities
In preparing the financial statements of the consolidated subsidiaries, transactions in currencies, other than the entity’s functional
currency, are recorded at the exchange rates prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each statement of financial position
date, monetary items denominated in foreign currency are translated at the closing exchange rates, with differences reflected
as foreign exchange Gains/Losses in profit and loss. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign
currency are translated at the exchange rates prevailing when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical costs in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
For the purpose of presenting the Group financial statements, assets and liabilities are translated into Euro and ZAR presentation
currencies at the closing exchange rates. Income and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates. The resulting
translation differences are reflected as Foreign Currency Translation Reserve (FCTR). The FCTR is primarily driven by translating
the GBP carrying values for Virgin Active, Iceland Foods and New Look as well as the Group’s GBP cash holding and Convertible
Bonds, into the Group’s Euro and ZAR presentation currencies. The FCTR is also impacted by translating the carrying values of
ZAR assets and liabilities from GBP functional currency to Euro and ZAR presentation currencies during the financial year.

1.6

Revenue recognition
1.6.1 Investment gains/(losses)
Investment gains/(losses) are recognised as earned/(incurred). This relates to the fair value gains/(losses) on the Group’s
portfolio investments in the functional currency of the entity holding the investments.
The fair value is determined per IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement (see details under Financial Instruments note).
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1.6.2

Interest income
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset
except for financial assets that subsequently become credit-impaired. Interest income includes interest accrued on
amortised cost shareholder funding. For credit-impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).

1.6.3

Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised on the date the right to receive payment is established, gross of any foreign withholding
taxes. Dividend income includes accrued interest on amortised cost shareholder funding when the contractual terms of
the funding results in the receipt of a dividend.

1.6.4

Fee income
Fee income is recognised as the services are provided by the Group.
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1.

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION (CONTINUED)
1.7 Taxation
Taxation comprises income tax and withholding taxes on foreign income earned.
Income tax for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Current income tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year generated in each of the jurisdictions in which the Group has operations, using respective tax rates enacted
at the statement of financial position date, and any adjustments to tax payable in respect of previous years.
Deferred tax is provided for on the comprehensive basis, using the statement of financial position liability method for all
temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying values for financial reporting
purposes, using tax rates substantially enacted at the statement of financial position date. Deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses can be utilised.
The Group may incur withholding taxes imposed by certain countries on investment income and capital gains. Such income or
gains are recorded gross of withholding taxes in the statement of comprehensive income. Withholding taxes are included in tax
expense in the statement of comprehensive income.
1.8

Property and equipment
Property and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairments.
Depreciation is provided for on the historical cost method, using the straight-line basis, at rates considered appropriate to write
the assets down to their expected residual value over their estimated useful lives which are reassessed at each reporting date.
The value of property and equipment held is insignificant and is not separately disclosed.

1.9

Financial instruments
Financial instruments include all financial assets, financial liabilities and equity instruments including derivative instruments.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Group’s statement of financial position when the Group becomes
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All transactions, including regular way purchases and sales, are recognised
at fair value on trade date.
1.9.1

Classification
Financial instruments are measured in terms of IFRS 9 and the financial instruments are classified into the following
categories:
• Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) – investments;
• Financial assets at amortised cost – shareholder funding, cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivable; or
• Financial liabilities at amortised cost – convertible bonds, borrowings and accounts payable.
The classification of financial assets are on the basis of the business model for managing the financial assets with
the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flow or hold to collect contractual cash
flow and selling financial assets. In the case of debt instruments, an assessment of the instrument’s contractual
term was performed to determine whether the terms give rise on specified states to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest of the principle amount outstanding (referred to as SPPI) and whether there is an
accounting mismatch.

1.9.2

Effective interest method (applicable to debt instruments)
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset/liability and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts/payments (including all
fees paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset/liability or a shorter period where appropriate.
Interest income/expense is recognised on an effective interest basis for instruments other than those designated as
at FVTPL.
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1.

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION (CONTINUED)
1.9 Financial instruments (continued)
1.9.3
Financial instruments as at FVTPL
Financial assets or financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL where the financial asset is either held for trading or it is
designated as at FVTPL.
A financial liability, other than a financial liability held at amortised cost or FVTPL by default, may be designated as at
FVTPL upon initial recognition if:
• it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives and IFRS 9 permits the entire combined
contract (liability) to be designated as at FVTPL.
The Group designates the majority of its financial asset investments as at FVTPL as the Group is managed on a fair
value basis, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in investment gains. Fair Value is determined in accordance with
IFRS 13.
Statement of financial position items carried at fair value include investments in equity instruments and shareholder
funding instruments.
The Group applies a number of methodologies to determine and assess the reasonableness of the fair value, which
may include the following:
•
•
•
•

Earnings multiple;
Recent transaction prices;
Net asset value; or
Price to book multiple

Listed investments are held at quoted transaction prices. Where the listed investment is either thinly traded and/or the
market is inactive, the valuation applied to determine the carrying value is based on the applicable unlisted investment
methodology set out below.
The primary valuation model utilised for valuing unlisted portfolio investments is the maintainable earnings multiple model.
Maintainable earnings are determined with reference to the mix of prior year audited numbers and forecasts for future
periods after adjusting both for non-recurring income/expenditure or abnormal economic conditions if applicable. If the
forecasts are higher than the prior year earnings, as the year progresses the weighting is increased towards the portfolio
company’s forecast. If the forecasts are lower, the forecasted future earnings will usually be used as the maintainable
earnings for valuation purposes.
The Directors decide on an appropriate group of comparable quoted companies from which to base the historic EV/
EBITDA multiple. Pursuant to Brait’s strategy focused on maximising value through the realisation of its existing portfolio
companies over the medium term, the primary reference measure considered at reporting date is the average spot multiple
of the comparable quoted companies included as peers, which is adjusted for points of difference, where required, to the
portfolio company being valued. The three year trailing average peer multiple at reporting date is also considered. Peer
multiples are calculated based on the latest available financial information which may be adjusted based on subsequent
macro or company specific information publicly known if appropriate. Adjustments for points of difference are assessed
by reference to the two key variables of risk and earnings growth prospects and include the nature of operations, type
of market exposure, competitive position, quality of management, capital structure and differences between the liquidity
of the shares being valued and those on a quoted exchange. No control premium or minority discount adjustments
are considered. The resulting valuation multiple is applied to the maintainable EBITDA to calculate the Enterprise Value
(EV) for the portfolio investment. That EV is then adjusted by net cash/debt to calculate net EV to which the Company’s
percentage holding is applied to calculate the Company’s carrying value. Net cash/debt may be adjusted for expected
losses or provisioning required, and for the timing of capex expenditure relative to its commissioning if appropriate.
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1.

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION (CONTINUED)
1.9 Financial instruments (continued)
1.9.3
Financial instruments as at FVTPL (continued)
The equity valuation takes consideration of the portfolio investment’s net debt/cash on hand per its latest available
financial results. Where appropriate, alternative methodologies such as the Price to book or Discounted cash flow
valuation models are applied.
Shareholder funding instruments may be designated at FVTPL at inception where they have distinguishing
characteristics. Some of these characteristics include: (i) the fact that the shareholder funding is linked/stapled to equity
instruments in a portfolio company; (ii) their rate is not referenced to normal market related rates, but is agreed between
Brait and the investee; and (iii) in the event of exit, the funding cannot be settled other than at cost plus accrued
interest, i.e. trade restrictions. For these shareholder funding instruments, cost plus accrued interest is representative of
fair value.
1.9.4

Cash, loans and receivables
The statement of financial position includes accounts receivable and shareholder funding which are recognised initially
at the amount of consideration that is unconditional. Except for shareholder funding designated to FVTPL, these
financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any expected credit losses.
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term,
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

1.9.5

Impairment of financial assets
The expected credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at amortised cost are assessed on a forwardlooking basis. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk. For trade receivables, the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9 is applied, which requires expected lifetime
losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables. The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced
by the expected credit loss directly only when all legal avenues have been exhausted and there is no possibility of an
additional recovery. Changes in the carrying amount and subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
recognised in profit or loss.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the expected credit loss is the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate.

1.9.6

Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or it
transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have
to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

1.9.7

Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of
the contractual arrangement.

1.9.8

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity, after deducting all
its liabilities, and the Group has no obligation to deliver either cash or any other financial asset to the holder. Equity
instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of issue costs.
Cumulative, non-participating preference shares with no fixed maturity, having no fixed repayment profile are treated as
equity instruments.
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1.

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION (CONTINUED)
1.9 Financial instruments (continued)
1.9.9
Financial guarantee contract liabilities, contingent liabilities and commitments
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair values and are subsequently measured at the
higher of:
• the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with the expected credit loss model under IFRS 9; and
• the amount initially recognised, less, where appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the
revenue recognition policies.
A contingent liability is disclosed in the notes to the financial statement where the obligation is only possible and not
probable, in accordance with IAS 37.
1.9.10

Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value plus any directly attributable
transaction costs.
They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with interest expense
recognised on an effective yield basis.

1.9.11

Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
they expire.
A substantial debt modification or a debt exchange with substantially different terms is accounted for as an
extinguishment of the original financial liability. This results in de-recognition of the original loan and the recognition of
a new financial liability at its fair value. This results in a direct impact on profit or loss due to the difference between the
carrying amount of the original financial liability and the fair value of the new financial liability (taking also into account
any cash consideration paid or non-cash assets transferred). A change is substantial if one of the two following tests
are met:
• Quantitative test: the net present value of the cash flows under the new terms discounted at the original effective
interest rate is at least 10% different from the carrying amount of the original debt.
• Qualitative test: A significant change in the terms and conditions that is so fundamental that immediate derecognition is required with no additional quantitative analysis.

1.9.12

Derivative financial instruments
The Group may enter into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to financial risk.
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at each statement of financial position date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss immediately, unless the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument and effective as such, in which
event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship. The Group has not
designated any derivatives as part of an IFRS 9 hedging relationship.

1.10 Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.
1.11 Finance costs
All finance costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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1.

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION (CONTINUED)
1.12 Related-party transactions
All related-party transactions are, unless otherwise disclosed, at arm’s length and are in the normal course of business.
1.13 Adoption of new and revised standards and interpretations
All new and revised standards and interpretations issued by IASB and the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) of the IASB,
as adopted by the European Union, that are relevant to the Group’s operations and effective for annual reporting periods
commencing on 1 April 2019 have been adopted and retrospectively applied. These standards include:
IFRS 16 Leases (issued January 2016 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019) Their adoption has
not had a significant impact on the presentation of the financial statements.
1.14 Standards, interpretations and amendments applicable to the Group not yet effective
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following standards were in issue but not yet effective for the
annual periods commencing on or after the specified dates. The directors do not believe that the below-mentioned standards
have a material impact on the Consolidated and Company financial statements. Except for IFRS 17 Insurance contracts, these
standards have been endorsed by the EU.
IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements (amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020);
IAS 8 Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors (amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2020); and
IFRS 17 Insurance contracts (issued May 2017 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023) These
standards will be adopted when they become applicable.
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2019
R’m

2020
R’m

19 708

10 910

NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE
Ordinary shareholders equity and reserves

525.6
(54.1)

1 374.1
(54.1)

Ordinary shares in issue (m)
Treasury shares (m)

471.5
4 180

1 320.0
827

Outstanding shares for NAV calculation (m)
Net asset value per share (cents)

1 320.0
42

471.5
257

31 444

18 444

936

1 934

17 363
8 803
3 176
1 146
956

9 355
6 047
1 391
940
711

475
307
71
48
35

1 068
541
196
70
59

2020
£’m

2019
£’m

108.0
9.0x

137.6
11.0x

Enterpise value
Less: net third party debt (3)

972.1
(439.5)

1 513.3
(352.5)

Equity Value
Less: shareholder funding (capped at equity value) (4)

532.6
(532.6)

1 160.8
(1 160.8)

2.

3.

INVESTMENTS
The Group’s portfolio of investments
Virgin Active
Premier
Iceland Foods
New Look
Other investments

3.1 Virgin Active
Maintainable EBITDA (1)
EV/EBITDA multiple (2)

Surplus equity value

2019
€’m

553

1 213

1 374.1
(54.1)

525.6
(54.1)

–

–

Brait’s shareholder funding participation % (5, 6)
Shareholder funding value
Brait’s participation % for surplus equity value (5, 6)
Surplus equity value

79.2%
422.0
71.9%
–

79.2%
918.9
71.9%
–

Carrying value (GBP’m) for Brait’s investment

422.0

918.9

R22.17
9 355

R18.89
17 363

Closing GBP/ZAR exchange rate
Carrying value (Rm) for Brait’s investment
(1)
(2)

(3)
(4)
(5)

(6)
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3.1
3.2
3.3
3.4

2020
€’m

Maintainable EBITDA based on look-through to a medium-term post Coronavirus sustainable level of GBP108 million, which represents a
24% reduction of the GBP142 million actual EBITDA achieved by Virgin Active for its financial year ended 31 December 2019.
Pursuant to Brait’s new strategy focused on maximising value through the realisation of its existing portfolio companies over the medium term,
the primary reference measure considered at 31 March 2020 reporting date is the peer group average spot multiple. The average peer spot
multiple decreased from 12.7x (31 March 2019) to 10.8x, resulting in a decrease in the valuation multiple applied from 11.0x to 9.0x.
Net debt of GBP344.3 million per Virgin Active’s March 2020 management accounts has been increased by GBP95.2 million (28% increase) to
GBP440 million. The adjustment applied takes consideration of the estimated effect of working capital and costs deferred during the lockdown period.
GBP denominated shareholder funding bears interest at a fixed rate of 10%, is unsecured, with no fixed repayment terms and matures 16 July 2025.
Brait announced on 16 July 2015 the completion of the acquisition of c.80% of Virgin Active. During September 2015, further classes of
non-voting share capital (sweet equity) were issued to the Virgin Active management team subject to vesting over a 4 year term. The valuation
at reporting date reflects the full dilution to Brait’s economic interest in the equity value of Virgin Active.
Brait entered into a series of put option agreements with the Virgin Active management team based on Brait’s fair value of Virgin Active at the
exercise date and as a result, do not expose Brait to fair value risk.
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3.

2020
R’m

2019
R’m

1 010
8.0x

1 009
11.0x

Enterpise value
Less: net third party debt at valuation date (2)
Less: shareholder funding at valuation date

8 080
(1 989)
(3 197)

11 094
(2 053)
(3 028)

Equity Value
Brait’s shareholding in Premier (3)

2 894
98.5%

6 013
96.1%

Brait’s carrying value (ZAR’m) for its investment in Premier (4)

6 047

8 803

Equity value
Shareholder funding (5)

2 850
3 197

5 775
3 028

INVESTMENTS CONTINUED
3.2 Premier
Maintainable EBITDA
EV/EBITDA multiple (1)

(1)

(2)

(3)
(4)

(5)

Pursuant to Brait’s new strategy focused on maximising value through the realisation of its existing portfolio companies over the medium
term, the primary reference measure considered at 31 March 2020 reporting date is the peer group average spot multiple. The average
peer spot multiple decreased from 10.4x (31 March 2019) to 8.8x, resulting in a decrease in the valuation multiple from 11.0x to 8.0x.
Net third party debt at 31 March 2020 normalised to exclude R236m capex investment which had not yet generated EBITDA at that
date as well as R24 million of other adjustments. Prior year normalised for net R120 million adjustment primarily arising from the late
collection of receipts from debtors, as a result of the last date of the reporting period falling on a weekend.
Increase in Brait’s shareholding due to exercise of put and call option agreements during the year.
Brait has entered into a series of put option agreements with the Premier management team, based on Brait’s fair value of Premier at the
exercise date and as a result, do not expose Brait to fair value risk.
Shareholder funding, which has all been advanced by Brait, carries a return based on the ruling SA prime interest rate plus a margin of
2% and is unsecured, with no fixed repayment terms.
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for the year ended 31 March 2020

3.

2020
£’m

2019
£’m

INVESTMENTS CONTINUED
3.3 Iceland Foods
Maintainable EBITDA
EV/EBITDA multiple (1)

134.0
6.0x

140.0
7.0x

Enterpise value
Less: net third party debt (2)

804.0
(704.5)

980.0
(713.5)

Equity value
Brait’s shareholding in Iceland Foods (%)

99.5
63.1%

266.5
63.1%

62.8
22.17
1 391

168.1
R18.89
3 176

Carrying value (GBP’m) for Brait’s investment in Iceland Foods
Closing GBP/ZAR exchange rate
Carrying value (ZAR’m) for investment in Iceland Foods
(1)

(2)

R
R’m

Pursuant to Brait’s new strategy focused on maximising value through the realisation of its existing portfolio companies over the medium
term, the primary reference measure considered at 31 March 2020 reporting date is the peer group average spot multiple. The average
peer spot multiple decreased from 7.8x (31 March 2014) to 6.7x, resulting in a decrease in the valuation multiple from 7.0x to 6.0x.
Net debt as at 31 March 2020 of £704.5m represents includes £17.0m interest accrued on term debt.

3.4 New Look
Equity and shareholder funding (1)
Senior Secured Notes (SSNs) (2)
Bridge facility
Carrying value (GBP’m) at reporting date
Closing GBP/ZAR exchange rate
Brait’s carrying value (ZAR’m)
(1)

(2)
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R
R’m

2020
£’m

2019
£’m

–
42.4
–

–
45.3
15.3

42.4
22.17
940

60.6
18.89
1 146

Post New Look’s 3 May 2019 balance sheet restructure, Brait’s equity holding in New Look is 18.5% (pre-restructure: 83.5%). Since
September 2017, Brait has valued its equity investment at nil.
Brait’s GBP75.3 million nominal value of SSN’s held as at 31 March 2020, together with accrued interest, valued using the quoted
Bloomberg price of 0.549.
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2019
R’m

2020
R’m
4.

834

3 887

74
9
751

61
9
3 817

2019
€’m

197

51

3
–
194

5
1
45

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Balances with banks (1)
– ZAR cash
– USD cash
– GBP cash
(1)

5.

2020
€’m

 f the total cash balance of R3.9 billion held by the Group,
O
R3.8 billion is held by Brait SE, with R0.1 billion held by BML. Cash is
placed with banks having a credit rating of at least Baa3

SHARE CAPITAL AND PREMIUM
Authorised share capital
The Company has authorised ordinary share capital of €1 100 000 000 represented by 5 000 000 000 at par value of 0.22 € cents
per share. The Company has reserved, for the allocation and potential issue from conversion on maturity of the 2024 Bonds,
287 411 381 ordinary shares in terms of its obligation to the holders of the 2024 Bonds.
The Company has 20 000 000 authorised but unissued preference share capital.

R’m

Number of
shares in
issue

5 388

525 599 215

1 152
4 236
(912)
4 476

525 599 215

31 March 2018

€’m

525 599 215

565

Share capital
Share premium

116
449

Net treasury shares repurchased

(57)

31 March 2019

525 599 215

Share capital
Share premium

1 152
3 324
5 448

Issued ordinary share capital

Number of
shares in
issue

848 484 848

Rights Offer and specific issue of shares

9 924 1 374 084 063

31 March 2020

4 157
5 767

Share capital
Share premium

508
116
392

848 484 848

339

1 374 084 063

847
303
544
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2019

2020
5.

17 475 070
36 616 189

54 091 259
–

54 091 259

54 091 259

SHARE CAPITAL AND PREMIUM CONTINUED
5.1 TREASURY SHARES
Opening shares held for the vested benefit of the Group
Net shares purchased
Closing shares held for the vested benefit of the Group

2020

2018

54 091 259
–

17 475 070
36 616 189

54 091 259

54 091 259

2020
€’m

2019
€’m

148

–

Note 1: Treasury shares have subsequently been cancelled
(Refer to note 21).
2019
R’m

2020
R’m

–

2 925

6.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS (6.50% DUE 2024)
On 4 December 2019 Brait received £150 million from the
issuance of its five year unsubordinated, unsecured convertible
bonds (“2024 Bonds”). The 2024 Bonds listed on the Open
Market (Freiverkehr) segment of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange on
29 January 2020 and carry a fixed coupon of 6.50% per annum
payable semi-annually in arrears.
The initial conversion price of £0.9375 per ordinary share
represented a 25% premium to the VWAP of Brait’s ordinary
shares on the JSE Limited between open and close of trading
on 27 November 2019, converted at the prevailing ZAR:GBP
spot rate at the time of pricing. The adjusted conversion price
at reporting date is £0.5219 per ordinary share, which takes
into account Brait’s Rights Offer and specific issue of shares,
in accordance with the 2024 Bonds terms and conditions.
Using this conversion price, the 2024 Bonds would be entitled
to convert into a maximum of 287.411 million ordinary shares
(subject to rounding provisions) (21.8% of Brait’s current share
capital excluding treasury shares of 1,319.993 million ordinary
shares) on exercise of bondholder conversion rights.
In the event that the bondholders have not exercised their
conversion rights in accordance with the terms and conditions of
the 2024 Bonds, the 2024 Bonds are settled at par value in cash
on maturity on 4 December 2024.
In accordance with IAS 32 (Financial Instruments: Presentation),
the liability component for the 2024 Bonds is measured at
reporting date as GBP132 million.

122

–
–
–
–
–

–
2 841
(361)
18
427

Reconciliation of the movements for the year:
Opening Balance
£150 million 2024 Bonds issued 4 December 2019
IFRS equity component allocated to Convertible Bonds reserves
Release of IFRS equity reserve over 5-year term
Foreign currency translation reserve

–
173
(22)
1
(4)

–
–
–
–
–

–

2 925

Closing Balance

148

–
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2019
R’m

2020
R’m

6 359

3 303

5 443
154
–

6 359
252
(3 376)

–
762

(466)
534

6 359

3 303

4 719
494
–
1 945

6 511
648
–
(2 239)

2 288
(343)

170
(2 409)

(647)

(318)

6 511

4 602

7.

8.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS (2.75% DUE 2020)
On 18 September 2015 Brait received £350 million from the
issuance of its five year unsubordinated, unsecured convertible
bonds (“2020 Bonds”). The 2020 Bonds listed on the Open
Market (Freiverkehr) segment of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange on
15 October 2015 and carry a fixed coupon of 2.75% per annum
payable semi-annually in arrears. The initial conversion price of
£7.9214 per ordinary share represented a 30% premium to the
VWAP of Brait’s ordinary shares between launch and pricing on
11 September 2015. The adjusted conversion price at reporting
date is £5.4218 per ordinary share, which takes into account
Brait’s bonus share issue and cash dividend alternative since date
of issue and Brait’s Rights Offer and specific issue of shares, in
accordance with the 2020 Bonds terms and conditions.
During the year Brait repurchased £201 million face value of the
2020 Bonds. Given the adjusted conversion price, it is likely that
the remaining £149 million outstanding on the 2020 Bonds will
be required to be settled by their maturity of 18 September 2020,
for which Brait holds cash in Pound Sterling converted from the
Rights Offer proceeds received.
Reconciliation of the movements for the year:
Opening Balance
Release of IFRS equity reserve over 5-year term
Repurchase of £180 million 2020 Bonds on 4 December 2019
Repurchase of £21 million 2020 Bonds on 31 March 2020
(refer note 9)
Foreign currency translation reserve

2020
€’m

2019
€’m

168

391

391
15
(205)

373
10
–

(28)
(5)

–
8

Closing Balance

168

391

BORROWINGS
Opening Balance
Interest accrual
Foreign currency translation
Net (repayment)/drawdown of Borrowings

400
39
(49)
(137)

323
31
(35)
122

Drawdowns
Capital repayments

10
(147)

144
(22)

Interest repayments

(19)

(41)

Closing Balance

234

400

Brait completed the refinancing of its revolving credit facility held
by its subsidiary Brait Mauritius Limited (“BML”) (the “BML RCF”)
effective 31 March 2020. The ZAR6.3 billion facility, with agreed
facility limit reductions as Brait de-gears, is held with FirstRand Bank
Limited (trading through its Rand Merchant Bank division) (“RMB”)
and The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited (the “Lenders”)
and has a three-year tenure to 28 February 2023. The initial margin
on the BML RCF is JIBAR plus 4.6% repayable quarterly (with the
margin decreasing as the facility limit reduces), with a right to rollup
these quarterly interest payments. Covenants remain NAV based and
have been set with sufficient headroom for short term volatility, with
the facility continuing to be secured on a senior basis by the assets
of BML, which includes the investments (refer note 3) and the cash
held by BML (refer note 4). The modification relating to the BML RCF
has not resulted in any significant gain/loss.
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2019
R’m

2020
R’m

24

605

(6 421)

(12 589)

(10 813)
4 392

(15 576)
2 987

9.

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER LIABILITIES
Included in accounts payable at reporting date are the R60 million
accrual of fees relating to the refinance of the BML RCF,
R74 million in respect of the coupon accruals on the Bonds; and
£20 million for the repurchase of £21 million 2020 Bonds (which
was settled on 2 April 2020).

10. INVESTMENT LOSSES
Revaluation of investments
Investment losses
Translation adjustments (2)
(1)

(1)

(2)

2019
€’m

31

1

(760)

(403)

(948)
188

(679)
276

29

34

23
5
1

24
8
2

Investment losses in the current financial year impacted by
(i) the reduction in valuation multiples; and (ii) the impact of the
Coronavirus on portfolio company profitability and outlook.
Given Brait uses the Pound as its functional currency, “Investment
(losses)/gains” does not include the effect of GBP/ZAR and GBP/
EURO exchange rate movements when translating the Group’s
Pound denominated investments (Virgin Active, Iceland Foods and
New Look) into the Group’s Rand and Euro presentation currencies.
These exchange rate movements are included in “Translation
adjustments”, which are included in “Comprehensive (loss)/income
for the year”. For enhanced disclosure, the note shows the net effect
of both components as “Revaluation of investments.

539

480

11. FINANCE INCOME

375
131
33

395
77
8

278

224

12. OPERATING EXPENSES

14

18

19
220
16
7
12
4

21
165
18
3
12
5

Directors fees
Advisory fees
Professional fees (1)
Travel and accommodation
Other operating expenses
External audit fees

1
11
1
–
1
–

1
15
1
–
1
–

Premier shareholder funding income (interest and dividends)
Interest earned on New Look SSNs and Bridge Loan
Other interest income

(1)
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Largely made up of legal fees, as well as comprising fees relating to
internal audit, administration and fees paid/payable to external
auditors in relation to non-audit services (such fees deemed
immaterial to the Group)

2019
R’m

2020
R’m

523

164

494
17

641
78

173
154
–
–

218
270
(58)
91

838

1 240

–

–

26
26

13. OTHER EXPENSES
Other expenses for the current period include the cost
of terminating the previous advisory agreement including
retrenchments and office closure costs. The expense for the prior
year related to the movement in Brait’s net exposure in terms of
its financial guarantee, which was fully settled on 22 March 2019
14. FINANCE COSTS
BML RCF:
– Interest expense
– Raising and commitment fees
Convertible Bonds:
– Coupon
– Release of IFRS equity reserve over term
– Discount to par on repurchase of 2020 Bonds
– Issue costs
Total finance cost

2020
€’m

2019
€’m

10

33

39
5

31
1

13
16
(3)
6

11
10
–
–

76

53

–

–

22

15. TAXATION
Malta
Foreign income tax expense
Current

1

2

22

Total taxation expense

1

2

%

%

Tax reconciliation
Certain subsidiaries are domiciled outside of Malta and are
subject to taxes on profits at the rates prevailing in the respective
jurisdictions. The reconciliation of the tax rate below starts with
the Company tax position in its Malta domicilium. In Malta, the
jurisdiction that the holding Company is registered, the income tax
rate at 31 March 2020 is 35% (March 2019: 35%)
%

%

35

35

Tax rate

35

35

(20)

(20)

(20)

(20)

(15)
–

(15)
–

Foreign tax rate adjustments
Effect of non-taxable income – Dividends and other
non-taxable gains
Effective tax rate % for the year

(15)
–

(15)
–
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2019
R’m

2020
R’m

(11 266)
508

(15 960)
570

(2 219)

(2 799)

365
157
232
44

609
293
231
4

798

1 137

16. HEADLINE EARNINGS RECONCILIATION
Loss and headline loss
Weighted average ordinary shares in issue (m) – basic
Loss and headline loss per share (cents) – basic and diluted
The conversion of the 2024 Bonds is anti-dilutive given the loss
and headline loss per share
17. INVESTMENT PROCEEDS RECEIVED
Investment proceeds received comprise of:
Virgin Active
New Look (1)
Premier
Other investments
Total investment proceeds received
(1)

Represents the repayment of the Bridge Loan received together with
interest accrued thereon on 3 May 2019

18. NEW LOOK DEBTOR FACTORING
In terms of Brait’s Debtor Purchase Agreement with New Look
(“Agreement”) entered into on 10 May 2018, R210 million was
purchased during the year (2019: R1,420 million). Following
the completion of the New Look balance sheet restructure on
3 May 2019, the Agreement has ceased and has been wound
down resulting in proceeds received of R452 million for the year
(2019: R1,187 million). Brait received all amounts advanced in
terms of the Agreement.
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2020
€’m

2019
€’m

(972)
570

(708)
508

(170)

(139)

37
18
14
–

22
10
15
3

69

50

2019
R’m

2020
R’m

2020
€’m

2019
€’m

(1)
–
–

(1)
–
–

19. RELATED PARTY BALANCES
Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries have been
eliminated on consolidation or on fair value of subsidiaries and are not
disclosed in this note.
During the year, Group companies entered into the following transactions
with related parties who are not members of the Group:
• Pursuant to the Company’s R5.6 billion Rights Offer and specific
issue of shares (“Equity Capital Raise”), the following contracts were
entered into in the ordinary course of business during the current
financial year:
–– On 26 November 2019, the Company obtained an irrevocable
undertaking from Titan (1) pursuant to which Titan agreed that it/any
relevant affiliates shall subscribe for new shares at the R6.60 offer
price (“Offer Price”) having an aggregate value of R750 million.
The Company also obtained further irrevocable undertakings
from various other major institutional shareholders to subscribe
for all, or a portion of, their respective entitlements to new shares
at the Offer Price, having an aggregate value of R1.378 billion.
The Company agreed to pay each such shareholder (including
Titan) a commission equal to 1% of the aggregate number of
new shares taken up multiplied by Offer Price. In this regard,
Titan received a commission payment of R7.5 million together with
applicable value added or similar tax.
–– On 27 November 2019, the Company, the Ethos Underwriters (2),
Titan and RMB, entered into an agreement pursuant to providing firm
underwriting commitments to subscribe for new shares at the Offer
Price. In this regard, the Company agreed to pay a 2% commission
as follows: (i) to the Ethos Underwriters, on a first commitment basis,
up to their maximum commitment value of R1.35 billion; (ii) to Titan,
on a second commitment basis, up to a maximum commitment value
of R250 million; and (iii) to RMB, on a third commitment basis, up to a
maximum commitment value of R1.522 billion. In this regard, together
with applicable value added or similar tax, the Ethos Underwriters
received commission of R27 million, with Titan receiving R5 million.
• Ethos Private Equity Proprietary Limited (“EPE”) was appointed as the
contracted advisor to BML effective 1 March 2020. Pursuant to this
agreement, EPE received R8.3 million for such services performed
during the financial year.
(1)

(2)

(19)
(4)
(2)

(21)
–
(1)

Titan refers to Titan Financial Services Proprietary Limited. Dr CH Wiese,
a director and significant shareholder of Brait, is a director and indirect
beneficiary of Titan.
Ethos Underwriters refers to EPE Capital Partners Limited (Ethos Capital)
and Ethos Fund VII GP (SA) Proprietary Limited (Ethos Fund VII),
which are affiliated with EPE, the contracted advisor to BML.

Profit from operations include:
Non-executive directors’ fees
Professional fees – M Partners S.a.r.l (3)
Other expenses – Maitland International Holdings Plc (3)
(3)

HRW Troskie is a director and shareholder of Brait as well as being a
director and shareholder of Maitland International Holdings Plc. For the
period to 31 March 2019, M Partners S.a r.l. was a Maitland network law
firm and provided legal services to Brait. Mr Troskie is neither a director nor
a shareholder of M Partners S.a r.l.
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2019
R’m

2020
R’m

6 886

7 753

182
91
–
6 613

261
864
3 303
3 325

14

10

2
3

–
–

20. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS
20.1 Commitments
Convertible Bonds commitments
–
–
–
–

Coupon payment due within one year
Coupon payments due between one and five years (1)
Principle settlement due within one year (1)
Principle settlement due within five years (1)

(1)

The coupon payments reflect the respective semi-annual
coupons of 2.75% and 6.5% payable in arrears over the
remaining six month term of the 2020 Bonds and remaining
five year term of the 2024 Bonds. The principal settlement
amounts are payable in the event that the respective
bondholders have not exercised their conversion rights.
Brait holds cash in Pound Sterling, converted from the Equity
Capital raise proceeds, for the redemption of the outstanding
2020 Bonds.

Private equity funding commitments
Rental commitments (Malta and Mauritius) (2)
– Within one year
– Between one and five years
(2)

6 905

7 763

2020
€’m

2019
€’m

394

424

13
44
168
169

11
6
–
407

1

1

–
–

–
–

395

425

IFRS 16 became effective for the Group during the current year
ending 31 March 2020. As such, these are no longer
recognised as rental commitments from 1 April 2019.

Total commitments
20.2 Other
The Group has rights and obligations in terms of standard
shareholder representations or purchase and sale agreements
relating to its present or former investments.

21. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS NOTE
In line with the Group’s new strategy focused on maximising value through the realisation of existing assets, Brait announced the
following non-adjusting post balance sheet event disposal transactions:
• On 13 May 2020, all of the conditions relating to the sale of Brait’s entire 91.3% shareholding in DGB were fulfilled for a total consideration
of R470 million, which was largely in line with its September 2019 carrying value and equal to the March 2020 carrying value. Brait applied
the first tranche of proceeds of R370 million received on 1 June 2020 to partially repaying the BML RCF. The remaining R100 million is to
be received in two deferred payments of R50 million each by 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2022 respectively.
• On 8 June 2020, completed the sale of Brait’s entire 63.1% shareholding interest in Iceland Foods to a newly established company
(“Newco”), returning the business to ownership by its founder and management team. The sale consideration to be paid by
NewCo to Brait is GBP115 million in cash payable in three instalments. Brait received the first tranche of proceeds of GBP60
million (R1,275 million) on 8 June 2020, which was applied to partially repaying the BML RCF. The remaining instalments of
GBP26.9 million and GBP28.1 million are to be received by 30 July 2021 and 29 July 2022 respectively (the “Deferred Payments”).
NewCo may settle the Deferred Payments in full, or in part, at any time on or before these payment dates, in which case a rebate
for early repayment shall be applied. Brait’s carrying value for its stake in Iceland Foods as at 31 March 2020 was GBP62.8 million
(R1,391 million).
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Impact of Coronavirus
• The financial reporting impacts associated with Coronavirus were considered to be sufficiently prevalent in the portfolio companies’
major markets at 31 March 2020. The outbreak triggered an unexpected and unprecedented impact on global markets, resulting in
a sharp decline in peer group multiples, as well as impacting short-term profitability, liquidity and gearing in a number of businesses.
Whilst the longer term impact on the global economy and each portfolio company remains uncertain, the impact of Coronavirus
and the various government interventions to prevent its spread has had a short term impact on Brait’s portfolio, as disclosed in note
3. Each portfolio company has proactively implemented plans, where possible, to mitigate the impacts of Coronavirus through this
difficult period, focussing on reducing costs, preserving cash and maximising liquidity, as well as implementing effective measures
to best meet customer demand in a safe and healthy manner. Coronavirus-related events that arose in the period subsequent to
balance sheet date, which provided additional information in relation to assets and liabilities in existence at 31 March 2020, have
therefore, from a valuation perspective, been considered adjusting subsequent events. Brait remains confident that the actions
taken by its portfolio companies are appropriate and timely.
• On 15 June 2020, to enable the Virgin Active UK, Italy and Asia Pacific territories to navigate appropriately through the current
exceptional circumstances as a result of Coronavirus, shareholders contributed GBP20m of new funding (Brait’s pro rata share
being GBP16 million, by way of shareholder loans). In addition, Virgin Enterprises Limited agreed to defer and subordinate
GBP5 million of royalties incurred during 2020 to beyond the maturity of Virgin Active’s UK, Italy and Asia Pacific banking facilities.
This aggregate funding of GBP25m million has been matched by a further GBP25 million of new bank debt from the UK, Italy and
Asia Pacific banking syndicate, with the existing covenant package to be replaced by a liquidity-based covenant until December
2021 (returning to EBITDA-based testing thereafter).
Cancellation of treasury shares
• At the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 14 January 2020, Shareholders approved the reduction of the share capital of the
Company through the cancellation of the 54 091 259 Treasury Shares held for the vested benefit of the Group, subject to the provisions
of article 83 of the Maltese Companies Act. These provisions have been satisfied with the Treasury Shares subsequently cancelled.
22.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
22.1 Sector analysis for investments
2019
R’m

2020
R’m

17 363
8 803
3 176
1 146
956

9 355
6 047
1 391
940
711

31 444

18 444

Consumer services – fitness
Consumer goods – food products
Consumer goods – food retailer
Consumer services – in apparel retailer (1)
Other
(1)

2020
€’m

2019
€’m

475
307
71
48
35

1 068
541
196
70
59

936

1 934

Carrying value at 31 March 2020 represents Brait’s holding
in New Look SSNs (31 March 2019: Brait’s holding in SSN’s
and its share of the New Look Bridge Facility).

22.2 Investment shareholding analysis

Shareholding in the <20% range
Shareholding in the >25% range

(1)

2020

2019

Other investments
New Look (1)
–
Virgin Active
Premier
Iceland Foods
Other investments

Other investments
–
New Look
Virgin Active
Premier
Iceland Foods
Other investments

New Look completed its balance sheet restructuring on 3 May 2019. Post the restructure, Brait’s equity holding in New Look has
reduced to 18.5%.
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22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES CONTINUED
22.3 Categories of financial assets
Financial assets and liabilities are measured on an ongoing basis either at fair value or at amortised cost. The summary of
significant accounting policies describes how the classes of financial instruments are measured. The following table analyses the
carrying amounts of the financial assets and liabilities by category as defined in IFRS 9.
2019
R’m

2020
R’m

2020
€’m

2019
€’m

28 127
3 641

15 247
3 211

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss (1)
Financial assets at amortised cost

774
163

1 730
224

3 317
324

3 197
14

Shareholder funding (1) (2)
Accounts receivable

162
1

204
20

(12 894)

(11 435)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

(581)

(792)

(6 359)
(6 511)
(24)

(6 228)
(4 602)
(605)

Convertible Bonds
Borrowings
Accounts payable

(316)
(234)
(31)

(391)
(400)
(1)

(10 813)

(15 576)

Change in fair value recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income

(948)

(679)

(10 813)

(15 576)

Designated fair valued through profit and loss

(948)

(679)

(1)

At reporting date, investments of R18,444 million
(2019: R31,444 million) reflected on the statement of financial
position comprises: (i) financial assets designated at fair value
through profit and loss of R15,247 million
(2019: R28,127 million); and (ii) shareholder funding of
R3,197 million (2019: R3,317 million).

(2)

Shareholder funding of R3,197 million represents Brait’s
shareholder loan in Premier (FY2019: R3,317 million
comprising Premier shareholder loan of R3,028 million
together with Brait’s share of the New Look Bridge Facility,
including accrued interest of R289 million).

22.4 Fair value hierarchy
IFRS 13 provides a hierarchy that classifies inputs employed to determine fair value. Investments measured and reported at fair
value are classified and disclosed in one of the following categories:
Level 1 Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 	Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).
Level 3 Inputs for the assets or liability that are not based on observable market data.
There are no financial assets that are categorised as Level 2 in the current year or prior year. All level 3 investments have been
valued using maintainable earnings multiples method (as per note 1.9.3). The changes in fair values in investments is attributable
to fair value losses, foreign currency exchange differences and changes in shareholding.
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22.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES CONTINUED
22.4 Fair value hierarchy (continue)
Investment
Level 1
R’m

Investment
Level 3
R’m

Total
R’m

–
–
–
940
–

9 355
2 850
1 391
–
711

9 355
2 850
1 391
940
711

940

14 307

–
–
–
–
–
–
(1)

Investments designated as fair
value through profit and loss

Investment
Level 1
€’m

Investment
Level 3
€’m

Total
€’m

2020
Virgin Active
Premier
Iceland
New Look (1)
Other investments

–
–
–
48
–

475
145
71
–
35

475
145
71
48
35

15 247

Investments at fair value

48

726

774

17 363
5 776
3 176
856
956

17 363
5 776
3 176
856
956

2019
Virgin Active
Premier
Iceland
New Look
Other investments

–
–
–
–
–

1 068
355
196
52
59

1 068
355
196
52
59

28 127

28 127

Investments at fair value

–

1 730

1 730

The prior year balance represents Brait’s holding in the New Look Senior Secure Notes (SSNs), which were valued using the post
balance sheet restructuring conversion ratio price of 0.234561 applied to the nominal value of Brait’s 18.2% holding, and Brait’s pro-rata
proportion of the Bridge Facility advanced to New Look together with accrued interest thereon (unobservable inputs). In the current year
the balance represents Brait’s holding in the SSNs, together with accrued interest thereon, valued at the quoted market price as at
31 March 2020 (observable inputs).

23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The overall governance structure and high level policies relating to the manner in which Brait manages the risk it is exposed to have
been described in the Governance Report on pages 55 to 69. IFRS 7 requires more detail regarding the processes and procedures
utilised to measure various risk categories, namely market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
23.1 Capital Management
The Group policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor and market confidence and to sustain the future
development of the business.
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to:
• safeguard their ability to continue as a going concern, so that they can continue to provide returns for shareholders; and
• maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
The capitalisation of Brait has been considered in the context of its existing cash and near cash resources, its current debt levels,
Convertible Bonds funding and associated obligations. The result of this consideration is that Brait is regarded as appropriately
capitalised at this time. For the current year no cash dividend has been declared as the Board has resolved to reduce debt at the
Brait level and only declaring a dividend by way of bonus shares is not tax effective to some shareholder jurisdictions. This will
continue to be reviewed by the Board. There are no regulatory capital requirements.
23.2 Market Risk
Market risk is the potential change in the value of a financial instrument resulting from changes in market conditions or market
parameters such as equity prices, exchange rates or interest rates. The risk of a decrease in the value of the portfolio can
be measured by the susceptibility of that portfolio to movements in the overall market conditions or any of the investment
specific parameters.
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23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED
23.2 Market Risk continued
Brait is exposed to three primary types of market risk, namely equity risk, interest rate risk and currency risk. These risks are
monitored by the Board. The specific risk management objectives, policies and procedures relating to each type of market risk
is described, and the impact on the statement of comprehensive income (SOCI) / statement of changes in equity (SOCE) is
disclosed in the sections below:
23.2.1 Equity risk management
Equity risk is the potential change in the value of a financial instrument resulting from changes in market conditions.
The valuation of unquoted investments depend upon a combination of market factors and the performance of the
underlying asset. The Group does not hedge the price risk inherent in the portfolio but manages investment performance
risk on an investment-specific basis.
Brait is exposed to equity risk through its investment in portfolio companies.
Brait’s predominant exposure to equity risk is related to the sensitivities of movements in the fair value of its investments.
The valuation multiple applied in determining the fair value of Brait’s investments is referenced to the average spot multiple
of the comparable quoted companies included as peers, which is adjusted for points of difference, where required, to the
portfolio company being valued. The three year trailing average peer multiple at reporting date is also considered.
The table that follows sets out an analysis of the Group’s investment’s sensitivity to equity price variability by analysing
the impact of a change in the valuation multiple applied on the fair value of its investments.
Carrying
value
exposed to
equity risk

(1)

Reasonable
possible
change in
Pre-tax
valuation SOCI/SOCE
multiple
impact

R’m

R’m

R’m

9 355
6 047
1 391

± 1.0x
± 1.0x
± 1.0x

17 363
17 363
8 803
3 176

+ 1.0x
- 1.0x
± 1.0x
± 1.0x

Investments exposed to
equity risk

Carrying
value
exposed to
equity risk

Reasonable
possible
change in
Pre-tax
valuation SOCI/SOCE
multiple
impact

2020

€’m

€’m

€’m

± 1 897
± 995
± 1 874

Virgin Active
Premier
Iceland

475
307
71

± 1.0x
± 1.0x
± 1.0x

± 96
± 51
± 95

+ 1 961
- 2 058
± 969
± 1 668

2019
Virgin Active
Virgin Active (1)
Premier
Iceland

1 068
1 068
541
196

+ 1.0x
- 1.0x
± 1.0x
± 1.0x

123
- 129
± 61
± 105

A potential decrease of 1.0x in the valuation multiple applied to Virgin Active results in a higher impact to pre-tax SOCI/SOCE
than a corresponding potential increase in the valuation multiple of 1.0x given the influence of sweet equity awarded to the
Virgin Active management team.

23.2.2 Interest rate risk management
Interest rate risk refers to the impact on future cash flows and earnings of interest rates re-pricing either at different
points in time or on a different basis on assets and liabilities. The Group assesses interest rate risk at different levels
depending on where the risk arises. Where appropriate, interest rate risk profiles are matched in order to reduce the
impact of interest rate volatility and to match the estimated yield of the underlying portfolio company investments to
borrowings used to fund those investments. This is done where it is considered appropriate and may be achieved
through either fixed rate funding or interest rate derivative instruments.
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23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED
23.2 Market Risk continued
23.2.2 Interest rate risk management (continued)
Shareholder funding, other than those designated at fair value through profit or loss, are carried at amortised cost.
The amortised cost valuation for Premier shareholder funding approximates fair value as these loans are variable at
market related rates. Shareholder funding in Virgin Active has been designated at fair value through profit and loss
at inception and due to its distinguishing characteristics, cost plus accrued interest is representative of its fair value.
Therefore the fixed rate of 10% compounded annually has no impact on Brait’s future cash flows or earnings from
repricing of interest rates.
The 2020 Bonds and the 2024 Bonds are accounted for as compound financial instruments. They carry a fixed coupon
of 2.75% and 6.5% per annum respectively, payable semi-annually in arrears. The fair value of the liability components
are initially recognised as the present value of the future coupon and principal payments. The discount rates used are
market rates for similar liabilities that do not have the equity conversion component. Subsequent to initial recognition,
the liability components are measured at amortised cost using the discount rate at initial recognition of 5.51% for the
2020 Bonds and 9.77% for the 2024 Bonds.
The Brait Group’s borrowings bear interest at a variable rate linked to the 3-month JIBAR.
Carrying
value
exposed to
interest
rate risk

Index to
which
interest
rate is
linked

Reasonable
possible
change in
interest rate

3 197
3 887

Prime (SA)

1%

32
2

3 817 Base rate (UK)
61
Prime (SA)
9 Base rate (US)

0.025%
1%
0.025%

1
1
–

7 084
4 602

Jibar

1%

4 602

Carrying
value
exposed to
interest
rate risk

Index to
which
interest
rate is
linked

Reasonable
possible
change in
interest rate

2020
Premier
Cash & cash equivalents

162
197

Prime (SA)

1%

2
–

– GBP
– ZAR
– USD

194 Base rate (UK)
3
Prime (SA)
– Base rate (US)

0.025%
1%
0.025%

–
–
–

34

Total financial assets

359

46

Borrowings

234

46

Total financial liabilities

234

2019
Premier
New Look Bridge Facility
Cash & cash equivalents

186
18
51

Prime (SA)
Libor (UK)

1%
0.025%

2
–
–

45
5
1

Base rate (UK)
Prime (SA)
Base rate (US)

0.025%
1%
0.025%

–
–
–

Jibar

1%

Pre-tax
SOCI/SOCE
impact

3 028
289
834

Prime (SA)
Libor (UK)

1%
0.025%

30
–
1

751
74
9

Base rate (UK)
Prime (SA)
Base rate (US)

0.025%
1%
0.025%

–
1
–

Jibar

1%

4 151
6 511
6 511

Investments exposed to
interest rate risk

– GBP
– ZAR
– USD

31

Total financial assets

255

65

Borrowings

400

65

Total financial liabilities

400

Pre-tax
SOCI/SOCE
impact

2
Jibar

1%

2
2

2
4
4
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23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED
23.2 Market Risk continued
23.2.3 Foreign exchange rate risk management
The Group’s financial statements are prepared using both the Euro and Rand as its presentation currencies.
The Group’s subsidiaries have one of three functional currencies: GBP (£/GBP), SA Rand or USD (US$). The holding
company, Brait SE, and its main operating subsidiaries use GBP as their functional currency. Brait’s predominant
exposure to foreign exchange rate fluctuations is related to the sensitivities of movements in the presentation value of its
investments as a result of using both the Euro and Rand as its presentation currencies.
Brait does not seek to hedge the carrying value of foreign investments but will consider hedging strategies for cash flows
denominated in foreign currencies are deemed significant for the Group. Investment portfolio companies that enter into
transactions denominated in foreign currencies as part of the normal course of operations hedge these as appropriate.
The Group’s primary investments are GBP and Rand denominated.
23.3 Credit risk
Credit and counterparty risk refers to the effects on future cash flows and earnings of borrowers defaulting on their obligations.
This also covers trading counterparties, issuers of instruments held by the Group or as collateral. Such risk arises primarily from
lending and investment activities as well as from the settlement of financial market transactions.
These exposures are managed through prudent credit exposure limits, constantly measuring current credit exposures, estimating
maximum potential credit exposures that may arise over the duration of a transaction, and responding quickly when corrective
action needs to be taken.
The Group’s assets are predominantly unsecured investments in unlisted companies. The Group considers the overall risk
exposure of the investment as a whole, therefore significant changes in a particular sector or unexpected increases in interest
rates could increase the credit risk inherent in the investment. This risk is mitigated through portfolio diversification and
active management.
Unless otherwise indicated, the maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying value of the investment. Given the nature of the
risk in loans to investee companies, no additional collateral is taken against the credit risk exposures.
The Group’s remaining financial assets are mainly in the form of deposits spread over reputable banks.
23.4 Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk arises in the general funding of the Group’s activities when there are mismatches between the sizes and maturities
of assets and liabilities. The liquidity risk refers to the ability of the Group to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.
Please see note 6 – Convertible Bonds (6.50% due 2024), note 7 – Convertible Bonds (2.75% due 2020), note 8 – Borrowings
and note 20 – Contingent liabilities and commitments for maturity profile details.
The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities by
continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.
The liquidity position and forecast liquidity requirements are based on anticipated changes in the statement of financial position.
These are tested against various different stress scenarios. The scenarios are used to identify consequences of market rate
changes (including extreme but remote changes) and the Group’s cash position is evaluated and adjusted accordingly.
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23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED
23.4 Liquidity Risk continued
Next
12 months 1-2 years 2-5 years
R’m
R’m
R’m

Next
12 months 1-2 years 2-5 years
€’m
€’m
€’m

Total
R’m

Total
€’m

605
–
–
3 303
45
216

–
–
–
–
–
432

–
4 602
3 325
–
–
432

605
4 602
3 325
3 303
45
1 080

2020
Trade payables
Borrowings
6.50% Convertible Bonds due 2024
2.75% Convertible Bonds due 2020
Convertible Bonds coupons 2020
Convertible Bonds coupons 2024

31
–
–
168
2
11

–
–
–
–
–
22

–
234
169
–
–
22

31
234
169
168
2
55

24
–
–
182

–
6 511
6 359
91

–
–
–
–

24
6 511
6 359
273

2019
Trade payables
Borrowings
2.75% Convertible Bonds due 2020
Convertible Bonds coupons 2020

1
–
–
11

–
234
391
6

–
–
–
–

1
234
391
17

Liquidity will be settled through cash on hand, and through the use of proceeds received on investments realised. Brait holds
GBP149 million cash for the redemption of the remaining outstanding 2.75% Convertible Bonds due 2020.
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Company statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2020

Audited
31 March
2020
€’m

Audited
31 March
2019
€’m

719.7

1 392.9

719.7

1 392.9

Current assets

192.5

0.4

Cash and cash equivalents

192.5

0.4

Total assets

912.2

1 393.3

568.9

907.5

Share capital
Share premium
Foreign currency translation reserve
Convertible Bonds reserve
Retained earnings

302.5
695.0
156.6
46.4
(631.6)

115.8
543.0
199.9
57.3
(8.5)

Non-current liabilities

148.5

391.1

148.5
–

–
391.1

194.8

94.7

167.7
–
0.1
27.0

–
93.6
0.1
1.0

912.2

1 393.3

Notes
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Investments

3

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Ordinary shareholders’ equity and reserves

5

6.50% Convertible Bonds due 2024
2.75% Convertible Bonds due 2020

6

Current liabilities
2.75% Convertible Bonds due 2020
Loans payable
Other payables
Accounts payable

6
4

Total equity and liabilities

The financial statements set out on pages 136 to 141 were approved by the Board, authorised for issue on 24 June 2020 and signed on its
behalf by:

Phillip Jabulani Moleketi
Chairman
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Herman Troskie
Director

17

Company statement of comprehensive income

for the year ended 31 March 2020

Audited
31 March
2020
€’m

Audited
31 March
2019
€’m

(822.5)
2.4
197.9
–

(17.9)
(5.5)
–
–

(622.2)

(23.4)

Professional fees
Directors fees
Audit fees
Other operating expenses

(0.1)
(0.9)
(0.1)
(1.0)

(0.6)
(0.8)
(0.2)
(0.5)

Operating expenses

(2.1)

(2.1)

Loss from operations
Finance cost

(624.3)
(31.7)

(25.5)
(20.6)

Loss before tax
Taxation

(656.0)
–

(46.1)
–

Loss for the year
(Loss)/profit on foreign currency translation reserve

(656.0)
(43.3)

(46.1)
19.3

Comprehensive loss for the year

(699.3)

(26.8)

Notes
Investment losses
Foreign exchange gains/(losses)
Dividend income
Interest income
Total loss

3
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Company statement of changes in equity

for the year ended 31 March 2020

Ordinary shareholders balance at
31 March 2018
Net translation adjustments
Loss for the year
Ordinary shareholders balance at
31 March 2019
Net translation adjustments
Rights Offer and specific issue of shares
Transaction cost for the Rights Offer and
specific issue of shares
2.75% Convertible Bonds due 2020
transfer to retained earnings
Equity reserve for 6.50% Convertible
Bonds due 2024
Loss for the year
Ordinary shareholders balance at
31 March 2020
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Share
Capital
€’m

Share
Premium
€’m

Foreign
currency
translation
reserve
€’m

115.8

543.0

180.6

57.3

37.6

934.3

–
–

–
–

19.3
–

–
–

–
(46.1)

19.3
(46.1)

115.8

543.0

199.9

57.3

(8.5)

907.5

–
186.7

–
161.2

(43.3)
–

–
–

–
–

(43.3)
347.9

–

(9.2)

–

–

–

(9.2)

–

–

–

(32.9)

32.9

–

–
–

–
–

–
–

22.0
–

–
(656.0)

22.0
(656.0)

302.5

695.0

156.6

46.4

(631.6)

568.9

Convertible
Bonds
reserves
€’m

Retained
Earnings
€’m

Total
€’m

Company statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 March 2020

Audited
31 March
2020
€’m

Audited
31 March
2019
€’m

197.9
(2.5)

–
(2.4)

195.4
(183.0)

(2.4)
(0.2)

12.4

(2.6)

(9.4)
347.9
(8.9)
(205.5)
173.0
(5.6)
46.7
(136.5)

(10.9)
–
–
–
–
–
13.4
–

Net cash from financing activities

201.7

2.5

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

214.1
(22.0)
0.4

(0.1)
0.2
0.3

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

192.5

0.4

Notes
Cash flows from operating activities:
Dividend received
Operating expenses paid
Operating cash flow excluding purchase of investments
Purchase of investments

3

Net cash generated/(used) in operating activities
Finance cost paid
Proceeds of Rights Offer and specific issue of shares
Transaction cost for the Rights Offer and specific issue of Shares
Repurchase of 2.75% Convertible Bonds due 2020
Proceeds from issue of 6.50% Convertible Bonds due 2024
Convertible Bonds issue costs
Loan from affiliated entities
Repayment of loans from affiliated entities

4

Integrated Annual Report 2020 | Brait

139

17

Notes to the company financial statements

for the year ended 31 March 2020

1.

GENERAL
At an Extraordinary General Meeting (EGM) on 22 August 2011, the board of directors approved a resolution to (i) merge Brait Societas
Anonyme the company incorporated in Luxembourg on May 5, 1976 with a Maltese subsidiary Brait Malta p.l.c., (ii) to convert the
company into a European Company (Societas Europaea) and (iii) to change the domiciliation from Luxembourg to Malta.
The financial year of the Company begins on the first day of April and ends on the last day of March.

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the
European Union, on the going concern principle, using the historic cost basis, except where otherwise indicated, and in agreement with
the laws and regulations in force in the Republic of Malta.
The Company’s financials statements are prepared using Euro(€/EUR) as its presentation currency. At 1 April 2015 the Company
changed its functional currency from USD ($/USD) to GBP (£/GBP).
All significant accounting policies and methods of computation are consistent with the group accounting policies detailed in note 1
to the Notes of the Group financial statements, except that investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses in its separate financial statements.

3.

INVESTMENTS
2020
€’m

2019
€’m

Shares in affiliated undertakings

719.7

1 392.9

Brait Malta Limited (1)

716.4

1 367.1

3.3

25.8

2020

2019

1 367.1

1 337.9

Brait Investment Trust (2)
(1)

Brait Malta Limited
Registered Office: 4th Floor, Avantech Building, St Julian’s Road, San Gwann, Malta
Holding: 100%, Latest audited year end: 31 March 2020

€’m
Opening balance
Additional investments (2019: Nil/2018: Nil)

183.0

–

Impairment to reflect the carrying value of its NAV

(800.4)

–

Foreign currency translation

(33.3)

29.2

Closing balance

716.4

1 367.1

During the current financial year, the Company subscribed for 20.7 billion shares in Brait Malta Limited for GBP160.0 million.
(2)
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3.

INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)

Opening balance
Capital distribution received
Capital contribution paid
Impairment as a result of reduction in share price
Foreign currency translation
Closing balance
4.

2020
€’m

2019
€’m

25.8
–
–
(22.1)
(0.4)

43.1
–
0.2
(17.9)
0.4

3.3

25.8

2020

2019

€’m

€’m

(93.6)
(46.7)
136.5
3.8

(72.7)
(13.4)
–
(7.5)

–

(93.6)

LOANS PAYABLE

Represented by: Brait Malta Limited (1)
Opening balance
Drawdown of loans payable
Repayment of loans payable
Foreign currency translation
Loans payable at amortised cost
(1)

The amount owed (to)/by Brait Malta Limited is unsecured and interest free with no fixed date for repayment. Brait Malta Limited has no
unconditional rights to defer settlement as the amount due is payable on demand.

5.

ORDINARY SHARE CAPITAL AND PREMIUM AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Please refer to notes 5 and 23 of the Group Financial Statements on pages 121, and 131 for disclosure of share capital and share
premium, and capital risk management of the Notes to the Group financial statements. All accounts payable are to be settled in the
next 12 months.

6.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS
Please refer to notes 6 and 7 of the Group financial statements on page 122 and 123. Refer to note 23.4 of the Group financial
statements for the contractual maturities of these Bonds.

7.

CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS
Please refer to note 20 of the Group financial statements on page 128.

8.

POST BALANCE SHEET
At the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 14 January 2020, Shareholders approved the reduction of the share capital of the
Company through the cancellation of the 54 091 259 Treasury Shares held for the vested benefit of the Group, subject to the provisions
of article 83 of the Maltese Companies Act. These provisions have been satisfied with the Treasury Shares subsequently cancelled.

9.

RELATED PARTY BALANCES
During the year, the Company entered into the following transactions with related parties.
€’m
Company statement of financial position:
Investments in subsidiary and affiliated entities
Loans payable to Brait Malta Limited
Company statement of comprehensive income:
Directors fees
Other charges (Professional fees – Maitland International Holdings Plc)

2020

2019

719.7
–

1 392.9
(93.6)

0.9
0.1

0.8
0.2
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Definitions
2020 BONDS
The 2.75 per cent convertible bonds due on 18 September 2020 issued by the Company, listed on the Open Market (Freiverkehr) segment
of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange and having an outstanding par value at Reporting Date of GBP149,000,000
2024 BONDS
The GBP150,000,000, 6.50 per cent convertible bonds due on 4 December 2024 issued by the Company, listed on the Open Market
(Freiverkehr) segment of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange and having a conversion price at Reporting Date of GBP0.5219
BML
Brait Mauritius Limited, registration number C60342 C1/GBL, a company incorporated under the laws of Mauritius. BML is licenced as a
registered investment advisor in accordance with the provisions of section 30 of the Mauritius Securities Act of 2015.
BML RCF
The committed revolving credit facility of Brait Mauritius Limited
BOARD
The board of Directors of the Company
BRAIT MALTA
Brait Malta Limited, registration number C49644, a private limited liability company incorporated in accordance with the laws of Malta and
with its registered office address at 4th Floor, Avantech Building, St Julian’s Road, San Gwann, SGN 2805, Malta
BRAIT SE OR COMPANY
Brait SE, registered in Malta as a European Company under the legal form of a Societas Europaea with registration number SE1
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits held with banks and investments in money market securities.
CLOSING PRICE
The closing market price of a Brait share on the Lux SE and JSE Limited exchanges at the Group’s financial year-end. In respect of Brait’s
holding of New Look listed SSN’s, the closing Bloomberg price quoted at the Group’s financial year-end
CONVERTIBLE BONDS
Collectively the 2020 Bonds and the 2024 Bonds
DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company as at Reporting Date
EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic attributable earnings divided by the weighted average number of shares in issue, less the number of treasury shares, expressed in cents
EBITDA
Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation
EFFECTIVE TAX RATE (%)
The effective tax rate is the direct taxation charge per the income statement expressed as a percentage of profit before taxation
EGM
The extraordinary general meeting of the Company held at 4th Floor, Avantech Building, St Julian’s Road, San Gwann, SGN 2805 at 11:00
(CET) on 14 January 2020
ENTERPRISE VALUE
The measure of a company’s total value equal to its equity value plus net debt
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EPE
Ethos Private Equity Proprietary Limited, registration number 2004/003984/07, a company incorporated under the laws of South Africa and
with its registered address at 35 Fricker Road, Illovo, Johannesburg, 2196
EQUITY CAPITAL RAISE
The Company’s R5,600,000,000 equity capital raise during February 2020 by way of an oversubscribed R5,250,000,000 Rights Offer and
R350,000,000 specific issue of shares
ETHOS CAPITAL
EPE Capital Partners Limited, registration number C138883 C1/GBL, a company incorporated under the laws of Mauritius and holding a
Category One Global Business Licence issued by the Financial Services Commission of Mauritius and with its registered address at c/o
Ocorian (Mauritius) Ltd, 6th Floor, Tower A, 1 Cybercity, Ebene, Mauritius
ETHOS FUND VII
Ethos Fund VII GP (SA) Proprietary Limited, in its capacity as the ultimate General Partner of Ethos Fund VII (A) and Ethos Fund VII (B) and
with its registered address at 35 Fricker Road, Illovo, Sandton, 2196, South Africa
ETHOS UNDERWRITERS
Ethos Capital and Ethos Fund VII
EUR, EURO or €
The lawful currency of the European Union
EURO MTF MARKET
The Multilateral Trading Facility (as defined in the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive) operated by the LuxSE
EV/EBITDA MULTIPLE
The valuation multiple applied to EBITDA in order to derive the enterprise value of the business
GBP, POUND, POUND STERLING or £
The lawful currency of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland
GROUP/BRAIT/COMPANY
Brait SE and its subsidiaries from time to time
INVESTMENT ADVISOR
Refers to EPE, with the investment advisory and administration contract with BML effective from 1 March 2020
JSE
The securities exchange, licensed under the Financial Markets Act, operated by JSE Limited, registration number 2005/022939/06, a public
company duly incorporated in accordance with the laws of South Africa
LENDERS
FirstRand Bank Limited (trading through its Rand Merchant Bank division (“RMB”) and The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited
LUXSE
The Luxembourg Stock Exchange
NET ASSET VALUE (NAV) PER SHARE
Ordinary shareholders’ funds divided by the number of outstanding ordinary shares
OFFER PRICE
The R6.60 price at which the Company issued the 848,484,848 new shares pursuant to the Equity Capital Raise concluded during
February 2020
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Definitions
OUTSTANDING ORDINARY SHARES
Ordinary shares in issue less ordinary (treasury) shares held for the vested benefit of the Group
RECAPITALISATION
Represents the Equity Capital Raise, the issuance of the 2024 Bonds and the refinancing of the previous BML RCF concluded on
31 March 2020.
REPORTING DATE
31 March 2020
RIGHTS OFFER
The renounceable rights offering of 795,454,545 ordinary Brait shares at the Offer Price in the ratio of 1.6870 ordinary shares for every 1
existing share held, pursuant to the Equity Capital Raise
SPECIFIC ISSUE OF SHARES
Non-pre-emptive specific issue to the Ethos Underwriters of 53,030,303 ordinary Brait shares having a value at the Offer Price, pursuant to
the Equity Capital Raise
SSNS
New Look Senior Secured Notes
TITAN
Titan Financial Services Proprietary Limited, registration number 1996/006040/07, a limited liability private company duly incorporated in the
Republic of South Africa and with its registered address 36 Stellenberg Road, Parow Industria, 7493, South Africa, and which is represented
by Dr CH Wiese, a Director
TREASURY SHARES
Brait SE ordinary shares held by the Group for the vested benefit of the Group
WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES IN ISSUE
The number of outstanding ordinary shares in issue at the beginning of the year, plus ordinary shares issued during the year, weighted on a
time basis for the period during which they have participated in the income of the Group
ZAR, RAND or R
The lawful currency of South Africa
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Notice of annual general meeting

BRAIT SE
(Registered in Malta as a European Company) (Registration No.SE1)
(Registered address: 4th Floor, Avantech Building, St Julian’s Road, San Gwann, SGN, 2805, Malta)
Issuer code: Brait      ISIN: LU0011857645
Share code: BAT      Bond codes: WKN: A1Z6XC ISIN: XS1292954812      WKN: A25BSU ISIN: XS2088760157
LEI code: 549300VB8GBX4UO7WG59
(“Brait” or the “Company”)
Notice is hereby given to all the holders of ordinary shares (“Ordinary Shareholders”), directors and auditors of Brait of the
annual general meeting (“AGM”) of the Company to be held at 08h30 CET on 13 August 2020 at 4th Floor, Avantech Building,
St. Julian’s Road, San Gwan SGN 2805, Malta to consider and, if deemed ﬁt approve the following resolutions
AGENDA
ORDINARY BUSINESS
1. Accounts
That the audited accounts for the ﬁnancial year ended 31 March 2020 and directors’ and auditor’s reports thereon be received and
approved.
2.

Directors
a. That the following directors be re-elected for a period expiring at next year’s AGM:
2.1 Dr LL Porter
2.2 Mr HRW Troskie
2.3 Dr CH Wiese
b.

That the following directors be elected for a period expiring at next year’s AGM:
2.4 Mr RA Nelson
2.5 Mr PG Joubert
2.6 Mr JM Grant
2.7 Ms Y Jekwa
2.8 Mr PJ Roelofse
The bios of the directors proposed for election can be found in Annex 1, as well as on the Company’s website www.brait.com.

c.

3.

Further to the reconstitution of the board of directors (“Board”), that a maximum aggregate amount of compensation, subject
to the effects of the £/R exchange rate, of £400,000 be approved for the directors, re-elected further to Resolution 2(a) and
elected further to Resolution 2(b), for serving on the Board and on the relevant committees in respect of the ﬁnancial year ending
31 March 2021. In line with the Board’s focus on reducing costs, the proposed compensation for the reconstituted Board
represents a significant decrease on the £771,000 compensation for the Board for the financial year ended 31 March 2020.
The proposed compensation takes into consideration directors’ time commitments, responsibilities, skills and experience in
rendering their services.

Auditors
That the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers of Malta as auditors of the Company be approved, and that the Board be hereby
authorised to ﬁx their remuneration.
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Notice of annual general meeting (continued)
4.

Renewal of the Board’s Authority to issue ordinary shares
Purpose
It is proposed that the Board’s authority to issue Shares be renewed.
Proposal
That in accordance with the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association (“M&A”), the Board be hereby authorised to
exercise the power of the Company to issue Shares in the Company up to the amount of the authorised but unissued share capital of
the Company for the time being, and the Board may offer, issue, grant rights or options over, or otherwise dispose of Shares to such
persons on such terms and in such manner as they think ﬁt, whether for cash or otherwise, subject to the following limitations:
i.

ii.
iii.
iv

that the authority given under this ordinary resolution will expire upon the lapse of 15 (ﬁfteen) months from the date of the AGM
of 13 August 2020 but shall be renewable for further periods (which may be periods of less than but not more than 5 (ﬁve) years
each) by resolution of the general meeting of the shareholders from time to time;
that a paid press announcement giving details, including the impact on net asset value and earnings per Share, will be published
at the time of any such issue of, or grant of options or rights over, Shares;
that in aggregate in any one year the nominal value of Shares represented by such issue(s) or grant of options or rights may not
exceed 10 (ten) percent of the aggregate nominal value of the Company’s issued ordinary share capital; and
that, in determining the price at which such an issue of Shares (including pursuant to a future exercise of options or rights) will be
made in terms of this authority, the maximum discount permitted will be 10 (ten) percent of the average market price of the Shares
as determined over the 30 (thirty) days prior to the date that the price of the issue is determined or agreed by the directors on all
securities exchanges on which the Shares are listed and have traded during that period.

SPECIAL BUSINESS
5. Renewal of the Company’s authority to purchase its own shares subject to various limitations
Purpose
The Board is proposing that the authority for the Company to make market purchases of its own ordinary shares be renewed.
As at the date of this notice of AGM, there is no current intention to repurchase ordinary shares. However, the Board believes that
it is nevertheless desirable for this general authority to be available to provide ﬂexibility in the management of the Company’s capital
resources in the future.
Proposal
That the Company be and is generally and unconditionally authorised pursuant to Article 3(l) of the articles of association of the
Company and in accordance with article 106 of the Companies Act (Chapter 386, Laws of Malta) (“Companies Act”) to make market
purchases of its own ordinary shares (“Shares” and each a “Share”) on such terms and in such manner as the directors shall determine,
provided that:
i.
ii.
iii.

iv.
v.

the Shares to be purchased are fully paid up;
the maximum aggregate nominal value of the Shares authorised to be purchased shall not exceed 10 (ten) percent of the
aggregate nominal value of the Company’s issued share capital at any point in time;
the maximum price which may be paid for each Share shall be 5 (ﬁve) percent above the volume weighted average price for a
Share on the securities exchange on which the Shares are purchased for the ﬁve business days immediately before the day on
which the purchase is made (in each case exclusive of expenses);
the minimum price which may be paid for each Share shall be one euro cent; and
all conditions and limitations imposed by the Companies Act are adhered to.

That this authority (unless previously revoked, varied or renewed) shall expire on 30 October 2021 or, if sooner, at the end of the Annual
General Meeting of the Company to be held in 2021.
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PROPOSED REDOMICILIATION
It was the intention of the Board to propose to Shareholders as part of the AGM, the Company´s registered office be transferred from
Malta to Mauritius, where the Company´s main investment subsidiary, Brait Mauritius Limited, is domiciled (the “Redomiciliation”).
Whilst the Company has complied with all requirements thus far in this regard, due to the Coronavirus pandemic, the final stage relating
to the publication of the requisite notice by the Maltese Authorities has been delayed. As such, the Board will look to propose the
Redomicilation to Shareholders at an extraordinary general meeting to be held in due course, following the completion of this final step by
the Maltese Authorities.
NOTES
Any Ordinary Shareholder may, in writing, appoint a proxy, who need not be an Ordinary shareholder, to represent him/her at the AGM.
Any company, being an Ordinary Shareholder, may execute a form of proxy under the hand of a duly authorised ofﬁcer. The instrument
appointing a proxy together with evidence of the authority of the person by whom the proxy is signed (except in the case of a proxy signed
by the Ordinary Shareholder), shall be deposited at the registered ofﬁce of the Company, 24 hours before the time for the holding of the
AGM or its adjournment (as the case may be) at which the person named in such instrument proposes to vote. No instrument appointing a
proxy shall be valid after the expiration of 12 months from the date of its execution. Any Ordinary Shareholder may, instead of sending the
proxy form to the registered ofﬁce, send the proxy form (completed in accordance with its instructions) to the appropriate transfer agent
48 hours prior to the AGM in order that the transfer agents may be able to send the proxy form on his/her behalf to the registered ofﬁce
24 hours before the time for holding of the meeting.
A form of proxy is enclosed with this notice, the completion of which will not preclude an Ordinary Shareholder from attending and voting at
the AGM in person to the exclusion of any proxy appointed.
Resolutions 1 to 4 are to be proposed as ordinary resolutions and Resolution 5 is proposed as an extraordinary resolution.
Ordinary resolutions may be passed at the AGM by a simple majority representing more than 50 per cent. of the voting rights attached to
shares represented and entitled to vote at the AGM. Extraordinary resolutions require a 75 per cent. majority by nominal value of shares
represented at the AGM and entitled to vote and at least 51 per cent. in nominal value of all the shares entitled to vote at the AGM.
The quorum requirement in relation to both ordinary resolutions and extraordinary resolutions is at least two members holding shares
granting the right to vote in the Company who are present or represented at the AGM.
By order of the Board,

Anjelica Camilleri de Marco
Company Secretary
Date: 21 July 2020
Registrar and Transfer Agent
Luxembourg
Maitland Luxembourg
58, rue Charles Martel,
Luxembourg
L-2134

Registrar and Transfer Agent
South Africa
S.A. Computershare Investor Services (Proprietary) Limited
Rosebank Towers
15 Biermann Avenue
Rosebank, 2096
(PO Box 61051, Marshalltown 2107)
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Notice of annual general meeting (continued)
ANNEX 1
Richard Anthony (Anthony) Nelson (72) †
Proposed independent non-executive Chairman
Qualifications: MA (Honours) in Economics and Law from Christ’s College in Cambridge
Anthony is a former British politician and banker. After leaving the Government and Parliament in 1997, Anthony joined Schroder Salomon
Smith Barney as a Managing Director and was appointed Vice Chairman of Citigroup 2000−08, coordinating client facing strategy across
a diverse retail and wholesale financial services group. He was Chairman of Southern Water Plc 2002-04 and Chairman of Gateway to
London, a public private partnership engaged in the regeneration of East London, 2002−08. Anthony was also a governor of the Institute
of Financial Services; a director of the International Financial Services London (TheCityUK) and a member of the Governing Body of the
International Chamber of Commerce UK. He is a Fellow of the Royal Society of Arts, Manufactures and Commerce. As Minister for Trade
and Industry 1995-97, Anthony was responsible for the regulation of the insurance industry, including the reconstruction and renewal of
Lloyd’s of London. He led 34 trade missions to all parts of the world on behalf of the UK insurance industry. As Economic Secretary to the
Treasury 1992-95, Anthony was responsible for supervision of the UK financial and banking system. Anthony started his career with N.M.
Rothschild and Sons as an asset manager and research analyst covering financial services.
Pierre George Joubert (55) **
Proposed independent non-executive Director
Qualifications: Bachelor of Commerce (University of Cape Town), CA(SA)
Pierre is the CEO of Universal Partners, an investment holding company listed on the Stock Exchange of Mauritius and the Alt X board of
the JSE, with an investment focus on Europe and the UK. Prior to joining Universal Partners in 2016, he was the chief investment officer
of the Richmark Group of companies. Previously he spent 13 years at Rand Merchant Bank (“RMB”) fulfilling various roles including senior
transactor in the Corporate Finance division, head of the Equities and co-head of the Global Markets divisions. Pierre is a member of the
RMB investment committee, a position he has held for 17 years. He is also a member of the Ashburton Private Equity Fund 1 investment
committee and a non-executive director of Homechoice International Plc. Previously, Pierre held various executive positions at Connection
Group Holdings Ltd including that of CEO of Connection Group for four years, leading the successful turnaround of the business that
culminated in the group being bought by JD Group Ltd. Pierre resides permanently in Mauritius.
James Murray (Murray) Grant (60) †
Proposed independent non-executive Director
Qualifications: Master of Business Administration (London Business School), BSc Honours in Civil & Structural Engineering
(Edinburgh University)
Murray is the CEO of Cregneash Holdings Ltd, London. Prior to joining Cregneash in 2019, Murray was the Managing Director,
Intermediated Equity, of CDC Group Plc, London, managing the team responsible for the organisation’s investments in private equity funds
across Africa, South Asia, Latin America, China and South East Asia. Murray joined CDC in 2015 from Actis LLP, where he was a founder
partner, following its spin-out from CDC in 2004, with responsibility for development of its Africa business and the Africa team. Murray has
held a broad portfolio of board positions ranging from financial institutions to resource based businesses and has a long history of working
and investing in Africa.
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Yoza Jekwa (44) *
Proposed non-executive Director
Qualifications: MBChB (Medical degree) and MBA (Finance focus) from the University of the Witwatersrand
Yoza joined Mergence Investment Managers in November 2019 as Joint Managing Director. She has 15 years’ investment banking
experience as originator and structurer of acquisition financing/investments for mid to large cap corporates in South Africa, Sub Saharan
Africa and Europe, as a dealmaker within RMB and as a Principle in Acquisition and Leverage Finance at Nedbank. Chairing the Investment
Committee, she is an actively involved independent non-executive director on the board of Ascendis Health Limited, overseeing the
deleveraging of Ascendis through strategic disposals of certain assets. She is also an independent non-executive director on the board of
Northam Platinum. Yoza is actively involved in numerous outreach and social responsibility programmes.
Paul Johannes Roelofse (42) *
Proposed non-executive Director
Qualifications: B.Acc (Cum Laude) degree and B.Acc (Hons) degree from the University of Stellenbosch, CA(SA) and CFA charterholder
Paul co-founded Oryx Partners in October 2019, which manages Dr Christo Wiese’s family office and serves as a strategic business
partner of the Wiese family. Paul has served as Dr Wiese’s alternate director on the Brait board since October 2019. Prior to Oryx Partners,
Paul spent 17 years at RMB, where he led a number of pioneering transactions, serving on the RMB Investment Banking Board from 2009
until he resigned in 2019. Paul headed RMB’s global Corporate Finance business from 2009 to 2015. Paul is a Dealmaker of the Year Award
winner from Dealmakers magazine.

Nationality
† British
* South African
** South African – resides in Mauritius
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Form of proxy

BRAIT SE
(Registered in Malta as a European Company) (Registration No.SE1)
Listed in Luxembourg and South Africa
(“Brait” or the “Company”)
Form of Proxy for use by certificated Brait holders of ordinary shares and “own-name” dematerialised Brait holders of ordinary
shares only at the annual general meeting of 13 August 2020 at 08h30 CET
For use only:
• by holders of certificated shares of the Company; and
• holders of dematerialised shares in the Company held through a Central Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”) or broker and who
have selected “own name” registration;
• at the annual general meeting of the Company to be held at 08h30 CET on Thursday 13 August 2020, at 4th Floor, Avantech Building,
St. Julian’s Road, San Gwan SGN 2805, Malta or at any adjournment thereof (“AGM”).
If you are a Brait shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the AGM you can appoint a proxy or proxies to attend, vote and speak in your
stead. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company.
If you are a Brait shareholder and have dematerialised your share certificates through a CSDP (and have not selected “own name”
registration in the sub-register maintained by a CSDP), do not complete this form of proxy (blue) but instruct your CSDP to issue you with
the necessary letter of representation to attend the AGM, or if you do not wish to attend, provide your CSDP with your voting instructions in
terms of your custody agreement entered into with them.
I/We
(full names in block letters) of (address)
being a holder/s of

shares in the Company, hereby appoint (see note ii)

1.

or (or failing him/her)

2.

or (or failing him/her)
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Form of proxy (continued)
3.

the Chairman of the Company or failing him the Chairman of the AGM, as my/our proxy to attend, speak, and on a poll to vote or
abstain from voting on my/our behalf at the AGM which will be held for the purpose of considering and, if deemed fit, passing, with or
without modification, the ordinary or extraordinary resolution to be proposed thereat and at any adjournment thereof.
Number of votes (one per share)
In favour

Against

Abstain

Resolution number 1
Receipt and approval of audited accounts for the financial year ended 31 March 2020
and directors’ and auditor’s reports thereon
Resolution number 2(a)
Re-election of directors
2.1 Dr LL Porter
2.2 Mr HRW Troskie
2.3 Dr CH Wiese
Resolution number 2(b)
Election of directors
2.4 Mr RA Nelson
2.5 Mr PG Joubert
2.6 Mr JM Grant
2.7 Ms Y Jekwa
2.8 Mr PJ Roelofse
Resolution number 2(c)
Approval of non-executive director compensation in respect of the financial year
ending 31 March 2021
Resolution number 3
Appointment of auditors
Resolution number 4
Renewal of the Board’s authority to issue ordinary shares
Resolution number 5
Renewal of the Company’s authority to purchase its own shares subject to various
limitations
Note: Please indicate with an “x” in the spaces above how you wish your votes to be cast.
Signed at
Signature:
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this

day of
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Notes to the proxy
(i)

The following dates are applicable to all Ordinary Shareholders. This notice is being sent to the Ordinary Shareholders on the
register of members of the Company as at Friday, 17 July 2020. Ordinary Shareholders registered on the register of members as at
Friday, 7 August 2020 (“Record Date”) shall have the right to participate in and vote at the AGM. Accordingly, the last day to trade for Ordinary
Shareholders in order to be able to participate in and vote at the AGM is Tuesday, 4 August 2020. Any change to an entry on the register of
members after the Record Date shall be disregarded in determining the right of any person to attend and vote at the AGM.

(ii)

A Member entitled to vote may appoint a proxy to attend and vote instead of him/her using the enclosed form of proxy; the appointed
proxy need not be a member. To be valid the Form of Proxy must be signed and must reach the ofﬁce of the Company Secretary at
Brait SE, 4th Floor, Avantech Building, St. Julian’s Road, San Gwann, SGN 2805, Malta by not later than Tuesday, 11 August 2020 at
08h30 CET.

(iii)

Should you not wish to send the duly-completed proxy directly to the Company Secretary you may send it to the appropriate
transfer agent:
• for the Luxembourg share register: Maitland Luxembourg S.A., 58, rue Charles Martel, Luxembourg, L-2134, Tel: +352 402 505
401, Fax: +352 402 505 66; or
• for the South African share register: Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Limited PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107,
• Tel: +27 11 370 5000, Fax: +27 11 668 5200
by not later than Monday 10 August 2020 at 08h30 CET, in order to enable the transfer agent to send it on your behalf for receipt by the
Company Secretary by not later than Tuesday, 11 August 2020 at 08h30 CET.

(iv) In order to participate in and to vote at the AGM, an Ordinary Shareholder or his/her proxy is to present his/her identity card or other
means of identiﬁcation. In the case of an Ordinary Shareholder being a body corporate, association of persons, foundation or other
body of persons, a representative thereof will only be eligible to attend and be admitted to the AGM, and to vote there at, if a form of
proxy has been (a) duly executed in his/her favour by the competent organ of the entity which he/she represents, and (b) submitted to
the Company Secretary in accordance with the procedures set out under (ii) above.
(v)

A holder of shares in the Company holding not less than 10 (ten) percent of the voting issued share capital of Brait SE may:
(a) request Brait SE to include items on the agenda of the AGM, provided that each item is accompanied by a justiﬁcation or a draft
resolution to be adopted at the AGM; and
(b) table draft resolutions for items included in the agenda of the AGM.
Provided that with respect to the request to put items on the agenda of the AGM or table draft resolutions, these shall be submitted to
Brait SE in hard copy form or in electronic form at least 7 (seven) days before the date set for the AGM and it shall be authenticated by
the person or persons making it. In the event that such a request or resolution is received after the lapse of the 7 day time limit set out
above, Brait SE shall not be obliged to entertain any requests by such holders of ordinary shares.

(vi) In the case of ordinary shares held jointly by several persons, the person who had been nominated by the joint holders to be the
registered holder of such shares shall be entitled to attend and vote at the AGM. In the event that the joint holders failed to nominate
such person, the ﬁrst named joint holder on the register of members of the Company shall be entitled to attend and vote at the AGM.
(vii) An Ordinary Shareholder who is a minor may be represented at the AGM by his/her legal guardian who will be required to present his/
her identity card.
(viii) Admission to the AGM will commence one hour before the advertised and appointed time.
(ix) The following information is also made available to the shareholders on www.brait.com in the Investor Relations section:
(a) a copy of this notice;
(b) the total number of shares and voting rights at the date of the notice;
(c) the documents to be submitted to the AGM;
(d) the proxy forms.
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Administration and contact details
BRAIT SE

Registration No: SE1

ISSUER NAME AND CODE
Issuer long name – BRAIT SE
Issuer code – BRAIT
Share code: BAT – ISIN: LU0011857645
Bond codes:
• WKN: A1Z6XC ISIN: XS1292954812
• WKN: A25BSU ISIN: XS2088760157
LEI code: 549300VB8GBX4UO7WG59

COMPANY SECRETARY AND
REGISTERED OFFICE
Anjelica Camilleri de Marco
4th Floor, Avantech Building
St. Julian’s Road, San Gwann
SGN 2805, Malta
Tel: +356 2248 6203

COUNSEL
Harney Westwood & Riegels S.à r.l
56, rue Charles Martel
L-2134 Luxembourg
Tel: +352 2786 7102

LUXEMBOURG REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER AGENT
Maitland Luxembourg SA
58, rue Charles Martel
L-2134 Luxembourg
Tel: +352 402 5051

SOUTH AFRICAN TRANSFER
SECRETARIES
Computershare Investor Services Pty Ltd
Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue
Rosebank, Johannesburg, 2196,
South Africa
Tel: +27 11 370 5000

JSE SPONSOR
Rand Merchant Bank
(A division of FirstRand Bank Limited)
1 Merchant Place
Corner Fredman Drive and Rivonia Road
Sandton, 2196
South Africa

SUBSIDIARY OFFICE
Brait Mauritius Limited
Suite 520, 5th Floor, Barkly Wharf
Le Caudan Waterfront, Port Louis
Mauritius
Tel: +230 213 6909

ADVISOR
Ethos Private Equity (Pty) Ltd
35 Fricker Road, Illovo
Johannesburg, 2196
South Africa
Tel: +27 11 328 7400

INVESTOR RELATIONS
www.brait.com
Email: invest@brait.com
Tel: +27 11 328 7400

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
PricewaterhouseCoopers
78 Mill Street, Qormi
QRM3101
Malta
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www.brait.com

